57TH SESSION OF THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Report on the Annual Consultations with Non-Governmental Organizations

27– 29 September 2006
Palais des Nations – Geneva, Switzerland

Abstract

This report provides highlights of the Annual Consultations with NGOs, which this year brought together some 329 representatives of 166 national and international NGOs, UN, and international organizations from 72 countries.

UNHCR's Assistant High Commissioner for Operations opened the Consultations. Structured around four broad themes – Durable Solutions; the UN Reform; ExCom Conclusions; and the Asylum-Migration Nexus – the forum featured twelve Working Sessions and five Regional Sessions with the active involvement of some 83 resource persons from NGOs, academia, member states, and international and UN organizations. These Consultations also provided the space for eight side-meetings organized by participating NGOs. The sessions addressed many of the complex issues at the core of refugee protection, as well as issues faced in the response to IDP situations and migration. The sessions adopted a round-table format to promote greater dialogue and contact among participants. The reports of each session were prepared by the moderators with the aim to capture the main points of discussion and any conclusions reached.

A working session was held in plenary on the last day to explore the asylum-migration nexus from a regional perspective. This was followed by the closing address from the High Commissioner. The Chair of UNHCR's Executive Committee participated in a 'linkage' session to promote more dialogue among NGOs, ExCom members and UNHCR, and included a summary wrap-up report from the Rapporteur of the NGO Consultations followed by a short intervention from the Rapporteur of the Executive Committee.

Included in annex to this report are the Annual Consultations agenda, a list of participants, a list of side-meetings held during the Consultations, the opening address by the Assistant High Commissioner for Operations, and the High Commissioner's opening statement and the NGO statements delivered to the 57th Session of ExCom. This full report may also be accessed at www.unhcr.org and www.icva.ch.

Prepared with the assistance of resource persons from the following agencies:

Africa & Middle-East Refugee Assistance • Asociacion Comision Catolica Espanola de Migración • Asociacion de Mujeres en Situacion de Desplazamiento Forzado yo Mujer • Association for the Prevention of Torture • Austcare • CARITAS Arquidiocesana do Rio de Janeiro • Christian Children's Fund • Danish Refugee Council • InterAction • International Catholic Migration Commission • International Council of Voluntary Agencies • International Detention Coalition • International Rescue Committee • Jesuit Refugee Service • Lutheran World Federation • Médecins Sans Frontières • Ministry of State for Relief and Disaster Preparedness in Uganda • National Council of Churches in Australia • Norwegian Refugee Council • Office Africain pour le Développement et la Coopération • Office of the Coordinator for Humanitarian Affairs • Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights • Open Society Justice Initiative • Oxfam • Permanent Mission of Japan • Permanent Mission of Sweden • Portuguese Refugee Council • Refugee Council USA • Refugee Law Project • Save the Children • School of Oriental and African Studies • Secours Catholique et Développement • Tufts University • UNICEF • UNSW Australia and Asian Women's Human Rights Council • US Committee for Refugees and Immigrants • Women's Commission for Refugee Women & Children • World Council of Churches • World Vision International

Table of Contents

AC	KNOWLEDGEMENTS	4
INTI	RODUCTION	5
WELCOME TO THE 2006 ANNUAL CONSULTATIONS WITH NGOS		5
2.	Nicholas Coussidis, Head, NGO Liaison Unit, UNHCR	5
3.	Ed Schenkenberg, Co-ordinator, International Council of Voluntary Agencies	5
3.	Nick Van Praag, Director, Division of External Relations, UNHCR	5
OPE	ENING ADDRESS	6
4.	Judy Cheng-Hopkins, UNHCR's Assistant High Commissioner for Operations	6
REG	GIONAL SESSIONS	7
5.	Europe Bureau	7
6.	Africa Bureau	8
7.	Asia and the Pacific Bureau	10
8.	Central Asia, South West Asia, North Africa & the Middle East Bureau	12
9.	Americas Bureau	13
ROL	JND-TABLE SESSIONS	13
10.	Implementation of the new cluster approach in situations of internal displacement	13
11.	Combating the use of detention as a deterrent: A case study from the Mediterranean	14
12.	Challenges of Return: Rights and sustainable solutions	15
13.	Mainstreaming education within humanitarian response	15
14.	Prevention and reduction of statelessness and protection of stateless persons	16
15.	Integration: The forgotten 'solution'	18
16.	"MSRP" - UNHCR's global implementation of the PeopleSoft software package	19
17.	Collaboration in addressing gender issues	20
18.	What are the strategies for countries supportive of resettlement?	21
19.	Children's protection and humanitarian reform	23
20.	They don't talk about rape!! Improving protection for refugee women and girls	24

PLEN	ARY SESSION	25
21.	Asylum-Migration Nexus	25
CLOS	SING ADDRESS	25
22.	António Guterres, UN High Commissioner for Refugees	27
LINK	AGE TO EXCOM	28
23.	Summary wrap-up on the proceeding of the 2006 Annual Consultations with NGOs	28
ANNE	EXES	31
I.	Programme of the Annual Consultations with Non-Governmental Organizations	31
II.	List of Participants by Organization	31
III.	Agenda of Side Meetings at the Annual Consultations with NGOs	31
IV.	Welcoming Address by Judy Cheng-Hopkins, UN Assistant High Commissioner for Refuge (Operations)	ees 31
V.	Opening Statement by António Guterres, UN High Commissioner for Refugees to the $57^{\rm th}$ Session of ExCom	31
VI.	Presentation of the Annual Consultations with NGOs by the NGO Rapporteur to the 57 th Session of the Executive Committee	31
VII.	57 th Session of ExCom – Statement of NGOs to the General Debate	31
VIII.	57 th Session of ExCom – Statement of NGOs on International Protection	31
IX.	57 th Session of ExCom – Statement of NGOs on Programme Budgets, Management, Financ Control and Administrative Oversight	cial 31

Acknowledgements

Warm thanks to the many colleagues who contributed their ideas and actively and constructively engaged in the 2006 Annual Consultations with NGOs, with special thanks to:

- The some 83 persons from approximately 39 organizations who served as speakers, moderators and resource persons;
- Christine Bloch, Rapporteur for the Annual Consultations with NGOs, Ann Blomberg, Rapporteur for the ExCom Bureau, and Ambassador Fujisaki, Chair of ExCom, for their valuable efforts in linking the NGO consultations with ExCom;
- The International Council of Voluntary Agencies for their support and assistance throughout both the Consultations with NGOs and ExCom; and
- The following NGO colleagues who assisted UNHCR's NGO Liaison Unit in planning this year's Annual Consultations with NGOs:

Christine Bloch, JRS Greg Brown, IRC Roberta Cecchetti, Save the Children Alliance Elizabeth Ferris, WCC Tom Getman, WVI Mamadou Ndiaye, OFADEC Veronika Martin, InterAction Elisabeth Rasmusson, NRC Ed Schenkenberg, ICVA Manisha Thomas, ICVA Emmanuel Tronc, MSF Int.

Photos:

Front Cover: UNHCR/F. Schjander/1976 – Algeria/Sahrawi Back Cover: UNHCR/A. Branthwaite/2006 - Syria

Introduction

In the week preceding the 57th Session of the Executive Committee to the High Commissioner's Programme, UNHCR held its Annual Consultations with Non-Governmental Organizations from 27 to 29 September 2006 in Geneva. The Consultations were attended by some 329 representatives of 166 agencies (NGOs, international organizations and UN) from 72 countries. This report provides a summary of the sessions held during the Annual Consultations. The statements made by NGOs and UNHCR's High Commissioner at the Executive Committee are also annexed to the report, as well as the opening address from UNHCR's Assistant High Commissioner for Operations.

Welcome to the 2006 Annual Consultations with NGOs

1. Nicholas Coussidis, Head, NGO Liaison Unit, UNHCR

Nicholas Coussidis welcomed everyone to the 2006 UNHCR-NGO consultations. He indicated that 2006 is also the 30th anniversary since the establishment of the NGO Liaison Unit and that a lot of things have happened since then and, no doubt, NGO-UNHCR cooperation will continue for many years to come. He acknowledged the large turnout, noting it as an indication of the importance that NGOs and UNHCR place on the Annual Consultations. At the same time, it places increased obligation on NGOs and UNHCR to ensure that this partnership progresses effectively, is action-oriented and focused on quality. He confirmed that UNHCR is committed to enhancing the cooperation and use of partners in all steps of its activities and that UNHCR is determined to improve the management of its operations. Collective efforts must be focused on the Field, where the refugees, internally-displaced persons and other persons of concern need to be protected and assisted. As no-one is perfect, it is imperative that UNHCR and NGOs work together in mutual respect and transparent dialogue. He called on participants' views and ideas to move the process forward.

Focusing on the agenda, he described the agenda as diverse and covering the important issues of concern to everyone. Following a thematic approach with four themes – Durable solutions; the UN reform; ExCom conclusions; and the Asylum-migration nexus – the agenda was built on suggestions from the NGOs. He thanked his colleagues in the NGO Liaison Unit and ICVA for the hard work to organize these consultations and wished everyone a successful and constructive 3-day forum.

2. Ed Schenkenberg, Co-ordinator, International Council of Voluntary Agencies

Ed Schenkenberg also welcomed the NGOs to the Annual Consultations and looked forward to fruitful discussions in the coming days. He asked how the participants thought that this meeting would influence and impact on their work when back at their desks. He explained his expectations of the meeting, which were related to the discussion on UNHCR's expanded responsibilities vis-à-vis IDPs and its future organizational vision with regard to these responsibilities. He highlighted that NGOs are supporters of UNHCR's work with perspective and not with attitude. Joint advocacy and partnership have the greatest impact at the Field level. Therefore, broadening the dialogue at a strategic level is central to the thinking of humanitarian agencies.

3. Nick Van Praag, Director, Division of External Relations, UNHCR

Nick Van Praag warmly welcomed participants to the Annual Consultations and was particularly pleased to be able to meet with a large number of NGO representatives. Since taking up the position as the Director of Division of External Relations early this month, he had an opportunity to meet with some NGO representatives, which allowed for a frank exchange of views concerning the partnership between UNHCR and NGOs.

He highlighted that in the past years, UNHCR's partnership with NGOs continued to move beyond the traditional implementing arrangements to a more comprehensive collaboration, from the assessment and planning stages through to implementation and evaluation. At the Headquarters level, NGOs worked with UNHCR in revising various guidelines and policies. He was also very pleased to note that NGO participation has increased in the work of ExCom through their contributions to the drafting of ExCom decisions and conclusions and through NGO participation in the ExCom Chairperson's annual mission to the field. He believed that such partnerships should be developed further and strengthened not only at the Headquarters level but especially in the Field, where joint advocacy and operational endeavours should bring maximum results, with two way communications and regular dialogue.

UNHCR has been actively involved in the work of the Inter-Agency Standing Committee (IASC) to improve the protection and assistance of internally displaced persons (IDPs), which he emphasised as one of the areas which required reinvigorating UNHCR-NGO partnerships. He cited an example of Memorandum of Understanding UNHCR signed with the Norwegian Refugee Council in May 2006 with a view to facilitating cooperation in the delivery of protection in IDP operations. Broadening the dialogue and cooperation with NGOs at a more strategic level is high on UNHCR's agenda as the comprehensive strategy in dealing with humanitarian emergencies cannot be developed without dialogue and greater engagement of NGOs.

He concluded by expressing UNHCR's sincere gratitude to all the NGOs, who continue to support UNHCR's work in often challenging situations, both physically and financially. He confirmed that NGOs are crucial to the fulfilment of UNHCR's mandate and to its role with others of concern. He committed himself to doing his best to strengthen UNHCR's partnership approach and looked forward to working with NGOs towards this goal.

Opening Address

4. Judy Cheng-Hopkins, UNHCR's Assistant High Commissioner for Operations

Describing the NGOs as UNHCR's vital and valued partners, Judy Cheng-Hopkins expressed her pleasure to open the 2006 Annual Consultations with NGOs. She welcomed the rich and varied experience that NGOs bring to the consultations, which is necessary to strategize to better delivering protection and finding solutions for refugees and others forcibly displaced. She focused on three key issues, which form the core of much of what UNHCR does and how it is judged by the international community.

Emergency response

Using Lebanon as an example, Ms Cheng-Hopkins highlighted how assistance is delivered despite the constraints in gaining humanitarian access to areas where refugees and IDPs are found due to the prevailing conflict and security situations which led to their displacement in the first place. NGOs play a significant role in enhancing UNHCR's emergency response through the several standby arrangements established over the years. UNHCR is aiming to bring its emergency response capacity up to a level which enables the organization respond to an emergency of up to 500,000 persons. This includes having an enhanced capacity to plan strategically and a supply chain integrated into operations as well as adequate delegation of authority.

Internally Displaced Persons

The cluster approach is proving to be a valuable means to share information, provide clarity in coordination and build consensus around proposed activities. A primary focus of UNHCR's work in cluster roll-out countries is to strengthen its relationships with NGOs and other humanitarian partners. Whilst acknowledging the misgivings voiced by many NGOs about the cluster approach, she welcomed their probing of the true value added of the approach, which will go towards improving the system and making it work. For the time being, UNHCR's involvement with the

cluster approach has evolved around the roll-out countries (DRC, Liberia, Somalia, and Uganda); Ms Cheng-Hopkins stressed the importance and centrality of UNHCR's work with IDPs in Colombia, East Timor, Georgia, Nepal and Sudan where partnerships and collaboration with NGOs is being reinforced. UNHCR's involvement with IDPs requires a changed profile of managers within the organization who are able to coordinate and lead, and not just "do". Training programmes are being adapted to provide staff with these skills.

Protracted situations

According to UNHCR statistics, over 5 million refugees remain in more than 20 protracted situations around the world. Giving Nepal, Thailand and South Sudan as examples, she highlighted the promising indications to solving these situations. She also cited the number of voluntary repatriation operations underway in Africa. Some have matured to the point where discussions have been initiated with concerned governments on the local integration of refugees opting to remain in asylum countries, such as in Angola, Guinea and Sierra Leone.

In closing, Ms Cheng-Hopkins commended the steadfast dedication demonstrated by colleagues in bringing protection to those in need. She thanked the NGOs for their unwavering support over the years, which is indispensable for UNHCR to be an effective organization.

Comments and questions from NGOs included repatriation as not the only means to solving protracted situations, ensuring vulnerable refugees that do not have high integration possibilities are not left without resettlement, strengthening the capacity of indigenous NGOs particularly in the context of the cluster approach to IDP situations, UNHCR's monitoring role to uphold the convention in situations where refugees being forced to return to areas that are unsafe, the possibility of national NGOs being advocates for returnees and the call for a Special Rapporteur for Refugees.

The full text of Ms Cheng-Hopkins' intervention is annexed to this report.

Regional Sessions

5. Europe Bureau

Moderator: Manisha Thomas, International Council of Voluntary Agencies **Speaker(s):** Pirkko Kourula, Director, UNHCR *joined by:*

Udo Janz, Deputy Director (Eastern Europe and the Balkans) Guy Ouellet, Deputy Director (Western and Central Europe)

Bo Schack, Head, Policy Unit

Objective:

The regional session discussed the Bureau's priorities and strategies in relation to Western and Central Europe and encouraged an exchange of views and strategies in relation to the North Caucasus, South Caucasus and the Balkans. The session also addressed expanding strategic partnerships.

Intervention(s):

The Director highlighted the challenges in Europe to be tackled:

- 1. Preserving asylum and access to asylum, particularly in the context of mixed flows;
- 2. Combating rising intolerance in Europe;
- 3. Finding solutions to internal displacement; and
- 4. Expanding strategic partnerships.

Little distinction is made by the public between refugees and other persons in need of international protection, asylum-seekers and migrants. The Office has developed a Ten Point Plan providing UNHCR's ideas and visions on how to respond to the number of situations involving mixed flows of migrants and asylum-seekers. Based on this global plan, the Bureau has prepared a chart to tailor activities to Europe. Integration is a major challenge. States have to reconcile their

legitimate concerns to control their borders and combat illegal migration with their obligations to recognize and provide protection to refugees.

Regional overview:

The regionalisation of UNHCR offices is continuing. The Bureau is currently working on building capacity in Belarus, Moldova and the Ukraine. UNHCR continues to be involved in the Cross Border Cooperation Process, which has evolved into an important mechanism for bilateral and multilateral networking and cooperation amongst the ten participating states.

UNHCR is in close contact with SG Special Envoy Ahtisaari in Kosovo who is preparing his report on the status talks. UNHCR will close field offices in the Balkans in July 2007 and plans to pass the work onto NGOs and development actors as the humanitarian phase is over. An office will also be established in Grozny in the Russian Federation in order to better assess and respond to the needs of IDPs. In Georgia, UNHCR is helping the government put together an IDP plan.

Discussion:

Main discussion points:

- Seen progress in Lampedusa since last year, but what seems to be occurring is bilateral efforts by Italians to put police on Libyan shores to prevent movement. "Rescue" at high seas and patrols with joint flags are very complex. Frontex is growing and becoming more prominent on borders.
- There is more emphasis on border management than on improving asylum systems by States. UNHCR wants to help strengthen asylum systems and border management. For example, Turkey appreciates the training given by UNHCR to border officials.
- There is a need to seek durable solutions for those rescued at sea. For example, 51 persons who were rescued in a boat off the coast of Malta, all had durable solutions found; however they were lucky.
- Status determination, or lack thereof, for Iraqi persons is a big issue.
- UNHCR is working with Turkey to drop its reservations on the 1951 Convention and strengthen its asylum system. NGOs are key to this effort.
- The Swiss law on asylum is to be implemented in phases, and it is necessary to work together to ensure that it is implemented in line with the 1951 Convention and its legal obligations.
- There are clearer objectives and indicators to work on statelessness in 2007-2009 plans.
- Preparedness measures are needed with regard to Kosovo in view of the outcome of the status talks. This is important because the 250,000 IDPs could become refugees overnight.

Conclusion(s):

- Need for the Department of International Protection Services (DIPS) to change policy towards the determination of Iraqi persons.
- UNHCR and NGOs need to work together to help convince the Swiss authorities that implementation of recent laws around asylum should uphold the 1951 Convention and their international obligations.
- Need for support for Turkish NGOs to help the development of the asylum system.
- Need to work together in terms of tackling the tricky issue of joint patrols at sea, which prevent movements and to ensure rescue at sea leads to durable solutions.
- UNHCR Country Representatives should include NGOs in country planning.
- NGOs should be involved in the Europe Bureau's strategic planning.
- The Kosovo situation should be monitored by UNHCR and NGOs with a view to preparedness for the any outcome of the status talks.

6. Africa Bureau

Moderator: Ann Mary Olsen, Danish Refugee Council

Speaker(s): Marjon Kamara, Director *joined by:*

Golam Abbas, Head of Desk for East & Horn of Africa

Oluseyi Bajulaiye, Deputy Director (East & Horn of Africa and Southern Africa)

Marie-Christine Bocoum, Deputy Director (West & Central Africa and the Great Lakes

Mohamed Dualeh, Head of Desk, Southern Africa

Michel Gaudé, Head of Desk, West Africa

Betsy Greve, Head, Legal Unit

David Kapya, Coordinator for the Sudan/Chad Special Operations

Arun Sala-Ngarm, Head of Desk, Sudan

Craig Sanders, Head of Desk, Chad and Darfur

Objective:

The session discussed operational challenges and achievements with the Director of the Africa Bureau, as well as ways to strengthen and develop partnerships between UNHCR and NGOs.

Intervention(s)/Discussion:

The Director gave an overview of the situation in Africa, with a focus on (1) the opportunities and challenges for durable solutions and (2) UNHCR's new involvement in IDP situations in Africa. The main discussion points comprised:

- <u>UNHCR priorities</u>: SC-USA enquired about UNHCR's three main priorities in Africa for 2007. UNHCR replied that they would be (1) focus on solutions; (2) support to Governments to fully assume their responsibilities; (3) strengthening partnerships.
- <u>Migration</u>: Lawyers for Human Rights asked about the impact of secondary movements and migration on the institution of asylum. UNHCR acknowledged that a major problem was the lack of access to asylum procedures. The problem of the poor quality of RSD was also mentioned.
- <u>Urban refugee policy</u>: NGOs (Lawyers for Human Rights, JRS) praised the consultative approach in which the policy on urban refugees has been being developed and inquired when it would be finalized and distributed emphasizing the immediate need for these guidelines in the field
- <u>Local integration</u>: There is inconsistency between the profile of refugees and the means pursued to facilitate their local integration [the example mentioned was that of doctors and nurses provided with agricultural tools to facilitate their local integration]. UNHCR agreed that local integration is a major challenge and that efforts must be sustained to pursue this durable solution, despite the difficulties to implement it. The reluctance of governments towards local integration and the need to support Governments are also key elements. UNHCR and partners must capitalize on the good will of a few countries of asylum (Guinea and Angola for instance).
- <u>Education</u>: Education should not be just "education for education", but should provide the means to earn a living (African Concern). UNHCR acknowledged that there is immense potential in vocational training yet it does not support vocational training in a consistent manner, due to a lack of funds to carry out such activities.
- <u>SGBV</u>: Asian Women's Human Rights Council enquired about the durable solutions for a specific group of Sierra Leonean refugee women who have reportedly been victim of rape and torture in their country of asylum (Guinea). UNHCR advised to hold a bilateral meeting on this issue with the NGO.
- <u>Chad/Darfur situation</u>: Questions were raised concerning the lessons learned from IDP in the Chad/Darfur situation (Hawa Society) and the security for humanitarian workers and for refugees (CCF; CARITAS-Chad). While expressing appreciation for the coordination role of UNHCR for the security of NGO personnel, CARITAS requested for more security measures. While stressing the security and humanitarian challenges faced in Chad and Darfur, UNHCR noted that the reinforced presence of gendarmes in the area could help minimize insecurity, but not solve the problem entirely.
- <u>Zimbabwean asylum seekers</u>: Questions were raised on UNHCR's policy toward Zimbabwean asylum seekers, who are reportedly not being recognized in South Africa as refugees. UNHCR

- clarified that they look at each case individually and encouraged partners to bring cases of concern to UNHCR's attention.
- <u>IDPs</u>: Positive interest was expressed in UNHCR's activities on behalf of the IDPs within the cluster approach. Yet, there was a key concern raised about UNHCR's presence in areas of displacement with the Danish Refugee Council alerting UNHCR that it would soon, reluctantly, begin protection activities without UNHCR in Somalia due to a lack of a UNHCR protection colleague on the ground.

Conclusion(s)/Recommendation(s):

- <u>Urban refugee policy</u>: UNHCR to issue its urban refugee policy and share it with NGOs as soon as possible.
- <u>SGBV in Guinea</u>: Bilateral meeting to be organized between UNHCR and Asian Women's Human Rights Council.

7. Asia and the Pacific Bureau

Moderator: James Thomson, National Council of Churches of Australia

Speaker(s): Janet Lim, Director, UNHCR *joined by:*

Daisy Dell, Deputy Director

Objective:

Discuss with the Director about working towards solutions to protracted refugee situations in Asia.

Intervention(s)/Discussion:

Refugees from Myanmar in Thailand:

- There are now over 150,000 refugees from Myanmar in nine camps in Thailand (up from 140,000) along the border who have no permission to work and no freedom of movement. However, over the past two years, the Thai Government has become more flexible, opening up group resettlement (despite delays due to the "material support" issue) and, more recently, permitting vocational and income generation training activities. It has agreed to support education centres in refugee camps. The Government has also agreed to the establishment of UNHCR Legal Aid Centres a first in closed camps and to the issuance of identity cards.
- This has partly been due to the hard work of NGOs and UNHCR, as well as factors, such as the increased recognition of the importance of migrant workers, in the country.
- Early signs are that the recent coup in Thailand will not affect these gains as several members of the new administration have been supportive of the changes.
- The challenge will be maintaining these gains as pressure emerges over increasing new arrivals as the situation deteriorates in Myanmar.
- In addition, it must be noted that improvements will potentially act as a draw for new arrivals and this must be dealt with.
- Even though the resettlement of up to 10,000 out of 140,000 refugees from Myanmar out of Thailand over the next year may not reduce the overall number of refugees in Thailand due to the increasing number of new arrivals (7,000 this year already), it must be stressed that resettlement is important both as a durable solution and as part of a comprehensive solution for the refugees.
- NGOs should be commended for their creative thinking and successful lobbying of governments in collaboration with UNHCR.
- Due to fears of a "brain-drain", resettlement is being monitored closely to ensure against the best and the brightest being removed.
- Participants were also reminded of the estimated 400,000 refugees in Thailand, including 250,000 Shan, and some 500,000 IDPs in Myanmar, where the situation is worsening.

Refugees in Nepal:

• There are 106,000 ethnic Nepalese from Southern Bhutan, who entered Nepal in the early 1990s, and living in seven camps. Previously, the only durable solution envisaged was repatriation, but now looking at a range of solutions.

- There is no definitive road map, but interested donor countries, known the Core Group, are actively engaged.
- In July 2006, at a New York meeting, Nepal agreed to allow 15 cases to be resettled.
- At the same meeting, the US offered 50,000 resettlement places.
- Nepal has also agreed to allow UNHCR to conduct a long-awaited re-registration, which is scheduled for the latter part of 2006.
- UNHCR is concerned for vulnerable groups in the camps and hopes that some of these groups can be resettled regardless of any final durable solution.
- It was noted that some refugee leaders are advocating only repatriation and that there were fears that polarization and pressure may impact on the freedom of refugees to choose between repatriation and resettlement.
- While Bhutan has agreed to the return of a small number of those who it considers to be Bhutanese citizens, agreements have not been reached on implementation.

Myanmar Rohingya in Bangladesh:

- While 230,000 Rohingya have returned home over the past decade, there are still 26,000 Rohingya in two camps in Bangladesh who do not wish to return.
- Neither voluntary repatriation nor local integration is an immediate option for this group.
- Bangladesh has rejected (1) an April 1997 UNHCR proposal for local integration; (2) an April 1999 request from UNHCR to grant temporary residence to remaining camp residents; (3) an August 1999 food-for-work proposal; and (4) a January 2003 UNHCR proposal to promote self-reliance.
- Refugees are not permitted to work, have no freedom of movement and face serious protection problems.
- Bangladesh insists that repatriation is the only solution and is reluctant to improve even the most basic living conditions as this may work against repatriation.
- Meanwhile, prolonged encampment has led to increasing sexual and gender-based violence, trafficking, corruption and abuse from local authorities. Refugee participation in camp activities is at an all time low.
- UNHCR is encouraged by renewed interest by donor countries who met in Dhaka and Geneva recently to work on a common approach.
- The UN Country Team (UNCT) in Bangladesh, which has been very supportive, conducted an inter-agency assessment on the estimated 200,000 Rohingya living outside camps. The benefits of development projects proposed for this group are hoped to have a spill-over effect for encamped refugees. NGOs could play an important role here in lobbying their respective governments to provide support.
- UNHCR will not close the camps without a viable alternative having been found.
- UNHCR's work in Northern Rakine State is essential for sustainable repatriation.

Protracted Refugee Caseloads in Urban situations:

- UNHCR and NGOs alike stressed the need to address less visible protracted refugee situations in urban areas and stressed the need for resettlement countries to consider these people under separate humanitarian criteria given their unique predicaments rather than through their standard resettlement criteria.
- It is imperative that NGOs raise the situation of these urban situated caseloads with their respective governments.

Other concerns:

• NGOs raised the issue of deported Hmong in Lao being detained in jails.

Conclusion(s):

The session stressed the importance of UNHCR, NGOs and States coming together to explore and jointly develop creative new ways to solve protracted refugee situations and responding to changing political situations.

8. Central Asia, South West Asia, North Africa & the Middle East Bureau

Moderators: Tarek Badawy, Africa & Middle-East Refugee Assistance

Manisha Thomas, International Council of Voluntary Agencies

Speaker(s): Ekber Menemencioglu, Director *joined by:*

Salvatore Lombardo, Head of Desk, Central Asia & South West Asia Ruvendrini Menikdiwela, Head of Desk, North Africa & the Middle East

Radhouane Nouicer, Deputy Director

Objective(s):

A discussion with the Bureau on two distinct themes:

- 1. Asylum-Migration Nexus UNHCR's 10 Point Plan of Action for the CASWANAME Region
- 2. Cluster approach in emergencies lessons learned from the CASWANAME region looking at Pakistan and Lebanon

Intervention(s)/Discussion:

Asylum-Migration Nexus:

- Iraqi Diaspora goes back to the first Gulf War. The exodus is continuing and the number of Iraqi people in Europe has increased by 50%. Contingency planning for further outflows exists. There is good and increased collaboration between actors. Meanwhile, temporary protection still applies. There was concern that some governments do not recognise temporary protection or refugee documents.
- With regard to IDPs in Palestine, there is need for more information from UNRWA and more protection of Palestinians in Iraq. There is an increase in the number of IDPs in the Occupied Palestinian Territories.
- Refugee status on readmission to Egypt is the only option for Sudanese in detention in Israel because the Government of Israel considers them enemy nationals.
- There are negotiations between Libya and the European Union regarding the latter's access to Libyan territorial waters to prevent flows of refugees into Europe. So far, Libya has refused.
- There is hardly any access to detention facilities or statistics on detention in Libya or other countries in the region.
- Questions were raised regarding the policies on return of failed asylum-seekers to Afghanistan.

Cluster approach in emergencies:

- The clusters are very different in capitals from those in the field.
- In Pakistan, NGOs were asked to bring and explain in a few minutes their proposals to the clusters. Once the funding was decided, equality was left out.
- Priority-setting was missing in the clusters in Pakistan.
- Clusters seem to be more about profiling and fundraising.
- The number of meeting in (because of) the clusters is a real problem because there are different approaches between NGOs and the UN.
- Are clusters really about gap-filling or a new coordination mechanism?
- The relationship between NGOs and the UN is "in a medieval stage". There is need for equality in setting policies, response, management and implementation.

Conclusion(s):

Asylum-Migration Nexus:

- Sudanese in Israel: Resettlement or return to Egypt following a readmission agreement are the only available options.
- UNHCR is unable to access detention centres in Libya, except for one in Benghazi. More access is required.
- UNHCR cannot obtain statistics on detention. NGOs are welcome to help UNHCR with statistics if available.

- With regard to Afghan returnees, UNHCR is facilitating dialogue between Afghanistan and host countries. Some Western countries have not signed the return agreement, which makes it difficult for Afghans to return.
- Temporary protection will continue to apply in the case of Iraqi refugees. UNHCR intervenes on their behalf to prevent their deportation to Iraq where the situation deteriorates by the day.
- There is a need to develop a more effective response for the protection of Palestinian refugees in Iraq.
- Discussions with UNRWA regarding the protection and assistance of IDPs in the Occupied Palestinian Territories should be initiated.

Cluster approach in emergencies:

- Equality in partnership and the clusters still needs to be developed.
- The cluster lead agency must ensure that all priorities are addressed, and not just the lead agency's priorities.
- One size for clusters does not fit all. There are a number of unresolved issues which must be addressed. The voice of NGOs is key to improving the cluster concept.

9. Americas Bureau

Moderator: Elisabeth Rasmusson, Norwegian Refugee Council

Speaker(s): Philippe Lavanchy, Director

Objective(s):

Review of the implementation of the Mexico Plan of Action; update on the Colombia situation; the impact of the financial crisis; and to hear from NGOs about their concerns and priorities.

Intervention(s):

The Director gave a comprehensive introduction to the region, focusing on the situation in Colombia and implementation of the Mexico Plan of Action. Questions were raised about returnmonitoring in Colombia. On the Plan of Action, NGOs are actively working in the resettlement countries in the region. There was overall agreement on the need for ownership on behalf of Governments in the region and support from the international community. It was also pointed out that the Mexico Plan of Action is not only about Colombia; that refugee issues in Mexico and other countries in Latin America should not be forgotten.

Conclusion(s):

Good and informative session. The Americas Bureau has a very good relationship with NGOs in the region and is constructive when being confronted with concerns and challenges.

Round-Table Sessions

Theme on UN Reform

10. Implementation of the new cluster approach in situations of internal displacement

Moderator: Jens-Hagen Eschenbächer, Internal Displacement Monitoring Centre, Norwegian

Refugee Council

Speaker(s): Cindy Burns, UNHCR Uganda

Musa Echweru, Minister of State for Relief and Disaster Preparedness, Uganda

Lucy Hovil, Refugee Law Project

Jamie McGoldrick, Office of the Coordinator for Humanitarian Affairs

Objective(s):

Using Uganda as an example, the session focused on the implementation of the new cluster approach by UNHCR and its partners on the ground. The session looked at initial experiences

with, and lessons learned from, putting the cluster approach into practice at the field level, with particular attention to relations between UNHCR and non-governmental partners on the ground.

Intervention(s):

OCHA gave an overview of the cluster approach, highlighting the need to de-mystify the clusters and to strengthen partnership between the UN and NGOs, including national NGOs.

The Refugee Law Project welcomed the cluster roll-out in Uganda as recognition of the need for humanitarian action, summarized some of the concerns raised by NGOs, and stressed the challenge for UNHCR to effectively engage the government in IDP protection.

Minister Echweru described the coordination mechanisms in place at the different levels, and stressed the government's responsibility for leading the IDP response.

UNHCR Uganda informed about UNHCR's focus in Uganda – return and improving conditions in camps – and spelled out the challenges it faces, including the difficulties to get everyone on board, inter-cluster coordination, adapting to the fluidity of the situation, internal bureaucracies, and partnerships with NGOs.

Discussion

Issues raised during the discussion included the:

- Status of humanitarian reform in Uganda beyond the clusters: the need for a separate Humanitarian Coordinator for the North;
- Need to take into account the differences between regions when planning return in Uganda;
- Need to clarify the relation between the Joint Monitoring Mechanism and the clusters;
- Lack of implementation of the clusters other than the protection cluster;
- Need to include NGOs and IDP representatives in coordination mechanisms; and
- Difficulties for NGOs to participate in the increasing number of meetings due to the cluster approach.

Conclusion(s):

- Strong NGO-UN partnership is a prerequisite for the function and success of cluster implementation.
- Protection cluster implementation in Uganda is on track, but a number of challenges remain to be addressed.

Theme on the Asylum-Migration Nexus

11. Combating the use of detention as a deterrent: A case study from the Mediterranean

Moderator: Anna Gallagher, Coordinator of the International Detention Coalition

Speaker(s): Anja Klug, Protection Operations & Legal Advice Section, UNHCR

Mamadou Ndiaye, Office Africain pour le Développement et la Coopération

Esther Schaufelberger, Association for the Prevention of Torture

Objective:

The session looked at how detention is used as a deterrent to stop refugee and migratory flows from sub-Sahara. It looked at the conditions under which people are being detained, as well as advocacy tools that can be used by NGOs to get people out of detention or improve the conditions under which they are detained. Finally, the session looked at how NGOs can develop advocacy strategies to combat this increase of detention of refugees and migrants.

Conclusion(s):

• Need for the European Union (EU) to establish a managed migration system instead of focusing only on enforcement.

- Importance of lobbying with governments to approve the Optional Protocol on the Convention Against Torture (OPCAT) as a mechanism to protect detainees.
- UNHCR working towards getting access to detention centres in North Africa. It is important that NGOs work with UNHCR, share information, etc.
- Lobby to have a refugee/migration law expert on the Optional Protocol sub-committee.

Theme on Durable Solutions

12. Challenges of Return: Rights and sustainable solutions

Moderator: Peter Prove, Lutheran World Federation

Speaker(s): Gregory Balke, Solutions and Operations Support Section, UNHCR

Hazel Lang, Austcare Robyn Lui, Austcare

Tulasi Sharma, Lutheran World Federation, Kenya

Objective(s):

The session explored the challenges of return for refugees and IDPs, firstly from a human rights perspective and secondly, from the perspective of protracted situations in Asia. The panellists will draw attention to some fundamental issues that must be addressed in order to achieve sustainable return and discuss UNHCR's responses to these issues.

Intervention(s):

- Raised awareness on human rights issues raised expectations and requirements relating to return.
- To solve protracted situations, focus needs to be given to the root causes and approaches have to be comprehensive and multi-disciplinary.
- Role of UNHCR in countries of return.

Discussion:

- Specific protracted cases mentioned: South Sudan, Bhutan, Myanmar, Serbia & Montenegro.
- Is voluntary repatriation really voluntary?
- How to manage a camp when resources decrease?
- Is peace a pre-requisite for return or a factor needed to build peace?
- Returnees and refugees have to go home to build their societies. Dilemma of having better services in the camp.
- Is resettlement a nexus of immigration policy?
- Participation of refugees in analysing their own situations.
- The need for civic education.

Conclusion(s):

The human rights framework provides us with a set of universal standards, but on the very practical level, what is the bottom line of what we can accept and live with?

Theme on UN Reform

13. Mainstreaming education within humanitarian response

Moderator: Carl Triplehorn, Save the Children US

Speaker(s): Eva Ahlen, Technical Support Services (Education), UNHCR

Ellen Van Kalmthout, UNICEF

Wendy Wheaton, Christian Children's Fund

Objective(s):

With education being accepted as one of the primary tools of protection, the panel explored the importance of on-going and future coordination of emergency education interventions. Specifically, the panel discussed the potential creation of an Education Cluster, with examples of *de facto* clusters in Uganda, DRC and Pakistan. Additionally, the panel discussed on-going

collaboration, such as the Inter-agency Network for Education in Emergencies (INEE) and its development of Minimum Standards, as a means of strengthening educational quality and access and humanitarian accountability.

Intervention(s):

Main speaker intervention points highlighted that:

- There is strong feeling for the establishment of an education cluster.
- Although not mandated at the global level, education clusters are forming de facto in the Field.
- There are significant benefits in the development of an education cluster:
 - o Recognition of the importance of education;
 - o More systematic attention to address capacity gaps; and
 - o Enable interaction with other clusters.
- Quality of education is an accepted tool of protection but it is necessary to now look at how agencies can be accountable for its implementation.
- The INEE has proven to be a useful means of improving the coordination and quality of implementation of education in emergencies. INEE's Minimum Standards have been key to implementing education activities.
- There are significant gaps within the provision of education programmatically (youth), but also in access (to the school fees/livelihoods).

Discussion:

Cultural acceptability of education:

- Clarification that education in emergencies is in the languages of those affected.
- Similarly, education in emergencies stresses the adaptation to the cultural norms of those affected.

Formation of an education cluster:

- This was the primary focus of the session.
- The formation of an education cluster was generally well accepted but there were specific questions in regard to how it would be implemented.
- Specific questions were raised regarding how the cluster response undermines commitments of UN agencies.

Youth:

Many of those present felt there was a significant lack of programming for youth. Specifically, it was raised that youth have been identified as a needed area of programming but this has led to little systemic change.

More discussion needs to happen regarding emergency education as being life-saving.

Conclusion(s):

- Education is now an accepted tool of protection.
- The formation of an education cluster was generally well accepted with a questioning of UN roles and responsibilities.
- Education is under-utilised as a means of protection.
- Education is significantly under-funded with programmatic gaps, as well as gaps in funding which hinder programme development and continuation.

Theme on ExCom Conclusions

14. Prevention and reduction of statelessness and protection of stateless persons

Moderator: Mirna Adjami, Open Society Justice Initiative Speaker(s): Vera den Otter, Jesuit Refugee Service Thailand

Philippe Leclerc, Statelessness Unit/DIPS, UNHCR

Jane Connors, Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights

Objective:

Statelessness dramatically affects the enjoyment of a broad range of human rights by approximately 11 million persons worldwide. The session aimed to explore how NGOs can work together with UNHCR, other UN agencies and States to address statelessness. The focus was on issues such as birth registration, discrimination against women in passing on citizenship to their children and protracted statelessness situations.

Interventions:

UNHCR:

The UN General Assembly gave UNHCR a mandate to prevent and reduce statelessness and to protect stateless persons. The 1954 Convention relating to the Status of Stateless Persons defines a *de jure* stateless person as "a person who is not considered as a national by any State under the operation of its law" and recommends, as well as the 1961 Convention on the Reduction of Statelessness, that *de facto* stateless persons as far as possible are accorded the same treatment. Few States have ratified or acceded to the two conventions, but many key international human rights instruments contain similar provisions. UNHCR has increased attention and resources to these issues. UNHCR's ExCom will adopt a Conclusion on Statelessness at its 57th session. It envisages actions to be taken by UNHCR, civil society and States within four areas: (1) identification of stateless persons and populations; (2) prevention of statelessness; (3) reduction of statelessness; and (4) protection of stateless persons.

Main challenges include the identification of stateless populations, for which very few States have precise data. Birth and voter registration, and population census may be used for this purpose, as well as research in cooperation with academic institutions and experts. One statelessness prevention mechanism is through birth registration and the issuance of birth certificates. States are also encouraged to review their nationality legislation with the aim to remove gaps that may lead to statelessness. Advocacy campaigns, international standard setting instruments and regional courts may serve as tools to prevent and reduce statelessness. The Inter-American Court of Human Rights judgment in the case of the Yean and Bosico children v. the Dominican Republic was mentioned as an example. Another main challenge to reducing statelessness is addressing protracted statelessness situations, which requires a comprehensive response on the part of States, UN agencies and NGOs. As an example, more than 600,000 stateless Tamils of recent Indian origin acquired nationality as a result of a citizenship campaign organized by the Sri Lanka authorities with the assistance of UNHCR. Finally, the protection of stateless persons should be reinforced by ensuring their access to basic rights.

In going forward, UNHCR will promote inter-agency responses to statelessness, bringing in other relevant UN agencies such as OHCHR, UNICEF, UNIFEM, and UNFPA. Given that few States are party to the 1954 and 1961 Conventions relating to statelessness, it is of great importance that relevant provisions of human rights be promoted and applied.

OCHCR

The presentation focused on the right to a nationality and particularly on discrimination on the grounds of gender as a cause of statelessness. OHCHR does not address statelessness per se, but the right to a nationality, and OHCHR and UNHCR must work more closely on these issues. Nationality provides the individual with an important part of their identity but is also a requisite for enjoyment of a number of rights including automatic residence, passport and political participation and, in practice, such rights as employment, health and education.

Women and children are particularly vulnerable to statelessness. Trafficking victims often have their identity documents confiscated. Many nationality laws lead wives to automatically acquire the nationality of their husband (dependent nationality) and conversely to lose it if the husband loses his nationality or dies or divorces. This may also impact the children, who can be rendered stateless. The 1957 Convention on the Nationality of Married Women specifically addressed this issue, but has a narrow reach and decision makers were often deterred by the preferential treatment

it gives to women. As a result, only 73 States have ratified or acceded to it. It was superseded by the 1979 Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women (CEDAW), which in its Article 9 seeks to guarantee the right to equality of women to acquire, change or retain nationality as well as confer nationality upon their children. As such, the Article addresses an inequality issue: it does not state women's right to choose a nationality, but to have the same right as their husband in relation to nationality.

CEDAW Article 9 is adversely affected by a large number of reservations, but has nevertheless had significant impact. The Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women routinely requests States to report on their implementation of the Article and has frequently addressed discrimination in nationality laws. NGOs can use this fact for campaigning purposes. Reforms in Algeria, Morocco and Egypt have taken place to remove discrimination in nationality laws. Litigation in a number of countries has addressed the issue of discrimination in relation to nationality, as exemplified by the case of Unity Dow v. Botswana. Use of the Optional Protocol to the CEDAW should be explored, and the issue of statelessness can also be raised through the communications procedures of the Human Rights Committee and the Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination.

Jesuit Refugee Service:

This presentation centred on efforts of the Thai Government, in cooperation with NGOs and community based organizations (CBOs), to resolve protracted statelessness situations in Thailand where 2.5 million people may lack a nationality. The national strategy recognises that the large number of undocumented persons may be a threat to national security, which made it possible to work towards reduction of statelessness. A backlog remains in registering births, however, and in many cases stateless persons are granted residency but not nationality.

The issue of statelessness will not be solved overnight, which makes it essential to ascertain the basic human rights of these people. A great step forward is Thailand's new education policy which gives all children, regardless of legal status or nationality, the right to attend Thai schools up to university level. Despite such initiatives and commitment on part of many stakeholders, additional rights protection gaps remain to be closed.

To solve this problem there is a need for significant financial support and efforts among CBOs, NGOs, international agencies, the government and stateless persons must be strengthened. Moreover, the issue has to be taken up to a regional level since statelessness is a regional issue and cross-border movement has often led to statelessness. JRS recommends that UNHCR strengthen cooperation with Thai NGOs and link with national and regional initiatives. Advocacy, information sharing and coordination are not fund-intensive but would make a significant contribution to solving the statelessness problem.

Conclusion(s):

Key to resolving statelessness is collaboration between NGOs, UNHCR and UN agencies, particularly in the domain of operationalizing programmes in the field to identify, prevent, reduce, and protect stateless persons. UNHCR will continue to advise states on revising nationality laws to fill legal gaps that permit statelessness and NGOs should pursue legal decisions from national courts, international tribunals, and UN treaty bodies.

Theme on Durable Solutions

15. Integration: The forgotten 'solution'

Moderator: Barbara Harrell-Bond, Africa & Middle East Refugee Assistance **Speaker(s):** Jeff Crisp, Policy Development & Evaluation Service, UNHCR

Lucy Hovil, Refugee Law Project Karen Jacobsen, Tufts University

Tania Kaiser, School of Oriental and African Studies

Objective:

The discussion used the case of Uganda and the self-reliance strategy to illustrate some of the issues surrounding UNHCR's approaches to integration and self-reliance. The panel discussed the discrepancies between assistance programming for long-term refugees and prospects for 'development', including an analysis of structural and institutional constraints and interests that remain as obstacles to this approach. The panel discussed what it knows (and what evidence it has) about 'integrated' refugees' contributions to, and acceptance within, the host economy and society. In conclusion, the panel reviewed the variety of economic support programmes and policies that could be considered in protracted situations.

Conclusion(s):

Comprehensive approaches to durable solutions are needed, involving voluntary repatriation, resettlement and local integration. In any refugee situation, a combination of these solutions should be used, depending on local circumstances. Local integration is likely to be a viable option in situations where refugees have some affinity (culture, language, etc.) with the host community.

The notion of 'local integration' has to be deconstructed. In some cases, full integration, involving naturalization and citizenship, might be possible, but in many situations, approaches such as local settlement and self-reliance are more appropriate and more workable.

Local integration, local settlement and self-reliance cannot be divorced from the question of rights. Refugees who are denied freedom of movement or access to the labour market, for example, cannot be expected to become self-reliant or to integrate.

Host country policies usually determine the extent to which local integration is possible. When a new refugee influx occurs, UNHCR must try to negotiate with the host government to ensure that an appropriate environment for local integration and self-reliance is created. At a later stage, it maybe impossible to persuade the host government to amend its policies, although advocacy, coalition-building and donor state involvement should be used to achieve that objective.

Local integration does not obstruct voluntary repatriation. Even integrated refugees retain an attachment to their homeland and may choose to go back there when conditions allow.

16. "MSRP" – UNHCR's global implementation of the PeopleSoft software package

Speaker(s): Anthony Salmon, MSRP and Business Solutions, UNHCR

Alan Vernon, Organisational Development and Management Service, UNHCR

Objective(s):

The session provided an overview of the scope, status and plans for the MSRP and gave an opportunity to share views on its utility as a tool to improve working practice between NGOs and UNHCR.

Intervention(s):

Anthony Salmon, briefed participants on the status of MSRP. He opened the session by stating that MSRP is an enterprise-wide computer application which performs UNHCR business requirements within a single software package. He explained that MSRP replaces old systems and introduces 'best practices' in business and technology. Hence the reason it is called MSRP – Management Systems Renewal Project.

Thus far UNHCR has successfully implemented the Finance, Supply Chain and Human Resource Administration modules. The modules on Recruitment, Global Payroll, Treasury Management and the Enterprise Learning Program are being developed and will be delivered within the next year. Travel and Expenses modules are also being planned for roll-out. At this point in time UNHCR had rolled the software out to over 100 field locations.

Anthony Salmon also mentioned the long-term opportunities that may exist to grant NGO partners limited access to the system in respect of project reporting, and possibly also for certain functions performed by NGOs for UNHCR, such as fleet management.

Alan Vernon presented screen shots from UNHCR's new RBM Software *Focus*; a new software application UNHCR is developing for itself and partners to support and facilitate programme and project management at all stages of the project cycle from assessment to monitoring and evaluation. Mr. Vernon explained that the application is currently being built and will be piloted in ten locations in 2007 and rolled out world-wide in 2008. The application will work both off-line and on-line and is expected to be a key means for strengthening UNHCR's partnership with NGOs and supporting their shared commitment for delivering quality programmes.

Discussion:

Questions on MSRP from participants revolved around the challenges UNHCR faces in implementing the system. Mr. Salmon stated that the Support function does not presently follow best practice and is currently being re-structured as part of the UNHCR IT Strategy. Issues of connectivity – of bandwidth shortage – are challenges that were first addressed by measuring required connectivity requirements of UNHCR offices worldwide and then identifying a supplier that can provide connectivity using a satellite service. Change Management challenges, in this case helping people to accept a new IT system, he acknowledged, were underestimated. The MSRP team is working to address such change management issues as the cultural shift of having financial data available for all staff versus certain individuals or units; the requirement that all staff acquire new business competencies; and alignment of MSRP processes with UNHCR structures and procedures.

Questions and comments on *Focus* centred on the availability of the tool to partners as well as the importance of having such a tool to facilitate programme management. Mr. Vernon explained that UNHCR is fully committed to sharing the tool with partners, and agreed with participants that such a tool was long overdue.

Conclusion(s):

The benefits far outweigh the costs in implementing MSRP. The return on investment include the improved control of funds and expenditures, the integration between previous separate systems that will streamline processes and reduce data processing functions, and the reduction of costs in maintaining ancient legacy systems. Being internet-based, MSRP enables UNHCR to have the option to de-centralize, or out-post. MSRP is therefore instrumental in UNHCR present efforts to reform.

Regarding *Focus*, there was strong consensus on the value and need for such a tool. The NGO participants indicated both their interest and readiness to be part of any pilot exercise for the software.

Theme on ExCom Conclusions

17. Collaboration in addressing gender issues

Moderator: Manisha Thomas, International Council of Voluntary Agencies

Speaker(s): Philippe Boguel, Secours Catholique et Développement

Salvatore Lombardo, Head of Desk for Central Asia & South West Asia, UNHCR

Jutta Teigler, Oxfam GB

Objective(s):

The session discussed successful and appropriate cooperative efforts to joint gender programming in emergency responses. The panel drew mainly on the cooperation in Chad, but also on the tsunami response in Aceh/Indonesia and others. The objective of the discussion was to share positive collaborative experiences and to stimulate future cooperation between the NGOs, the UNHCR and other UN agencies as suggested in the draft handbook on Addressing Gender Issues

in Emergencies prepared by the IASC, as well as finding a better way to 'sell' gender issues so they become more palatable and more men are engaged.

Intervention(s):

Main speaker intervention points:

- Reduce gap in power between men and women through collaboration.
- Gender sensitive staff must be fielded from the start of any operation.
- The example of UNHCR's women at risk programme in Afghanistan showed that even in seemingly impossible situations, gender can make a difference.
- Need an <u>integrated</u> programme involving various actors for it to work.
- In Chad, it was necessary to sensitise men about gender so that they eventually allowed women to participate in camp committees.
- It is possible to overcome cultural barriers with regards to women's participation (e.g. Chad).

Discussion:

Main discussion points:

- Major component of gender torture is the state and religiously sanctioned.
- Is there any way to approach men in communities (where FGM is practised) so their views can be freely expressed so we can move forward?
- Even progressive men do not come to gender meetings how can we get them to?
- Could and should be talking more with religious leaders, as was done in Yemen, for example, with the Mullahs to speak out against child marriage.
- It is a long struggle, which will not be easy.
- Empowering women is only part of the struggle there is a need to also work with the perpetrators, of which there are different levels.
- Gender training should be 50% men and 50% women.

Conclusion(s):

- Gender-sensitive staff need to be deployed from the beginning of an emergency.
- Need to raise awareness among men of what is ill-treatment of women.
- Need to work collaboratively to address gender issues, for example, ensuring gender training is 50% women and 50% men.
- Need to empower women.
- Should engage in more dialogue/discussion with religious leaders.
- Need men taking more responsibilities on the issue.
- Need reflection about <u>not</u> having women leading.
- Need space for men in NGOs and UN agencies, to lead gender work.

Theme on Durable Solutions

18. What are the strategies for countries supportive of resettlement?

Moderator(s): Ana Monica Farinha, Portuguese Refugee Council

João Vasoncelos, Portuguese Refugee Council

Speaker(s): Vincent Cochetel, Resettlement Service, UNHCR

Cándido Feliciano Da Ponte Neto, Caritas Arquidiocesana do Río de Janeiro Julia Fernandez Quintanilla, Asociacion Comision Catolica Española de Migración

Richard Parkins, Refugee Council USA

Objective(s):

The panel debated how to develop specific national advocacy strategies, involving UNHCR and NGOs in countries supportive of resettlement activities, to maintain and increase current levels of resettlement. How do stakeholders need to advocate for formal national resettlement programmes? The session identified existing measures being developed by UNHCR, regional organizations (i.e. EU) and individual governments with the objective of facilitating resettlement activities and debated how States and NGOs from countries supportive of resettlement activities can make the

most of such measures. The panel identified lessons learned in emerging resettlement countries and countries supportive of resettlement activities and discussed ways of further facilitating regular sharing of information, expertise and best practises on resettlement between UNHCR, European and non-European NGOs and how these could represent a useful complement to the ATC process. It identified key aspects in capacity building of NGOs in countries supportive of resettlement activities and discussed the extension of current UNHCR capacity building programmes on resettlement in favour of NGOs from countries supportive of resettlement activities.

Intervention(s):

Main speaker intervention points comprised:

Asociacion Comision Catolica Española de Migración

- Described resettlement activities in Spain and the role of NGOs in resettlement
- Specific initiatives of best practises exchange between NGOs

Caritas Arquidiocesana do Río de Janeiro

- Described resettlement activities in Brazil
- Need for a tripartite involvement (government, civil society and UNHCR) in all stages of resettlement (selection, reception and integration)

Refugee Council USA

- USA NGOs contribute to all stages of resettlement and are also advocates for refugees
- Dispersion versus clustering of refugees in resettlement countries

UNHCR

- Distinguishes between traditional and emerging resettlement countries and countries supportive of resettlement
- Encourages advocacy for the establishment of resettlement programmes at national level in countries supportive of resettlement
- Promotes an expansion of UNHCR resettlement activities in Europe
- Advocate with the EU Presidency for the inclusion of enhanced resettlement in Europe in its work plan

Discussion:

Main discussion points focuses on:

- The resettlement selection criteria
- The importance of properly managing refugees' expectations vis-à-vis resettlement
- The need for pre-departure cultural orientation in resettlement programmes
- The importance of channelling information to NGOs implementing reception and integration in resettlement countries regarding vulnerability of individual cases (ICs) well in advance of their arrival.

Conclusion(s):

The role of NGOs is indispensable:

- To advocate for refugees and for resettlement as a complement, not a substitute to asylum systems;
- To develop the basis for resettlement programmes in view of national capacity;
- To create public awareness and understanding (refugees are an asset, not a burden); and
- As a link to civil society/service providers.

The NGOs' experience in resettlement countries regarding reception, information, legal counselling, and development of integration projects should be further enhanced and should include involvement in selection, placement of resettled persons and management of expectations.

- Priority for emerging resettlement countries should be to advocate for highest possible resettlement programme standards, particularly in the areas of family reunification and dossier emergency submissions;
- Integration potential should not be a criterion for selection; and
- Exclusion of refugees with HIV/AIDS should not be a practise in resettlement
- Need to promote the implementation of the EXCOM Conclusion on Women-at-Risk

UNHCR should expand resettlement opportunities i.e. by increasing the number of first countries of asylum that receive selection missions for resettlement and the number of countries willing to resettle refugees.

UNHCR Resettlement Handbook should be updated to better reflect the European perspective.

UNHCR should pursue a balance between local protection/integration and resettlement opportunities to better manage refugees' expectations vis-à-vis resettlement and seek stronger commitment from first countries of asylum to provide protection/local integration.

Capacity building of NGOs:

- Cooperation between NGOs (training)
- UNHCR's role training, support in fund-raising and encouraging NGOs to participate in strategic/regional resettlement meetings, assessment missions in first countries of asylum

Capacity building of NGOs is crucial for functioning and evolving resettlement programmes. Therefore, the learning never ends and new populations, new experiences and new realities should be addressed. NGOs should be prepared for constant changes and new methodologies.

Theme on UN Reform

19. Children's protection and humanitarian reform

Moderator: Amelia Bookstein, Save the Children UK

Speaker(s): Luc Chauvin, UNICEF

Ron Pouwels, Community Development, Gender Equality and Children Section,

UNHCR

Dan Rono, Save the Children USA

Objective(s):

The panel commented on the impact of the cluster model and other aspects of humanitarian reform on assistance and protection of children (regardless of their status - refugees, IDPs, asylum seekers, returnees, etc). As 50% or more of the people in any emergency, how have children's risks and needs been assessed? Are the gaps regarding their access to humanitarian relief been addressed? How has the role of "cluster lead" and "the provider of last resort" worked in practice on the ground?

Intervention(s):

Main speaker intervention points comprised:

UNHCR

The new UNHCR Tool for Participatory Assessment developed as part of the Age, Gender and Diversity Mainstreaming strategy means that staff <u>have</u> to ensure that people of concern – women, men, boys and girls of all backgrounds – participate, also in emergencies. For example, people of concern participate in the identification of their protection risks and solutions, such as safe play areas for children. A challenge remains addressing the specific concerns of adolescents as the focus is often on younger children. In the cluster approach, there remain challenges of linking the Field and the global levels and ensuring inter-cluster communication and cooperation.

UNICEF

From experience in Pakistan, it is clear that UNICEF has to shift its mindset from just child protection to the wider protection issue, which will be a staffing challenge. The IASC self-assessment in October-December should be helpful. Benchmarks are needed for impact.

Save the Children

Clusters are difficult; therefore a positive outlook is necessary to make them work. Child protection should be mainstreamed into assessments for the clusters, but also as a specific set of skills as well. Links to other initiatives, such as the Security Council Resolution 1612, are important. UNICEF and UNHCR should work to become more flexible and nimble and increase internal capacity on child protection. UNHCR should look beyond a legal definition of protection and focus on social protection. Child protection takes time to build; there is no quick fix.

Discussion:

Main learning points have included that UN agencies need to look at partnerships with NGOs and with each other. UNHCR and UNICEF have been 'bolted together' by the protection cluster arrangements. They need to capitalize on and operationalize this relationship. A paradigm shift is seen among some agencies in protection, particularly in UNICEF. Perhaps, it is necessary to demystify the cluster approach – it's about doing things better. Assessments are useful to determine the impact on children. National agencies must be considered in places where the UN has no access, such as in Somalia. Perhaps with the right resources and capacity-building, Somali agencies could run their own clusters. Concerns about mainstreaming too much could dilute good expertise and programmes in child protection. It could also be argued that mainstreaming strengthens protection if, at the same time, good skills are retained by everyone, i.e. assessing water and sanitation, health and nutrition through a protection or child-protection lens. To avoid dilution, mainstreaming should be combined with targeted action.

Conclusion(s):

- The objective of the cluster approach is <u>not</u> coordination; it is about better and more reliable humanitarian aid.
- It is premature at this stage to draw any conclusions on whether the cluster approach is working well or not or if children are better protected.
- It is necessary to stay focused on the impact on children, which can be difficult for agencies when security situations are very difficult (e.g. Lebanon).
- There is a need to work towards joint, inter-cluster assessments (including child protection and SGBV), with findings to be analysed from an age, gender and diversity perspective, which will inform the cluster and the work done by the "sub-clusters".
- The discussion on child protection must be inclusive and involve global, field and local levels as well as other clusters.

Theme on ExCom Conclusions

20. They don't talk about rape!! Improving protection for refugee women and girls

Moderator: Eileen Pittaway, UNSW Australia and Asian Women's' Human Rights Council Speaker(s): Karuna Anbarasan, Community Development, Gender Equity and Children

Service, UNHCR

Linda Bartolomei, Centre for Refugee Research, UNSW Australia Dale Buscher, Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children

Lavinia Limon, U.S. Committee for Refugees and Immigrants

Objective(s):

The continuing rape, sexual abuse and exploitation of refugee women and girls is well documented. There are excellent UNHCR Guidelines in place to address the issue, but sometimes these are not adhered to. The panel explored the challenges of providing protection for refugee women and girls. These include lack of resources, camp conditions which deprive them of the right to earn income, lack of community involvement, and monitoring. A major problem is that of

political will, and negative and dismissive attitudes from many service providers. Workable solutions were proposed to address these problems and discussed with the participants from the floor. Strategies were tabled to ensure the implementation of measures included in the new Conclusion on Women at Risk.

Intervention(s)/Discussion:

There are a number of myths surrounding the issue which need to be addressed. It is said that women will not talk about rape and sexual abuse; that they lie about rape in order to receive resettlement and there is a widely held belief that rape and domestic violence are acceptable forms of cultural practice. These myths must be dispelled through staff training and by programmes which encourage better communication between service providers and refugee women. Refugee women and children are vulnerable to a large number of gender related risks which include the risk of trafficking, engagement in survival sex, early and forced marriage. Suggested strategies to prevent and respond include:

- The creation of safe spaces for women and girls who are survivors or as a prevention strategy for those who may be at immediate risk of SGBV.
- Women's centres which offer a range of services not only to survivors but to women in general.
- The end to impunity for perpetrators.
- The inclusion of refuge women and girls in the design and provision of services for women and girls at risk.
- Men and boys must also be involved in this response.
- Consider "fire walling" funding allocations for activities on prevention and response to SGBV so that funds are not negatively impacted by budget cuts.

Conclusion(s):

The NGO community and UNHCR must openly acknowledge that rape and sexual abuse is endemic in most refugee situations, and in consultation with refugees, both women and men, work cooperatively to identify risk factors and develop a range of appropriate protection measures which will include but not exclusively focus on resettlement.

The discussion acknowledged the key role that access to income and livelihood play in the protection of refugee women and recommends that women and girls are given access to income generating activities and freedom to travel.

The importance of community involvement was stressed and the need for closer and more effective partnerships between UNHCR, NGOs and refugee communities was mentioned by all presenters. The use of the term "survival sex" was welcomed as opposed to prostitution which further stigmatised people of concern.

While many of the actions mentioned at the round table are cost neutral, the need for strong advocacy was identified to encourage donor governments to provide UNHCR with adequate funding to implement the initiatives needed to address this important problem.

It was stated that now this issue is firmly on the agenda, it would be both unethical and irresponsible not to take action to address it.

Plenary Session

21. Asylum-Migration Nexus

Moderator: Elizabeth Ferris, World Council of Churches

Speaker(s): Erika Feller, Assistant High Commissioner for Protection, UNHCR

Mamadou Ndiaye, Office Africain pour le Développement et la Coopération

James Thomson, National Council of Churches in Australia

Objective(s):

Exploring asylum and migration from a protection perspective.

Intervention(s):

National Council of Churches in Australia

By convincing voters that Australia was being overrun by illegal immigrants (later branded as "queue jumpers") and linking terrorism with asylum, refugees, and not migrants, were the target of Australia's border protection campaign. The Australian government also positioned itself in the debate as trying to "maintain an orderly immigration system" (terminology now being used in Europe) and staked its reputation on the fact that Australia had always provided a generous overseas resettlement programme for refugees, despite the fact that its primary obligation under the 1951 Refugee Convention was to protect refugees arriving onshore. The campaign success rate was due to simple, orchestrated debates designed to polarize the electorate. 60% of Australians supported mandatory detention in fear of the "floodgates" being opened if opposed to it. Refugee advocates did not oppose short-term detention for the purpose of health, security and identity checks. They did oppose the arbitrary nature of the system – mandatory, indefinite and non-reviewable. The real question that should have been asked is whether Australians wanted a humane or inhumane system. This debate never happened.

Five years after the introduction of 'the Pacific Solution', as European states contemplate the expansion of similar options, lessons can be drawn and its 'success' evaluated. Winning voters' confidence was a success for the Australian government. However, it exported its detention system to its offshore processing centres in Nauru and Papua New Guinea where children were detained as a matter of first, and not last, resort. Recognised refugees remained in detention because they were not offered resettlement elsewhere and were not accepted by Australia. Three to four years later, Australia was compelled to resettle the majority of the detainees. This system bore a high cost on the detainee, whose mental health deteriorated, and on the Australian taxpayer. If the costs of surveillance and naval interception are included, the total amount equates to some 1 billion US dollars for 1,500 asylum-seekers.

OFADEC

Mamadou Ndiaye presented the laws passed in the European Union to restrict or block entry of refugees and/or asylum-seekers, including:

- 1980s: stigmatisation of asylum-seekers as "bogus"
- June 1990: Schengen Convention sanctions on carriers
- 1992: idea of "safe country of origin" emerges, allowing refoulement
- 1997: Amsterdam Treaty contested asylum rights at borders, and removed cases from civil society organizations
- June 2002: notion of "internal asylum"
- February 2003: UK proposal for "transit processing centres" for extra-territorial screening rejected under pressure by June 2003.

He then went on to present the consequences of these laws, such as the increased flow of migrants and asylum-seekers travelling in unsafe boats; bargaining with aid money against immigration; and the creation of unlawful detention camps in North Africa and the conditions for detainees, including torture, excessive use of force, degrading treatment and the asbence of due process and judicial review. UNHCR does not have access to these camps, which are in contravention to Article 31 of the 1951 Refugee Convention. In conclusion, he called on human rights and humanitarian NGOs and civil society to use international laws to combat these camps, and outlined a number of legal remedies, such as the Convention Against Torture and the Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers (which was ratified by Algeria, Lybia and Morocco). He also highlighted the necessity for the EU and other countries concered by this situation to have a frank discussion in search for solutions. Afterall, migration has always existed and will continue to exist to cover the labour needs around the world.

UNHCR

Erika Feller addressed the issue of mixed flows in the context of stepped up border control, irregular arrivals, human rights concerns and refugee protection. Making reference to the High-Level Dialogue on International Migration and Development held in September, she noted that development is more than economic growth; it is the full enjoyment of human rights. Ms Feller outlined a ten-point action plan to assist states with identifying those in need of protection in the context of mixed movement of people: including closer cooperation and coherence among all key partners (governments, IGOs, NGOs, civil society); data collection and analysis to understand the root causes in transit countries; protection sensitive entry management; reception arrangements; mechanisms for profiling the arrivals before they get into an asylum system and referral; differentiated processes and procedures; solutions for refugees; addressing secondary movements; return arrangements for non-refugees and alternative migration options; and information strategy.

She noted the importance of enlarging asylum space by addressing more effectively protection needs in the context of mixed flows and for further cooperation at all levels, and, concluding, called for true strategic partnerships with NGOs.

Discussion:

Highlights from the discussion were:

- Irregular migration is increasing; it is a global phenomenon.
- The focus on border management measures at the expense of ensuring access to rights leads to serious human rights concerns for all migrants, asylum-seekers and refugees.
- The flows are mixed, and include those in need of international protection, as well as people being trafficked.
- Governments are implementing border controls responses to these mixed flows rather than
 safeguarding refugee protection. Such practices include: increased use of detention as a
 deterrent, lack of access to asylum procedures, visa requirements, immigration control in
 countries of origin, carrier sanctions, offshore processing, interdiction or interception policies,
 and protection-insensitive readmission agreements. There is a need for protection-sensitive
 entry processes as well as for legal migration mechanisms.
- There is a political component in these policies: nourishing misperceptions, branding asylumseekers and irregular migrants as criminals and terrorists, politically motivated xenophobia and manipulation of these issues as a way to gain political power.
- The impact on protection is a deteriorating quality of asylum and problems of access to asylum-seekers.

Conclusion(s):

- The 1951 Convention must not be used as an instrument to keep out migrants who are needed but not welcomed in the industrialised world.
- Properly managed migration channels that can take the pressure of the institution of asylum are urgently needed.
- The humanitarian community must be vigilant in upholding the rights of all displaced persons, whether migrants, asylum –seekers or refugees. To this end, it is recommended that the migrant receiving countries ratify the Migrant Workers Convention and adopt a rights-based approach for managing migration.
- The Global Migration Group should work on linkages between agencies.
- Protection capacities of host countries in the developed world must be strengthened, as well as
 addressing the root causes of the increased migratory movements. Most migrants would prefer
 to stay in their own countries if they have peace, security, and livelihood opportunities and are
 able to enjoy their fundamental human rights.

Closing Address

22. António Guterres, UN High Commissioner for Refugees

Ed Schenkenberg introduced the High Commissioner and welcomed him to the Annual Consultations with NGOs.

Addressing the closing session, the High Commissioner said the dialogue between UNHCR and NGOs must be a dialogue between equals and that would be the basis which makes the partnership meaningful. He noted that UNHCR's mission now goes beyond its mandate, especially in light of its involvement with internal displacement and protection linked to complex migration flows. He also pointed to the erosion of the institution of asylum in many societies and highlighted the need for a strong coalition of right-minded people to fight against the general rejection of refugees. Further, there is a need for advocacy and concrete measures to ensure international law is upheld and not subverted by bilateral arrangements. He stressed that international law must come first.

Returning to UNHCR's mandate, he said there was a key area to address: statelessness, and how it embodies an enormous limitation on human rights. He also stressed the moral obligation to protect IDPs as they remain in their country and are not covered by UNHCR's mandate. On the migration/asylum nexus, he noted that UNHCR was not a migration agency but as there were more mixed flows, including migrants moving illegally, legitimate refugees, trafficked women, unaccompanied minors and various people needing protection, UNHCR must remain strongly involved in the migration debate. Capacity building in protection is key for countries of origin and transit and ensuring physical access to asylum procedures is a priority activity for UNHCR.

The High Commissioner called on the cooperation of partners in moving UNHCR's internal reform process forward. Over the last few years, figures show an increase in administrative costs over operational expenditures, which implies more and more in-sourcing of activities and less and less implementation through partners. Short-term measures will address the immediate problem; however, structural change is needed for a long-term solution. UNHCR must be more flexible in order to respond to changing needs, and its internal reform should lead to better collaboration and strategic partnerships.

NGOs asked questions on: UNHCR's role in Darfur and relation to the government; the responsibility to protect; detention; unaccompanied minors; the situation in Somalia; capacity building; integration; repatriation to South Sudan; the Special Rapporteur for Refugees; NGO input to the UNHCR reform; and the erosion of refugee rights, with particular emphasis on the possibility that members of UNHCR's ExCom not party to the 1951 Convention or its 1967 Protocol act as a deterrent to moving refugee issues forward.

The Opening Statement of the High Commissioner at the 57th Session of ExCom is annexed to this report.

Linkage to ExCom

23. Summary wrap-up on the proceeding of the 2006 Annual Consultations with NGOs

Moderator: Ann Blomberg, Permanent Mission of Sweden & Rapporteur for the ExCom

Bureau

Speaker(s): Christine Bloch, Jesuit Refugee Service and Rapporteur for the Annual

Consultations with NGOs

Ichiro Fujisaki, Ambassador, Permanent Mission of Japan and Chairman of

UNHCR's Executive Committee

Before leaving the room, the High Commissioner invited Ambassador Fujisaki to say a few words. The Ambassador spoke about his recent trips to Burundi (February 2006) and Uganda (September 2006). He was impressed with NGO activities as implementing, operational, strategic and planning partners and who often fill the gap that UN agencies leave. He was accompanied by the International Council of Voluntary Agencies (ICVA) on both trips.

With regard to ExCom, he highlighted two issues of focus:

- 1. UNHCR's involvement with IDP situations ExCom supports the cluster approach.
- 2. UNHCR reform ExCom supports that UNHCR should be more flexible, but it should not be at the expense of the morale of the staff.

The Ambassador thanked the NGOs for their valuable input to ExCom processes over the year and encouraged them to continue the good work.

Ann Blomberg thanked the Ambassador for his words. She also acknowledged the valuable perspective NGOs bring to UNHCR's governance. In this regard, NGO input to the drafting process of the ExCom Conclusions needs further refinement and should be addressed during the coming months. Similarly, the criteria applied for NGO participation in UNHCR's governing structure should be enlarged to include NGOs that are implementing and operational partners with UNHCR. She also drew attention to the side-event during the 57th session of ExCom, which would focus on the work of ExCom and its relation to the work of UNHCR. She then introduced Christine Bloch, the Rapporteur for the Annual Consultations with NGOs.

Christine Bloch summarised the proceedings of NGO consultations and presented the deliberations within the four broad themes: Durable Solutions; the UN Reform; ExCom Conclusions; and the Asylum-Migration Nexus.

On the theme of Durable Solutions, the outcome from the thematic sessions and the regional sessions in which the issue was discussed highlighted the need for a comprehensive approach to any refugee situation that involved a combination of voluntary repatriation, resettlement and local integration. For voluntary repatriation to be sustainable, the conditions for return must be satisfactory. More focus should be on peace building, early recovery, reconstruction, and on providing livelihood opportunities for returning populations. Resettlement opportunities could be pursued by increasing the number of resettlement countries holding selection missions and promote the willingness of emerging resettlement countries to resettle refugees. Local integration should be considered in multiple ways that include local settlement and self-reliance, especially when full integration involving naturalization and citizenship might not be possible.

On the UN Reform, discussion focused principally on the Cluster Approach to IDP situations. A strong NGO and UN partnership is a prerequisite for the success of cluster implementation. Although education is accepted as an integral component of emergency response, including as an important protection tool for children and adolescents, this is still not fully realized at the Field level and it remains an under-funded sector. The establishment of an education cluster was generally well accepted; however, questions remain as to its implementation and impact. Child protection must be operationalized within the cluster approach, such as through UNHCR's Age, Gender, and Diversity Mainstreaming tool.

The aim of the sessions on the theme of ExCom Conclusions was to explore how NGOs can take a pro-active role in ensuring that these conclusions are implemented. NGOs must take responsibility for making the conclusions operational and using them as advocacy tools with governments and UNHCR. Key to resolving statelessness issues is collaboration between governments, CBOs, NGOs, UNHCR and other UN agencies on programmes that prevent and reduce statelessness and identify and protect stateless persons. The session on the conclusion on women and girls at risk gave a grim account of the continuing rape, sexual abuse and exploitation of displaced women and girls who are vulnerable to a large number of gender related risks including trafficking, engagement in survival sex, and early and forced marriages. Suggested strategies to address these issues include applying the Age, Gender and Diversity Mainstreaming tool, the establishment of safe spaces for women and girls, and improved and shortened resettlement processes for those at risk. A separate session discussed how UNHCR and NGOs can better ensure a gender-sensitive approach to programming by deploying gender-sensitive staff to emergencies, training in gender-sensitive approaches, engaging in dialogue on gender issues with the community and religious leaders, and raising awareness among men of what constitutes ill-treatment of women and girls.

The Asylum-Migration Nexus remains a huge challenge for UNHCR and NGOs. The session on detention gave shocking accounts of the increase in the use of detention as a deterrent by many countries, and of the awful and inhumane conditions in many detention facilities around the Mediterranean. It is important for NGOs to work with UNHCR to lobby governments to ratify the Optional Protocol on the Convention Against Torture (OPCAT) as a mechanism to protect detainees and have refugee/migration law experts on the OPCAT sub-committee. NGOs are very concerned about the growing emphasis on border management control measures, which increased difficulties for persons in need of protection to access asylum procedures, to increased human rights violations against people on the move, and a misuse of the 1951 Convention as a migration tool, which it is not. It is necessary to strengthen protection capacities of host countries and address the root causes of migratory movements.

The full account of the Annual Consultations with NGOs delivered at the 57th Session of ExCom is annexed to this report.

Annexes

- I. Programme of the Annual Consultations with Non-Governmental Organizations
- II. List of Participants by Organization
- III. Agenda of Side Meetings at the Annual Consultations with NGOs
- IV. Welcoming Address by Judy Cheng-Hopkins, UN Assistant High Commissioner for Refugees (Operations)
- V. Opening Statement by António Guterres, UN High Commissioner for Refugees to the 57th Session of ExCom
- VI. Presentation of the Annual Consultations with NGOs by the NGO Rapporteur to the 57th Session of the Executive Committee
- VII. 57th Session of ExCom Statement of NGOs to the General Debate
- VIII. 57th Session of ExCom Statement of NGOs on International Protection
- IX. 57th Session of ExCom Statement of NGOs on Programme Budgets, Management, Financial Control and Administrative Oversight

ANNEX I

PROGRAMME OF THE

ANNUAL CONSULTATIONS WITH NON-GOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS

27 – 29 September 2005

Palais des Nations, Geneva, Switzerland

Wednesday, 27 September 2006

11h30 – 12h15 Plenary Session (interpretation English-French-Spanish)

Room XVII Welcome from

Nicholas Coussidis, Head, NGO Liaison Unit, UNHCR

Ed Schenkenberg, Coordinator, International Council of Voluntary Agencies

Nick Van Praag, Director, Division of External Relations, UNHCR

12h15 – 13h00 Plenary Session (interpretation English-French-Spanish)

Room XVII Opening Address

Judy Cheng-Hopkins, Assistant High Commissioner for Operations, UNHCR

13h00 - 15h00 Lunch

15h00 – 16h20 Regional Sessions

Room XXII Europe Bureau

(Interpretation: English-French-Russian-Spanish)

The regional session will discuss the Bureau's priorities and strategies in relation to Western and Central Europe and encourage an exchange of views and strategies in

relation to the North Caucasus, South Caucasus and the Balkans.

Moderator: Manisha Thomas, International Council of Voluntary Agencies Speaker(s): Pirkko Kourula, Director *joined by:*

Udo Janz, Deputy Director (Eastern Europe and the Balkans) Guy Ouellet, Deputy Director (Western and Central Europe)

Bo Schack, Head, Policy Unit

Room XXIII Africa Bureau

(Interpretation: Arabic-English-French-Russian-Spanish)

Discuss operational challenges and achievements with the Director of the Africa

Bureau.

Moderator: Ann Mary Olsen, Danish Refugee Council

Speaker(s): Marjon Kamara, Director joined by:

Golam Abbas, Head of Desk for East & Horn of Africa

Ursula Aboubacar, Head of Desk for Central Africa and the Great Lakes

Oluseyi Bajulaiye, Deputy Director (East & Horn of Africa and Southern Africa) Marie-Christine Bocoum, Deputy Director (West & Central Africa and the Great Lakes)

Mohamed Dualeh, Head of Desk, Southern Africa

Michel Gaudé, Head of Desk, West Africa

Betsy Greve, Head, Legal Unit

David Kapya, Coordinator for the Sudan/Chad Special Operations

Arun Sala-Ngarm, Head of Desk, Sudan Craig Sanders, Head of Desk, Chad and Darfur

Room XXIV Asia and the Pacific Bureau

(Interpretation: English-French-Spanish)

Discuss with the Director about working towards solutions to protracted refugee

situations in Asia.

Moderator: James Thomson, National Council of Churches in Australia Speaker(s): Janet Lim, Director joined by:

Daisy Dell, Deputy Director

16h30 - 18h00 **Regional Sessions**

Room XXIII Central Asia, South West Asia, North Africa & the Middle East Bureau

(Interpretation: Arabic-English-French-Russian-Spanish) A discussion with the Bureau Director on two distinct themes:

Migration-Asylum Nexus - UNHCR's 10 Point Plan of Action for the **CASWANAME** Region

2. Cluster approach in emergencies - lessons learned from the CASWANAME region looking at Pakistan and Lebanon.

Moderator: Tarek Badawy, Africa & Middle East Refugee Assistance

Manisha Thomas, International Council of Voluntary Agencies

Speaker(s): Ekber Menemencioglu, Director

> Salvatore Lombardo, Head of Desk, Central Asia & South West Asia Ruvendrini Menikdiwela, Head of Desk, North Africa & the Middle East

Radhouane Nouicer, Deputy Director

Room XXIV Americas Bureau

(Interpretation: English-French-Spanish)

Review of the implementation of the Mexico Plan of Action; update on the Colombia

Situation; and the impact of the financial crisis.

Elisabeth Rasmusson, Norwegian Refugee Council Moderator:

Philippe Lavanchy, Director Speaker(s):

Thursday, 28 September 2006

Round-table Sessions (Interpretation: English-French-Spanish) 10h00 - 11h20

Theme on UN Reform

Room XXIII Implementation of the new cluster approach in situations of internal displacement

With Uganda as an example, the session will focus on the implementation of the new cluster approach by UNHCR and its partners on the ground. The three IDP-related clusters UNHCR has assumed lead responsibility for - protection, camp coordination and management, and emergency shelter - will be at the centre of discussion. The session will look at initial experiences with, and lessons learned from, putting the cluster approach into practice at the field level, with particular attention to relations between

UNHCR and non-governmental partners on the ground.

Jens-Hagen Eschenbächer, Internal Displacement Monitoring Centre, Norwegian Moderator:

Speaker(s): Refugee Council

Cindy Burns, UNHCR Uganda

Musa Echweru, Minister of State for Relief and Disaster Preparedness, Uganda

Lucy Hovil, Refugee Law Project

Jamie McGoldrick, Office of the Coordinator for Humanitarian Affairs

Theme on the Asylum-Migration Nexus

Room XXIV Combating the use of detention as a deterrent: A case study from the Mediterranean

The session will look at how detention is used as a deterrent to stop refugee and migratory flows from sub-Sahara. It will look at the conditions under which people are being detained, as well as advocacy tools that can be used by NGOs to get people out of detention or improve the conditions under which they are detained. Finally the session will look at how NGOs can develop advocacy strategies to combat this increase of detention of refugees and migrants.

Moderator: Anna Gallagher, Coordinator of the International Detention Coalition Speaker(s): Anja Klug, Protection Operations & Legal Advice Section, UNHCR

Mamadou Ndiaye, Office Africain pour le Développement et la Coopération

Esther Schaufelberger, Association for the Prevention of Torture

11h30 - 13h00 Round-table Sessions (Interpretation: English-French-Spanish)

Theme on Durable Solutions

Room XXII Challenges of Return: Rights and sustainable solutions

This session will explore the challenges of return for refugees and IDPs, firstly from a human rights perspective and secondly, from the perspective of protracted situations in Asia. The panellists will draw attention to some fundamental issues that must be addressed in order to achieve sustainable return and discuss UNHCR's responses to

these issues.

Peter Prove, Lutheran World Federation Moderator:

Gregory Balke, Solutions and Operations Support Section, UNHCR Speaker(s):

> Hazel Lang, Austcare Robyn Lui, Austcare

Tulasi Sharma, Lutheran World Federation, Kenya

Theme on UN Reform

Mainstreaming education within humanitarian response Room XXIII

With education being accepted as one of the primary tools of protection, this panel will explore the importance of on-going and future coordination of emergency education interventions. Specifically, this panel will discuss the potential creation of an Education Cluster, with examples of de facto clusters in Uganda, DRC and Pakistan. Additionally, the panel will discuss on-going collaboration, such as the Inter-agency Network for Education in Emergencies and its development of Minimum Standards, as a means of strengthening educational quality and access and humanitarian accountability.

Carl Triplehorn, Save the Children US Moderator:

Eva Ahlen, Technical Support Services (Education), UNHCR Speaker(s):

Ellen Van Kalmthout, UNICEF

Wendy Wheaton, Christian Children's Fund

Theme on ExCom Conclusions

Room XXIV Prevention and reduction of statelessness and protection of stateless persons

Statelessness dramatically affects the enjoyment of a broad range of human rights by approximately 11 million persons worldwide. This session aims to explore how NGOs can work together with UNHCR, other UN agencies and States to address statelessness. The session will focus on issues such as birth registration, discrimination against women in passing on citizenship to their children and resolving the nationality status of large populations in protracted stateless situations. The session will also look at recent legal developments with regard to statelessness.

Mirna Adjami, Open Society Justice Initiative Moderator: Speaker(s): Vera den Otter, Jesuit Refugee Service Thailand Philippe Leclerc, Statelessness Unit, UNHCR

Jane Connors, Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights

13h00 - 15h00 Lunch

15h00 - 16h20 Round-table Sessions (Interpretation: English-French-Spanish)

Theme on Durable Solutions

Room XXII Integration: The forgotten 'solution'

This discussion will use the case of Uganda and the self-reliance strategy to illustrate some of the issues surrounding UNHCR's approaches to integration and self-reliance. The panel will discuss the discrepancies between assistance programming for long term refugees and prospects for 'development', including an analysis of structural and institutional constraints and interests that remain as obstacles to this approach. The

panel will discuss what it knows (and what evidence it has) about 'integrated' refugees' contributions to, and acceptance within, the host economy and society. In conclusion the panel will review the variety of economic support programmes and policies that could be considered in protracted situations.

Moderator: Barbara Harell-Bond, Africa & Middle-East Refugee Assistance Speaker(s): Jeff Crisp, Policy Development & Evaluation Service, UNHCR

Lucy Hovil, Refugee Law Project Karen Jacobsen, Tufts University

Tania Kaiser, School of Oriental and African Studies

Room XXIII "MSRP" - UNHCR's global implementation of the PeopleSoft software package

The session will provide an overview of the scope, status and plans for the MSRP and give an opportunity to share views on its utility as a tool to improve working practice between NGOs and UNHCR.

Speaker(s): Anthony Salmon, MSRP and Business Solutions, UNHCR

Alan Vernon, Organisational Development and Management Service, UNHCR

Theme on ExCom Conclusions

Room XXIV Collaboration in addressing gender issues

The session will discuss successful and appropriate cooperative efforts to joint gender programming in emergency responses. The panel will draw mainly on the cooperation in Chad, but also on the tsunami response in Aceh/Indonesia and others. The objective of this panel discussion is to share positive collaborative experiences and to stimulate future cooperation between the NGOs, the UNHCR and other UN agencies as suggested in the attached draft handbook on Addressing Gender Issues in Emergencies prepared by the IASC.

Moderator: Manisha Thomas, International Council of Voluntary Agencies

Speaker(s): Philippe Boguel, Secours Catholique et Développement Salvatore Lombardo, Head of Desk for Central Asia and South West Asia, UNHCR

Jutta Teigeler, Oxfam GB

16h30 – 18h00 Round-table Sessions (Interpretation: English-French-Spanish)

Theme on Durable Solutions

Room XXII What are the strategies for countries supportive of resettlement?

Debate how to develop specific national advocacy strategies, involving UNHCR and NGOs in countries supportive of resettlement activities, to maintain and increase current levels of resettlement. How do stakeholders need to advocate for formal national resettlement programmes? Identify existing measures being developed by UNHCR, regional organizations (i.e. EU) and individual governments with the objective of facilitating resettlement activities. Debate how States and NGOs from countries supportive of resettlement activities can make the most of such measures. Identify lessons learned in emerging resettlement countries and countries supportive of resettlement activities. Discuss ways of further facilitating regular sharing of information, expertise and best practises on resettlement between UNHCR, European and non-European NGOs. Discuss how these could represent a useful complement to the ATC process. Identify key aspects in capacity building of NGOs in countries supportive of resettlement activities. Discuss the extension of current UNHCR capacity building programmes on resettlement in favour of NGOs from countries supportive of resettlement activities.

Moderator: Ana Monica Farinha, Portuguese Refugee Council

João Vasconcelos, Portuguese Refugee Council

Speaker(s): Vincent Cochetel, Resettlement Service, UNHCR

Cándido Feliciano Da Ponte Neto, Caritas Arquidiocesana do Río de Janeiro Julia Fernandez Quintanilla, Asociacion Comision Catolica Española de Migración

Richard Parkins, Refugee Council USA

Theme on UN Reform

Room XXIII Children's protection and humanitarian reform

The panel will comment on the impact of the cluster model and other aspects of humanitarian reform on assistance and protection of children (regardless of their status refugees, IDPs, asylum seekers, returnees, etc). As 50% or more of the caseload in any emergency, how have children's risks and needs been assessed? Are the gaps regarding their access to humanitarian relief been addressed? How has the role of "cluster lead" and "the provider of last resort" worked in practice on the ground?

Moderator: Amelia Bookstein, Save the Children UK

Speaker(s): Luc Chauvin, UNICEF

Ron Pouwels, Community Development, Gender Equity & Children Service, UNHCR

Dan Rono, Save the Children USA

Theme on ExCom Conclusions

Room XXIV They don't talk about rape!! Improving protection for refugee women and girls

The continuing rape, sexual abuse and exploitation of refugee women and girls is well documented. There are excellent UNHCR Guidelines in place to address the issue, yet these are seldom implemented. This panel will explore the challenges of providing protection for refugee women and girls. These include lack of resources, camp conditions which deprive them of the right to earn income, lack of community involvement, and monitoring. A major problem is that of political will, and negative and dismissive attitudes from many service providers. Workable solutions will be proposed to address these problems and discussed with the participants from the floor. Strategies will be tabled to ensure the implementation of measures included in the new Conclusion on Women at Risk.

Moderator: Eileen Pittaway, UNSW Australia and Asian Women's' Human Rights Council

Speaker(s): Karuna Anbarasan, Community Development, Gender Equity & Children Service,

UNHCR

Linda Bartolomei, Centre for Refugee Research, UNSW Australia Dale Buscher, Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children

Lavinia Limon, U.S. Committee for Refugees and Immigrants

18h30 Reception – UNHCR Caféteria

Friday, 29 September 2006

10h00 – 11h20 Plenary Session (interpretation English-French-Spanish)

Room XVII Asylum-Migration Nexus

Exploring the asylum-migration nexus from a regional perspective

Moderator: Elizabeth Ferris, World Council of Churches

Speaker(s): Erika Feller, Assistant High Commissioner for Protection, UNHCR

Mamadou Ndiaye, Office Africain pour le Développement et la Coopération

James Thomson, National Council of Churches in Australia

11h30 – 12h00 Plenary Session (interpretation English-French-Spanish)

Room XVII Linkage to ExCom

Summary wrap-up on the proceedings of the 2006 Annual Consultations with NGOs $\,$

Moderator: Ann Blomberg, Permanent Mission of Sweden, Rapporteur for the ExCom Bureau

Rapporteur: Christine Bloch, Jesuit Refugee Service

ExCom Chair: Ichiro Fujisaki, Ambassador, Permanent Mission of Japan and Chairman of the

Executive Committee

12h00 – 13h00 Plenary Session (interpretation English-French-Spanish)

Room XVII Closing Address by

António Guterres, UN High Commissioner for Refugees

ANNEX II

List of Participants by Organization

Action by Churches Together International

Mr Michael HYDEN Program Officer - Africa Geneva, Switzerland mhy@act-intl.org act@act-intl.org www.act-intl.org

Adventist Development & Relief Agency

Mr Frank TEEUWEN

Chief Emergency Management Silver Spring, United States of America frank.teeuwen@adra.org webmaster@adra.org www.adra.org

Afghan NGOs Coordination Bureau

Mr Abdul Wali BABAKARKHIL

Director Finance Kabul, Afghanistan admin@ancb.org ancb@ancb.org www.ancb.org

Afghan NGOs Coordination Bureau

Mr Tariq Jawaid IQBAL NGO Coordinator Pakistan Peshawar, Pakistan ancb@pes.comsats.net.pk www.ancb.org

Afghan NGOs Coordination Bureau

Mr Amanullah NASRAT Director of HEWAD Kabul, Afghanistan ancb@ancb.org www.ancb.org

Africa and Middle East Refugee Assistance

Mr Michael KAGAN Training Officer Cairo, Egypt mikekagan@fastma

mikekagan@fastmail.fm info@amera-uk.org www.amera-uk.org

Africa and Middle East Refugee Assistance

Mr Tarek BADAWY Program Director Cairo, Egypt

tbadawy@amera-uk.org info@amera-uk.org www.amera-uk.org

Africa and Middle East Refugee Assistance

Ms Lucy HOVIL Doctor Cairo, Egypt lucy@hovil.co.uk info@amera-uk.org www.amera-uk.org

Africa and Middle East Refugee Assistance

Ms Karen JACOBSEN

Doctor

Cairo, Egypt

behbond@aucegypt.edu info@amera-uk.org www.amera-uk.org

Africa and Middle East Refugee Assistance

Ms Tania KAISER

Doctor Cairo, Egypt info@amera-uk.org www.amera-uk.org

Africa and Middle East Refugee Assistance

Ms Barbara Elaine HARELL-BOND

Doctor Cairo, Egypt info@amera-uk.org www.amera-uk.org

Africa and Middle East Refugee Assistance

Ms Amy SLOTEK Legal Advisor Cairo, Egypt amy@hyd.org.tr info@amera-uk.org www.amera-uk.org

Africa and Middle East Refugee Assistance

Mr Essam SHIHA Executive Director Cairo, Egypt info@amera-uk.org www.amera-uk.org

Africa Humanitarian Action

Ms Julie DABO

Head, External Relations Addis Abeba, Ethiopia aha@telecom.net.et www.africahumanitarian.org

Africa Humanitarian Action

Mr Chefeke Dessalegn BARTOLOMEOS

Trustee

Addis Abeba, Ethiopia aha@telecom.net.et www.africahumanitarian.org

Africa Humanitarian Action

Mr Gebreheywot DAWIT ZAWDE

President

Addis Abeba, Ethiopia aha@ethionet.et aha@telecom.net.et www.africahumanitarian.org

African Concern International

Mr Cecil KPENOU Director General Colombes, France ckpenou@hotmail.com ckpenou@hotmail.com

Africare

Ms Jeannine B. SCOTT Senior Vice President

Washington, United States of America

jbscott@africare.org africare@africare www.africare.org/

AirServ International

Ms Susan Elizabeth MACGREGOR VP Administration & Support Services Warrenton, United States of America asi@airserv.org www.airserv.org

AirServ International

Ms Stacy Saylor SANITRA Grants Coordinator

Warrenton, United States of America

asi@airserv.org www.airserv.org

All Africa Conference of Churches

Ms Espe Akakpo AKAKPO NYATEPE-COO

Executive Assistant Nairobi, Kenya secretariat@aacc-ceta.org

www.aacc-ceta.org

AMAR International Charitable Foundation, (Assisting Marsh Arabs and Refugees)

Mr Mohammad Tachi CHERAGHCHI BASHI ASTANEH

Senior Medical Advisor

Tehran, Iran

cheraghchibashi@yahoo.com

amaricf@yahoo.com

www.amarappeal.com/index.php

AMAR International Charitable Foundation, (Assisting Marsh Arabs and Refugees)

Mr Hassan SALMAN MANESH

Senior Manager Tehran, Iran amaricf@yahoo.com

www.amarappeal.com/index.php

Amnesty International

Mr Sherif ELSAYED-ALI Refugee Officer London, United Kingdom

selsayed@amnesty.org amnestysis@amnesty.org www.amnesty.org.uk/

Amnesty International

Mr Klaus Dik NIELSEN

Campaigner

London, United Kingdom knielsen@amnesty.org amnestysis@amnesty.org www.amnesty.org.uk/

Archevêché Chaldeen Catholique

Mr Gerald BIDAWID

Doctor

Istanbul, Turkey

gul_terzihan@yahoo.com

Archevêché Chaldeen Catholique

Mr Francois YAKAN

Responsable des Assyro-Chaldeans

Istanbul, Turkey

gul_terzihan@yahoo.com

Asian Women's Human Rights Council

Ms Haley MCEWAN Ancorw Member Forestville, Australia www.awhrc.org

Asian Women's Human Rights Council

Ms Catherine LOY Ancorw Member Forestville, Australia www.awhrc.org

Asian Women's Human Rights Council

Ms Sheila LANGAN Ancorw Member Forestville, Australia www.awhrc.org

Asian Women's Human Rights Council

Ms Michele Marie DOOLEY Ancorw Member

Forestville, Australia www.awhrc.org

Asian Women's Human Rights Council

Ms Fleur LANHAM Ancorw Member Forestville, Australia www.awhrc.org

Asian Women's Human Rights Council

Ms Tenneh KPAKA Ancorw Member Forestville, Australia www.awhrc.org

Asian Women's Human Rights Council

Ms Eileen PITTAWAY Council Member Forestville, Australia e.pittaway@unsw.edu.au www.awhrc.org

Asian Women's Human Rights Council

Ms Linda BARTOLOMEI Senior Research Associate Forestville, Australia www.awhrc.org

Asociacion Comision Catolica Espanola de Migración

Ms Julia FERNANDEZ QUINTANILLA

Director Madrid, Spain jfq@accem.es accem@accem.es www.accem.es

Asociacion Comision Catolica Espanola de Migración

Ms Maria Reyes CASTILLO

Lawyer, Responsible of European Affairs

Madrid, Spain madrid.rcf@accem.es accem@accem.es www.accem.es

Asociacion de Mujeres en Situacion de Desplazamiento Forzado yo Mujer

Ms Teresa DIAZ DE ORTIZ Bogotá, Colombia

Association des Femmes Juristes du Burundi

Ms Espérance NINAHAZE Membre du comité Excécutif Bujumbura, Burundi afjuristebu@yahoo.fr

Association for Scientific Research, Information and Educational Programmes

Mr Vladimir ASTAPENKA Head of the Governing Board Minsk, Belarus ava@bsu.by evolutio@evolutio.info www.evolutio.info/

Association for Solidarity with Asylum-Seekers and Migrants

Ms Fulya KIP BARNARD Chairwoman, Assistant Ankara, Turkey fulya@metu.edu.tr sgdd@sgdd.org.tr www.sgdd.org.tr

Association for the Prevention of Torture

Ms Esther SCHAUFELBERGER Senior Programme Officer Geneva, Switzerland apt@apt.ch www.apt.ch

Association Generatie Tanara (Unga Liv)

Ms Corina Adriana MILOSAVLEVICI

Financial Director Timisoara, Romania office@generatietanara.ro www.generatietanara.ro

Association Generatie Tanara (Unga Liv)

Mr Francisco - Petru CSIZMARIK Public Relation Timisoara, Romania office@generatietanara.ro www.generatietanara.ro

Association Generatie Tanara (Unga Liv)

President Timisoara, Romania office@generatietanara.ro www.generatietanara.ro

Ms Mariana PETERSEL

Association of Christian Resource Organizations Serving Sudan

Mr Anthony POGGO Executive Director Nairobi, Kenya apoggo@across-sudan.org acrossinfo@across-sudan.org www.across-sudan.org/

Association of Medical Doctors of Asia

Ms Mariko TSUCHIDA Liaison Officer in Geneva Okayama, Japan tcdmrk@yahoo.co.jp hqinfo@amda.or.jp www.amda.or.jp

Association of Medical Doctors of Asia

Mr Shunsuke SUZUKI Project Director, Indonesia Okayama, Japan suzuki@amda.or.jp hqinfo@amda.or.jp www.amda.or.jp

Association of World Citizens

Ms Genevieve JOURDAN Representative Geneva, Switzerland genejour@yahoo.co.uk genejour@hotmail.com www.worldcitizen.org

Association Points Cœur

Mr Clément IMBERT Représentant Genève, Switzerland contactonu@pointscoeur.org www.pointscoeur.org

Atlas Logistique

Mr Jean-Pierre DELOMIER Executive Director Lyon, France atlas@atlas-logistique.org www.atlas-logistique.org

Austcare

Ms Kathleen BERRY Protection and UN Liaison Officer Camperdown, Australia info@austcare.org.au www.austcare.org.au/

Austcare

Ms Robyn LUI Senior Research Fellow Camperdown, Australia r.lui@griffith.edu.au info@austcare.org.au www.austcare.org.au/

Austcare Ms Hazel LANG

Arc Senior Research Fellow Camperdown, Australia hazel.lang@arts.usyd.edu.au info@austcare.org.au www.austcare.org.au/

Austrare

Ms Rosa FIDALGO DA COSTA Representative- Geneva Camperdown, Australia info@austcare.org.au www.austcare.org.au/

Australian Council for International Development

Ms Kathleen BERRY Protection and UN Liaison Officer Canberra, Australia main@acfid.asn.au www.acfid.asn.au

Australian Council for International Development

Mr Paul POWER Chief Executive Officer Canberra, Australia main@acfid.asn.au www.acfid.asn.au

Australian National Committee on Refugee

Ms Rebecca ECKERT Member Kensington, Australia ancorw@ancorw.org www.ancorw.org/

Austrian Integration Fund / Osterreichischer **Integrations Fonds**

Ms Eleni-Alexandra KALOGEROPOULOS **Project Coordinator** Vienna, Austria

elena.kalogeropoulos@integrationsfonds.at mail@integrationsfonds.at

www.integrationsfonds.at

BADIL Resource Center for Palestinian Residency and Refugee Rights

Ms Karine MAC ALLISTER Legal Coordinator Bethlehem, Occupied Palestinian Territory legal@badil.org

info@badil.org www.badil.org

BADIL Resource Center for Palestinian Residency and Refugee Rights

Ms Zaha HASSAN Legal Consultant Canada Bethlehem, Occupied Palestinian Territory info@badil.org www.badil.org

Belarusian Movement of Medical Workers -Refugee Counselling Service

Mr Uladzimir KRAUCHANKA Project Manager Minsk, Belarus vdm_rcs@un.minsk.by

Buddhist Tzu-Chi Merit Society Malaysia

Mr Chee Wei TAN Chief Administration Executive Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia

cheewei tan@my.tzuchi.org www.tzuchimalacca.com

Buddhist Tzu-Chi Merit Society Malaysia

Mr Ming Ta LIU Chief Executive Officer Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia btzuchi@tzuchimalacca.com www.tzuchimalacca.com

Canadian Centre for Victims of Torture

Mr Ezatollah MOSSALLANEJAD Counsellor, Policy Analyst Toronto, Canada ezat@ccvt.org mabai@ccvt.org

www.ccvt.org

Canadian Council for Refugees

Ms Elizabeth MCWEENY President Montreal, Canada ccr@web.ca

www.web.ca/ccr/

Canadian Lutheran World Relief

Mr Fikre Mariam TSEHAI Refugee Program Director Burnaby, Canada clwr@axion.net www.clwr.ora

CARE Canada

Mr Patrick ROBITAILLE **Emergency Progam Officer** Ottawa, Canada patrickr@care.ca info@care.ca

www.care.ca **CARE Canada**

Mr Nicolas PALANQUE **Country Director** Ottawa, Canada nicolas@care.ca info@care.ca www.care.ca

CARE Canada

Ms Gail NEUDORF **Emergency Director** Ottawa, Canada gail@care.ca info@care.ca www.care.ca

CARE International Mr Denis CAILLAUX

Secretary General Geneva, Switzerland caillaux@careinternational.org titon.mitra@care-international.org www.care-international.org

CARE International

Mr Carsten VOELZ **Emergency Preparedness & Ops Coordinator** Geneva, Switzerland

voelz@careinternational.org titon.mitra@care-international.org www.care-international.org

CARE International

Mr Jonathan MITCHELL **Emergency Response Director** Geneva, Switzerland mitchell@careinternational.org titon.mitra@care-international.org www.care-international.org

CARE International

Ms Lorly ZIMMERMANN **Emergency Program Officer** Geneva, Switzerland zimmermann@careinternational.org titon.mitra@care-international.org

www.care-international.org

Caribbean Conference of Churches

Mr Samuel MASON

Coordinator

Port of Spain, Trinidad and Tobago

ccchq@tstt.net.tt

trinidad-headoffice@ccc-caribe.org

www.ccc-caribe.org

CARITAS Angola (ex Zaire)

Mr Andre Justino FUTI Diocesan Director Mbanza, Angola andjusfuti@yahoo.com.br caritas.angola@ebonet.net futiandre@yahoo.fr

CARITAS Arquidiocesana do Rio de Janeiro

Mr Candido Feliciano DA PONTE NETO

Director

Rio de Janeiro, Brazil mitra@domain.com.br caritas@caritasbrasileira.org www.caritasbrasileira.org

CARITAS Europa

Mr Peter VERHAEGHE Migration Officer Brussels, Belgium

pverhaeghe@caritas-europa.org

info@caritas-europa.org www.caritas-Europa.org

CARITAS Europa

Mr George JOSEPH

Head of Migration Department

Brussels, Belgium

pverhaeghe@caritas-europa.org

info@caritas-europa.org www.caritas-Europa.org

CARITAS Internationalis Switzerland

Ms Maddalena OCCHETTA

Representative Geneva, Switzerland

mocchetta@caritas-internationalis.com

www caritas ch

Catholic Relief Services / United States Conference of Catholic Bishops

Ms Suzanna TKALEC

Technical Advisor Protection, Kenya Baltimore, United States of America suzannatkalec@email.com webmaster@catholicrelief.org

www.catholicrelief.org

Catholic Relief Services / United States **Conference of Catholic Bishops**

Ms Daisy FRANCIS Protection Policy Advisor

Baltimore, United States of America

dfrancis@crs.org

webmaster@catholicrelief.org www.catholicrelief.org

Center for Migration Studies of New York (CMS)

Mr Antonio SALICE

Adviser

New York, United States of America

cms.ngo@hotmail.com www.cmsny.org

Centre for Newcomer Information

Mr Martin Mark ILL

Refugee Sponsorship Coordinator

Toronto, Canada

martinmark5@hotmail.com

Chaldean Federation of America

Mr Joseph KASSAB **Executive Director**

Farmington Hills, United States of America

ikassabict@aol.com

www.chaldeanfederation.org

Chaldean Federation of America

Mr Salem POLES

Director

Farmington Hills, United States of America

www.chaldeanfederation.org

Charity Center for Refugees

Mr Ahmad Djavid PAKNEHAD

Project Coordinator Chisinau, Moldova ccr@mdl.net ccr@mdl.net

Christian Children's Fund

Ms Wendy WHEATON

Child Protection & Emergencies Specialist Richmond, United States of America

wlwheaton@ccfusa.org

christian children's fund@ccfusa.org www.christianchildrensfund.org

Christian Children's Fund

Ms Mirellise VAZQUEZ Senior Policy Advisor

Richmond, United States of America

mmvazquez@ccfusa.org

christian children's fund@ccfusa.org www.christianchildrensfund.org

Church World Service

Mr Erol KEKIC **Associate Director**

New York, United States of America ekekic@churchworldservice.org info@churchworldservice.org www.churchworldservice.org

Comision Espanola de Ayuda al Refugiado

Ms Luisa Fernanda DIAZ MANSILLA

European Social Affairs Madrid, Spain

secgeneral@cear.es

www.cear.es

Comision Espanola de Ayuda al Refugiado

Mr Fernando HERRERA INARAJA

External Relations Madrid, Spain secgeneral@cear.es www.cear.es

Comite de Apoyo a Refugiados y Desplazados por la Violencia

Mr Jose Antonio EGAS LEDESMA

Director Ejecutivo Quito, Ecuador fnv@uio.satnet.net

Croatian Law Center

Ms Goranka LALIC Project Director Zagreb, Croatia hpc@hpc.hr www.hpc.hr

Danish Refugee Council

Mr Andreas Thingberg KAM

Secretary-General Copenhagen, Denmark andreas.kamm@drc.dk

drc@drc.dk www.drc.dk

Danish Refugee Council

Ms Ann Mary OLSEN

Deputy Head of Intl. Department

Copenhagen, Denmark annmary.olsen@drc.dk

drc@drc.dk www.drc.dk

Danish Refugee Council

Ms Anne LA COUR VAAGEN

Head of Asylum & Repatriation Department

Copenhagen, Denmark anne.lacour@drc.dk drc@drc.dk

www.drc.dk

Danish Refugee Council

Ms Gitte Busk GRONBECH

Coordinator

Copenhagen, Denmark

drc@drc.dk www.drc.dk

Developing Together

Mr Driton TAFALLARI

Director Pristina, Kosovo

developingtogether@hotmail.com

Dutch Council for Refugees

Mr Edwin HUIZING Deputy-Director

Amsterdam, Netherlands

ehuizing@dcfr.nl

info@vluchtelingenwerk.nl www.vluchtelingenwerk.nl

Dutch Council for Refugees

Ms IIse GRIEK

International Policy Officer Amsterdam, Netherlands

igriek@dcfr.nl

info@vluchtelingenwerk.nl www.vluchtelingenwerk.nl

European Council on Refugees and Exiles

Ms Patricia COELHO Policy Officer

London, United Kingdom pcoelho@ecre.org

ecre@ecre.org www.ecre.org

FilmAid International

Ms Elisabeth SILKES Executive Director

New York, United States of America esilkes@filmaidinternational.org info@filmaidinternational.org www.filmaidinternational.org

FilmAid International

Ms Natalia TAPIES Program Director Nairobi, Kenya

natalia@filmaidinternational.org filmaidea@iconnect.co.ke www.filmaidinternational.org

Finnish Red Cross

Ms Ann-Charlotte SIREN-BORREGO

Refugee Officer Helsinki, Finland

ann-charlotte.siren-borrego@redcross.fi

webmaster@redcross.fi www.redcross.fi

Finnish Refugee Council

Ms Minna SALONEN Information Officer Helsinki, Finland

minna.salonen@pakolaisapu.fi

finnref@finnref.org

www.pakolaisapu.fi/english/index_eng.html

Finnish Refugee Council

Ms Tarja Tuulikki SAARELA-KAONGA

Uganda Representative Helsinki, Finland frc@africaonline.co.ug finnref@finnref.org

www.pakolaisapu.fi/english/index_eng.html

Franciscans International

Ms Aileen CROWE Australian Representative Geneva, Switzerland geneve@fiop.org

www.franciscansinternational.org/

Friends World Committee for Consultations (QUAKERS)

Mr Oliver ROBERTSON Programme Assistant Geneva, Switzerland quno2@quno.ch www.geneva.quno.info

Friends World Committee for Consultations (QUAKERS)

Ms Rachel BRETT Representative Geneva, Switzerland rbrett@quno.ch quno2@quno.ch www.geneva.quno.info

Frontiers - Ruwad Association

Ms Samira TRAD Executive Director Beirut, Lebanon

frontierscenter@cyberia.net.lb frontierscenter@fastmail.fm www.frontiersassociation.org

Frontiers - Ruwad Association

Ms Bernadette HABIB Legal Counsellor Beirut, Lebanon

frontierscenter@fastmail.fm www.frontiersassociation.org

Fundacion de Ayuda Social de las Iglesias Cristianas

Mr Juan Claudio SALAZAR FERNANDEZ

Coordinator Regional Santiago, Chile migracion@fasic.org fundacion@fasic.org www.fasic.org

Fundación Ecuménica para el Desarrollo y la Paz

Ms Rosa Maria QUEDENA ZAMBRANO

Directora Ejecutiva

Lima, Peru

rquedena@terra.com.pe fedepaz@terra.com.pe www.fedepaz.org

Fundacion Esquel

Mr Richard SALAZAR MEDINA

Antrologo, Mtr Cooperacion al Desarrollo

Quito, Ecuador rsalazar@esquel.org.ec fundacion@esquel.org.ec www.esquel.org.ec

Geneva Centre for the Democratic Control of Armed Forces

Mr David NOSWORTHY Fellow, Special Programmes Geneva, Switzerland d.nosworthy@dcaf.ch www.dcaf.ch

Global Detention Project / Graduate Institute of International Studies

Mr Michael FLYNN Lead Researcher Geneva, Switzerland yammish@yahoo.com

Greek Council for Refugees

Ms Hari BRISSIMI Vice President Athens, Greece gcr1@gcr.gr www.gcr.gr

Greek Council for Refugees

Ms Iro-Georgia STEPHANOU
President of the Board of Directors
Athens, Greece
gcr1@gcr.gr
www.gcr.gr

GRUPA 484

Mr Vladimir PETRONIJEVIC Legal Analyst Belgrade, Serbia office@grupa484.org.yu www.grupa484.org.yu

Handicap International / Action Nord Sud

Mr Luciano LOIACONO

Chargé des relations institutionnelles

Lyon, France

relex@handicap-international.org contact@handicap-international.org www.handicap-international.org

Hawa Society for Women

Mr Fath Elrahman ELGADI

NGO Consultant Khartoum, Sudan Elgady99@yahoo.com

Heartland Alliance

Ms Mary Meg MCCARTHY

Director Human Needs & Human Rights Chicago, United States of America mmccarty@heartlandalliance.org moreinfo@heartlandalliance.org www.heartlandalliance.org

Hebrew Immigrant Aid Society

Mr Leonard TERLITSKY

Representative Former Soviet Rep. New York, United States of America

L.Terlitsky@hias.kiev.ua

info@hias.org www.hias.org

Hebrew Immigrant Aid Society

Mr Mark HETFIELD

Senior Vice President for Policy & Programs

New York, United States of America

mark.hetfield@hias.org

info@hias.org www.hias.org

Hebrew Immigrant Aid Society

Mr Enrique BURBINSKI Director Latin America Buenos Aires, Argentina enrique.burbinski@hiaslatam.org.ar www.hias.org

Human Rights First

Ms Eleanor ACER

Director, Refugee Program New York, United States of America acere@humanrightsfirst.org communications@humanrightsfirst.org

www.humanrightsfirst.org

Human Rights Watch

Ms Marguerite GARLING Senior Refugee Researcher Geneva, Switzerland garlinm@hrw.org hrwrpp@hrw.org www.hrw.org/contact.html - Geneva

Human Rights Watch

Mr Bill FRELICK Refugee Policy Director Washington, United States of America bill.frelick@hrw.org hrwdc@hrw.org www.hrw.org

Institute of Applied Humanitarian Research

Mr Mykhaylo BUROMENSKIY

President Kharkiv, Ukraine iahr@online.com.ua

InterAction - American Council for Voluntary International Action

Ms Veronika MARTIN

Snr Manager for Protection & Refugee Affairs Washington, United States of America

vmartin@interaction.org ia@interaction.org www.interaction.org

Interfaith International

Mr Tewelde-Medhin BERHANE Int'l Representative to UNOV

Geneva, Switzerland tewolde@bluewin.ch iic@interfaith-center.org www.interfaith-center.org/

International Aid Services

Mr Julius BITAMAZIRE BIGIRWA Policy Development Advisor

Vällingby, Sweden julius.bitamazire@ias.nu

info@ias.nu www.ias.nu/

International Association of Refugee law Judges

Mr James SIMEON Executive Director Haarlem, Netherlands jamescsimeon@hotmail.com

info@iarlj.nl www.iarlj.nl

International Catholic Migration Commission

Ms Sukhi PUREWAL Director of Finance Geneva, Switzerland secretariat.ch@icmc.net

www.icmc.net

International Catholic Migration Commission

Mr John BINGHAM Head of Advocacy Geneva, Switzerland bingham@icmc.net secretariat.ch@icmc.net

www.icmc.net

International Catholic Migration Commission

Ms Jane BLOOM ICMC Liason Washington Geneva, Switzerland janebloom@gmail.com secretariat.ch@icmc.net

www.icmc.net

International Catholic Migration Commission

Ms Petra HUECK Liaison Officer Geneva, Switzerland secretariat.ch@icmc.net

www.icmc.net

International Catholic Migration Commission

Mr Johan KETELERS Secretary-General Geneva, Switzerland ketelers@icmc.net secretariat.ch@icmc.net

www.icmc.net

International Catholic Migration Commission

Mr Peter HISLAIRE Director of Operations Geneva, Switzerland hislaire@icmc.net secretariat.ch@icmc.net

www.icmc.net

International Catholic Migration Commission

Mr Jared BLOCH

Coordinator, UNHCR-ICMC Geneva, Switzerland bloch@icmc.net secretariat.ch@icmc.net

www.icmc.net

International Catholic Migration Commission

Ms Vanessa ALEXANDER Operations Assistant Geneva, Switzerland secretariat.ch@icmc.net

www.icmc.net

International Catholic Migration Commission

Ms Emma VIAUD Head of Communications Geneva, Switzerland viaud@icmc.net secretariat.ch@icmc.net www.icmc.net

International Catholic Migration Commission

Ms Sasha ADLER Communications Assistant Geneva, Switzerland secretariat.ch@icmc.net

www.icmc.net

International Catholic Migration Commission

Mr Francis PARAKATIL Advisor to ICMC Geneva, Switzerland secretariat.ch@icmc.net

www.icmc.net

International Council of Jewish Women

Ms Rachel BABECOFF

Representative to the United Nations Geneva, Switzerland

rb@infomaniak.ch president@icjw.org www.icjw.org

International Council of Voluntary Agencies

Mr Ed SCHENKENBERG VAN MIEROP

Coordinator

Geneva, Switzerland ed.schenkenberg@icva.ch secretariat@icva.ch

www.icva.ch

International Council of Voluntary Agencies

Ms Radha IVORY

Intern

Geneva, Switzerland secretariat@icva.ch www.icva.ch

International Council of Voluntary Agencies

Ms Katharina SAMARA Project Coordinator Geneva, Switzerland secretariat@icva.ch www.icva.ch

International Council of Voluntary Agencies

Mr Myke LEAHY Information Officer Geneva, Switzerland information@icva.ch secretariat@icva.ch www.icva.ch

International Council of Voluntary Agencies

Ms Manisha THOMAS Policy Officer Geneva, Switzerland Manisha@icva.ch secretariat@icva.ch www.icva.ch

International Council on Jewish Social and Welfare Services

Mr Daniel LACK Representative Geneva, Switzerland danlack@bluewin.ch danlack@bluewin.ch

International Federation of Medical Students

Mr Ali AHMED President

Ferney-Voltaire, France president@ifmsa.org gs@ifmsa.org www.ifmsa.org

International Federation of Medical Students

Ms Yelena PETROSYAN

Director

Ferney-Voltaire, France

gs@ifmsa.org www.ifmsa.org

International Federation of Social Workers

Ms Helene MOURAVIEFF-APOSTOL

Main Representative Bern, Switzerland

mouravieff-apostol@econophone.ch

global@ifsw.org

www.ifsw.org/intro.html

International Federation of Social Workers

Mr Tobias Theodoor ROOSEN

Representative
Bern, Switzerland
geray.roosen@bluewin.ch
global@ifsw.org
www.ifsw.org/intro.html

International Federation Terre des Hommes

Ms Eylah KADJAR-HAMOUDA

Coordinator

Geneva, Switzerland coordinator@iftdh.org info@terredeshommes.org www.terredeshommes.org/

International Islamic Relief Organisation

Ms Fawzia AL ASHMAWI Representative in Geneva Jeddah, Saudi Arabia relief@iirosa.org www.iirosa.org

International Medical Corps

Ms Mary PACK

Vice President, Domestic & International Affairs Washington, United States of America mpack@imcworldwide.org imc@imcworldwide.org www.imc-la.org

International Organization for Peace, Care and Relief

Mr Khaled EL HAMEDI President of IOPCR Tripoli, Libyan Arab Jamahiriyria Ioprngo@yahoo.com www.iopcr.org

International Organization for Peace, Care and Relief

Mr Jamal AMER Secretary assistant Tripoli, Libyan Arab Jamahiriyria Ioprngo@yahoo.com www.iopcr.org

International Organization for Peace, Care and Relief

Mr Osama AL-SEDIK Member of IOPCR Tripoli, Libyan Arab Jamahiriyria Ioprngo@yahoo.com www.iopcr.org

International Rescue Committee

Ms Jacquelyn MIZE-BAKER
Director of Refugee Processing
New York, United States of America
jackie@theirc.org
irc@theirc.org
www.theirc.org

International Rescue Committee

Ms Margaret GREEN-RAUENHORST Snr Technical Advisor- Protection New York, United States of America margaret.green@theirc.org irc@theirc.org www.theirc.org

International Rescue Committee

Ms Jane WARBURTON
Director Children's Unit
New York, United States of America
jane.warburton@theirc.org
irc@theirc.org

www.theirc.org

International Rescue Committee

Mr Gerald MARTONE

Director of Humanitarian Affairs New York, United States of America gerald@theirc.org irc@theirc.org www.theirc.org

International Rescue Committee

Mr Gregory BROWN

Director

Geneva, Switzerland gregoryb@theirc.org irc@theIRC.org www.theirc.org

International Save the Children Alliance

Ms Martha AHMADPOUR-MILANI

Project Assistant Geneva, Switzerland martha@savethechildren.ch

www.savethechildren.net/alliance/index.html

International Save the Children Alliance

Ms Roberta CECCHETTI

Representative Geneva, Switzerland roberta@savethechildren.ch

www.savethechildren.net/alliance/index.html

International Service for Human Rights

Mr Philip GLENDENNING Geneva, Switzerland info@ishr-sidh.ch www.ishr.ch

International Service for Human Rights

Ms Catherine GAUTHIER Geneva, Switzerland info@ishr-sidh.ch www.ishr.ch

International Service for Human Rights

Ms Zeena ELTON Geneva, Switzerland info@ishr-sidh.ch www.ishr.ch

International Service for Human Rights

Mr Anthony Reginald MORRIS

Principal Trainer Geneva, Switzerland t.morris@ishr-sidh.ch info@ishr-sidh.ch www.ishr.ch

INTERSOS

Mr Feci DAMASO

Representative in Geneva

Roma, Italy

intersos@worldcom.ch intersos@intersos.org www.intersos.org

Iraqi Refugee Aid Council

Ms Anna-Magdalena Hedwig GHAEMMAGHAMI NADJAFI Assistant Director Tehran, Iran irac@dpimail.net

Islamic Relief

Ms Mersiha GRABUS Project Coordinator Geneva, Switzerland mersiha@islamic-relief.ch info@islamic-relief.ch www.islamic-relief.ch

Islamic Relief

Ms Tamara HARDEGGER Project Assistant Geneva, Switzerland info@islamic-relief.ch www.islamic-relief.ch

Islamic Relief

Mr Jamal KRAFESS

Director

Geneva, Switzerland jkrafess@islamic-relief.ch info@islamic-relief.ch www.islamic-relief.ch

Islamic Relief Agency

Mr Al Saeed OSMAN
Director General
Karthoum, Sudan
alwakalla006@yahoo.co.uk
israagn@sudanmail.net

Japan Association for Refugees

Mr Hiroaki ISHII Senior Researcher Tokyo, Japan kaigai@refugee.or.jp info@refugee.or.jp www.refugee.or.jp

Jesuit Refugee Service

Ms Mitzi SCHROEDER Director for Policy Washington, United States of America mschroeder@jesuit.org jrsusa@jesuit.org www.jrsusa.org

Jesuit Refugee Service

Ms Anna Marie GALLAGHER

Consultant Roma, Italy anna@comunicacionglobal.com international@jrs.net www.jesref.org

Jesuit Refugee Service

Ms Melanie TEFF Int'l Advocacy Coordinator Roma, Italy melanie.teff@jrs.net international@jrs.net www.jesref.org

Jesuit Refugee Service

Mr Andrew Anthony GALEA DEBONO Int'l Advocacy Coordinator Roma, Italy andrew.gd2000@gmail.com international@jrs.net www.jesref.org

Jesuit Refugee Service

Mr Jerome PHELPS Representative

London, United Kingdom jerome@ldsg.org.uk www.jesuit.org.uk

Jesuit Refugee Service

Ms Vera DEN OTTER

Information & Advocacy Officer

Bangkok, Thailand vera@jrs.or.th asia.pacific@jesref.org www.jrs.net

Jesuit Refugee Service

Mr Nicolas CLEMESAC

Advocacy Officer (Great Lakes)

Roma, Italy international@jrs.net www.jesref.org

Jesuit Refugee Service

Ms Anne-Christine BLOCH Geneva Representative Geneva, Switzerland christine.bloch@jrs.net www.jesref.org

Jesuit Refugee Service

Mr James STAPLETON

Int'l Communications Coordinator

Roma, Italy

james.stapleton@jrs.net international@jrs.net www.jesref.org

Justice and Peace Commission

Mr J. Augustine TOE National Director Monrovia, Liberia jnmahtoe49@yahoo.com justiceandpeacecommission@yahoo.com

Justice and Control of the Control o

Law Center of University Advocates

Ms Irina BOBEICU Project Coordinator Chisinau, Moldova law-center@tmg.md

Lawyers for Human Rights

Mr Jacob VAN GARDEREN

Advisor

Pretoria, South Africa jacob@lhr.org.za lhr@lhr.org.za www.lhr.org.za

Legal Clinic Adilet

Ms Cholpon DJAKUPOVA

Director

Bishkek, Kyrgyzstan legal@elcat.kg www.adilet.kg

LIFE for Relief & Development

Ms Vicki ROBB

International Programs Director Southfield, United States of America

vrobb@lifeusa.org life@lifeusa.org www.lifeusa.org

Lutheran Immigration and Refugee Service

Mr Ralston Henry DEFFENBAUGH

President

Baltimore, United States of America

rdeffenbaugh@lirs.org

lirs@lirs.org www.lirs.org

Lutheran World Federation

Mr Rudelmar BUENO DE FARIA Coordination & Policy Development

Geneva, Switzerland rbf@lutheranworld.org info@lutheranworld.org www.lutheranworld.org

Lutheran World Federation

Ms Esther BARES Assistant Prog Coordinator Geneva, Switzerland eba@lutheranworld.org info@lutheranworld.org www.lutheranworld.org

Lutheran World Federation

Ms Maria IMMONEN Program Officer Geneva, Switzerland mim@lutheranworld.org info@lutheranworld.org www.lutheranworld.org

Lutheran World Federation

Mr Tulasi SHARMA Camp Leader, Kakuma Geneva, Switzerland tulasi-kak@lwfkenya.org info@lutheranworld.org www.lutheranworld.org

Lutheran World Federation

Mr Peter PROVE

Assistant to the General Secretary

Geneva, Switzerland pnp@lutheranworld.org info@lutheranworld.org www.lutheranworld.org

Marangopoulos Foundation for Human Rights

Mr Tom GANIATSOS Permanent Representative 1216 Geneva, Switzerland info@mfhr.gr www.mfhr.gr

Médecins Sans Frontières International

Mr Emmanuel TRONC
Policy & Advocacy Coordinator
Geneva, Switzerland
Emmanuel.tronc@geneva.msf.org
office-gva@geneva.msf.org
www.msf.org

Menedék - Hungarian Association for Migrants

Ms Renata CZINKOTAI Head of Training Budapest, Hungary menedek@menedek.hu www.menedek.hu

Menedék - Hungarian Association for Migrants

Mr Andras KOVACS

Director

Budapest, Hungary menedek@menedek.hu www.menedek.hu

Mercy Corps Scotland

Mr Fernando SOARES Director of Programmes Edinburgh, United Kingdom fsoares@uk.mercycorps.org www.mercycorps.org.uk

Mercy Hands for Humanitarian Aid

Mr Hamad AL-SAWAIHEY

Refugees & Returnees Coordinator

Baghdad, Iraq

generalcomanager@mercyhands.net

www.mercyhands.net/en/

Mercy Hands for Humanitarian Aid

Mr Wisam AL-SHIBEEB

Returnee Monitoring Program Manager

Baghdad, Iraq

generalcomanager@mercyhands.net

www.mercyhands.net/en/

Middle East Council of Churches

Ms Seta MARGOSSIAN

Director

Beirut, Lebanon meccls@cyberia.net.lb www.mec-churches.org

Mission Armenia

Mr Hripsime KIRAKOSYAN

President

Yerevan, Armenia ripsik@arminco.com www.mission.am/

Mouvement contre le Racisme et pour l'Amitié entre les Peuples

Mr Gianfranco FATTORINI Representant Permanent Geneva, Switzerland fgf.perso@swissinfo.org www.mrap.asso.fr/

National Association of Community Legal Centres

Ms Renée LE CUSSAN

Member

Sydney, Australia naclc@fcl.fl.asn.au www.naclc.org.au

National Association of Community Legal Centres

Ms Julia Lilian ROY

Member

Sydney, Australia naclc@fcl.fl.asn.au www.naclc.org.au

National Association of Community Legal

Centres

Ms Louise STACK

Member

Sydney, Australia naclc@fcl.fl.asn.au www.naclc.org.au

National Council of Churches in Australia

Mr James THOMSON Advocacy & Education Officer Sydney, Australia jthomson@ncca.org.au

gensec@ncca.org.au www.ncca.org.au/

Norwegian Refugee Council

Mr Rolf VESTVIK

Director of Communications Dept.

Oslo, Norway rolf.vestvik@nrc.no nrc@nrc.no www.nrc.no

Norwegian Refugee Council

Ms Nadine WALICKI Country Analyst Geneva, Switzerland nadine.walicki@nrc.ch idpsurvey@nrc.ch www.idpproject.org

Norwegian Refugee Council

Mr Tomas Colin ARCHER
Secretary-General
Oslo, Norway
tomas.colin.archer@nrc.no
nrc@nrc.no

Norwegian Refugee Council

Mr Jens-Hagen ESCHENBACHER Head of Monitoring & Advocacy Dpt. Geneva, Switzerland jens.eschenbaecher@nrc.ch

idpsurvey@nrc.ch www.idpproject.org

Norwegian Refugee Council

Ms Mi CHRISTIANSEN

Legal Adviser Oslo, Norway

www.nrc.no

mi.christiansen@nrc.no

nrc@nrc.no www.nrc.no

Norwegian Refugee Council

Ms Elisabeth RASMUSSON Resident Representative Geneva, Switzerland elisabeth.rasmusson@nrc.ch idpsurvey@nrc.ch www.idpproject.org

Office Africain pour le Développement et la Coopération

Mr Mamadou NDIAYE

Director

Dakar, Senegal mndiaye@ofadec.org

mndiaye@ofadec.org www.ofadec.multimania.com

Open Society Institute

Ms Julia HARRINGTON Senior Legal Officer

New York, United States of America jharrington@justiceinitiative.org refugee@sorosny.org www.soros.org/migrate

Open Society Institute

Ms Mirna ADJAMI Legal Officer

New York, United States of America madjami@justiceinitiative.org refugee@sorosny.org www.soros.org/migrate

Organisation de la Charité pour un Développement Intégral / CARITAS Togo

Mr Gustave Proper Kokou Gbondjide SANVEE Secrétaire Général Lome, Togo ocdi-hcr@ids.tg

Organisation de la Charité pour un Développement Intégral / CARITAS Togo

Mr Kossi Apelete SOKPAH Gestionnaire-Comptable Lome, Togo archlocdi@ids.tg ocdi-hcr@ids.tg

Organizace na pomoc uprchlikum

Mr Martin ROZUMEK Executive Director Prague, Czech Republic martin.rozumek@opu.cz opu@opu.cz

www.opu.cz

OXFAM GB

Ms Suzi FAYE

Humanitarian Funding Manager Oxford, United Kingdom sfaye@oxfam.org.uk nroseveare@oxfam.org.uk www.oxfam.org.uk

OXFAM GB

Ms Jutta Gabriele Maria TEIGELER Gender and Representation Advisor Oxford, United Kingdom jteigeler@oxfam.org.uk nroseveare@oxfam.org.uk www.oxfam.org.uk

OXFAM GB

Ms Suzi RIDLEY

Humanitarian Funding Coordinator Oxford, United Kingdom sridley@oxfam.org.uk nroseveare@oxfam.org.uk www.oxfam.org.uk

Oxfam International

Mr Mark PRASOPA-PLAIZIER

Conflict & Humanitarian Policy Advisor

Geneva, Switzerland

mark.prasopa-plaizier@oxfaminternational.org advocacy@oxfaminternational.org

www.oxfam.org

Oxfam Novib

Mr Jeff HANDMAKER

Consultant

The Hague, Netherlands handmaker@reahamba.nl

info@novib.nl www.novib.nl

Portuguese Refugee Council

Mr Joao VASCONCELOS

Legal Officer Lisbon, Portugal

joao.vasconcelos@cpr.pt

geral@cpr.pt www.cpr.pt/

www.cpr.pt/

Portuguese Refugee Council

Ms Maria Teresa TITO DE MORAIS MENDES

President Lisbon, Portugal teresa.mendes@cpr.pt geral@cpr.pt

Portuguese Refugee Council

Ms Ana Monica FARINHA Legal Coordinator Lisbon, Portugal monica.farinha@cpr.pt geral@cpr.pt www.cpr.pt/

Presbyterian Disaster Assistance

Ms Kathleen ANGI Psychosocial Specialist Louisville, United States of America angikathy@yahoo.com sryan@ctr.pcusa.org www.pcusa.org/pda

Qatar Charitable Society

Mr Abd Rabbi BEN SAHRA Expert Planning Doha, Qatar qcharity@qcharity.org www.qcharity.org

Refugee Assistance Headquarters

Ms Yukari OYAMA Refugee Advisor Tokyo, Japan kikaku2@rhq.gr.jp komura-m@rhq.gr.jp www.rhq.gr.jp

Refugee Consortium of Kenya

Ms Judy WAKAHIU Executive Director Lavington, Kenya adrefcon@iconnect.co.ke refcon@iconnect.co.ke www.rckkenya.org

Refugee Consortium of Kenya

Mr Mbogholi MSAGHA

Patron

Lavington, Kenya refcon@iconnect.co.ke www.rckkenya.org

Refugee Council of Australia

Mr Paul POWER Chief Executive Officer Sydney, Australia info@refugeecouncil.org.au www.refugeecouncil.org.au

Refugee Council of Australia

Mr John GIBSON President Sydney, Australia ceo@refugeecouncil.org.au info@refugeecouncil.org.au www.refugeecouncil.org.au

Refugee Council USA

Ms Elizabeth CAMPBELL

Coordinator

Washington, United States of America

ecampbell@rcusa.org

council@refugeecouncilusa.org www.refugeecouncilusa.org

Refugee Council USA

Mr Richard PARKINS

Chair

Washington, United States of America rparkins@episcopalchurch.org council@refugeecouncilusa.org www.refugeecouncilusa.org

Refugee Education Trust

Ms Zeynep GUNDUZ Managing Director Geneva, Switzerland gunduz@theret.org info@theret.org www.theret.org

Refugee Education Trust

Mr Remi MANNAERT

Resource Mobilization Manager

Geneva, Switzerland mannaert@theret.org info@theret.org www.theret.org

Refugee Studies Centre

Ms Sarah MEYER Oxford, United Kingdom sarah.r.meyer@gmail.com rsc@qeh.ox.ac.uk

.www.rsc.ox.ac.uk/index.html?about_us

Refugees International

Ms Maureen LYNCH Director of Research

Washington, United States of America

maureen@refintl.org

ri@refintl.org

www.refugeesinternational.org

Rehabilitation and Development Organization

Mr Yiberta TADESSE KOSTER

Executive Director Addis Ababa, Ethiopia rado@ethionet.et

Rissho Kosei-Kai

Mr Yasumoto SAWAHATA

Representative Geneva, Switzerland rkkgva@bluemail.ch rkkgva@bluemail.ch www.rk-world.org

ROKADA Charitable Foundation

Ms Dina HUD Executive Director Kyiv, Ukraine d.good@rokada.org.ua office@rokada.org.ua www.refugee.net.ua

Salvation Army

Mr Cedric HILLS

International Services Coordinator London, United Kingdom Ihq-emergency@salvationarmy.org

www.salvationarmy.org

Save the Children

Mr Rudolph VON BERNUTH

Vice President Children in Emergencies Westport, United States of America rvonbern@savechildren.org partners@savechildren.org www.savethechildren.org

Save the Children

Mr Carl TRIPLEHORN

Emergency Education Advisor
Westport, United States of America
ctriplehorn@dc.savechildren.org
partners@savechildren.org
www.savethechildren.org

Save the Children

Mr Dan RONO Protection Specialist Nairobi, Kenya

drono@dc.savechildren.org www.savethechildren.org

Save the Children

Ms Amelia BOOKSTEIN
Head of Humanitarian Policy
London, United Kingdom
a.bookstein@savethechildren.org.uk
www.savethechildren.org.uk

Save the Children / Salvati Copiii

Mr Vasile BATCU President Chisinau, Moldova refugee@molddata.md

Save the Children Norway / Redd Barna

Mr Ashild Andrea BREKKE Programme officer Oslo, Norway ashild.brekke@reddbarna.no pro@reddbarna.no www.reddbarna.no

www.scm.ngo.moldnet.md

Save the Children Sweden / Radda Barnen

Ms Mari MORTH **Program Coordinator** Stockholm, Sweden mari.morth@rb.se info@rb.se www.rb.se

Scottish Refugee Council

Ms Adrienne Sally STEVENSON

Chief Executive

Glasgow, United Kingdom

kirsty.davidson@scottishrefugeecouncil.org.uk www.scottishrefugeecouncil.org.uk

Secours Catholique et Développement / **Caritas Chad**

Mr Philippe BOGUEL Coordinateur des Projets N'Djamena, Chad secadev@intnet.td

Sin Fronteras I. A. P.

Ms Fabienne VENET

Director

Mexico, Mexico

fvemet@sinfronteras.org.mx www.sinfronteras.org.mx

Small Arms Survey

Mr Keith KRAUSE Directeur de Progamme Geneva, Switzerland krause@hei.unige.ch smallarm@hei.unige.ch www.smallarmssurvey.org

Small Arms Survey

Mr Robert MUGGAH **Project Coordinator** Geneva, Switzerland muggah@hei.unige.ch smallarm@hei.unige.ch www.smallarmssurvey.org

Society for Humanitarian Solidarity

Mr Nasser Salim Ali AL-HAMAIRY

Head of SHS

Aden, Yemen, Republic of nasser999sa2000@yahoo.com

Society of Citizens Assisting Emigrants

Mr Cristian POPESCU Chairman

Brno, Czech Republic sozes@mbox.vol.cz www.soze.hyperlink.cz

Soka Gakkai International

Ms Michele LAMB

Intern

Geneva, Switzerland sgiungv@bluewin.ch www.sgi.org

Soka Gakkai International

Mr Kazunari FUJII Representative to the UN Geneva, Switzerland kazunari@geneva-link.ch sgiungv@bluewin.ch

www.sgi.org

Soroptimist International

Ms Inger NORDBACK

Rep to the UN in Geneva, Switzerland

i.s.nordback@bluewin.ch i.s.nordback@bluewin.ch www.soroptimisteurope.org/

Southeast Asia Resource Action Center

Ms Berta ROMERO **Board Member**

Washington, United States of America

searac@searac.org www.searac.org

St. Petersburg Centre for International Cooperation of the Red Cross

Ms Tatiana LINEVA Chairperson of the Board St. Petersburg, Russian Federation tatjana.lineva@spbredcross.org

info@spbredcross.org www.spbredcross.org

Swedish Red Cross

Ms Eva ULFVEBRAND Senior Policy Adviser Stockholm, Sweden eva.ulfvebrand@redcross.se postmaster@redcross.se www.redcross.se

Syrian Arab Red Crescent

Ms Mouna KURDI

Manager

Damascus, Syrian Arab Republic

src-hcr@scs-net.org

www.ifrc.org/address/sy.asp

Technical Assistance Inc.

Mr Abu SAYEED Dhaka, Bangladesh asayeed@msh.org

Thailand Burma Border Consortium

Mr John DUNFORD **Executive Director** Bangkok, Thailand jack@tbbc.org tbbcbkk@tbbc.org

United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF)

Ms Ellen VAN KALMTHOUT Snr Project Officer Education New York, United States of America ekalmthout@unicef.org www.unicef.org

United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF)

Mr Luc CHAUVIN Chef, Unite Inter-Agence Geneva, Switzerland Ichauvin@unicef.org www.unicef.org/

United Nations Office at Geneva

Mr Ricardo ESPINOSA Liaison Officer, Non-Governmental Organizations Geneva, Switzerland respinosa@unog.ch

United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs

Ms Eva VOLGNILD

Information Manager ReliefWeb

Geneva, Switzerland vognild@un.org www.reliefweb.int

United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs

Ms Anna Maria MANDORFF Intern ReliefWeb

Geneva, Switzerland mandorf@un.org www.reliefweb.int

United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs

Mr Adrian CIANCIO Managing Editor ReliefWeb Geneva, Switzerland ciancio@un.org www.reliefweb.int

US Committee for Refugees and Immigrants

Ms Lavinia LIMON President & CEO

Washington, United States of America

Ilimon@uscridc.org uscri@uscridc.org www.refugees.org

US Committee for Refugees and Immigrants

Mr Gregory CHEN

Director, Policy Analysis & Research Washington, United States of America gchen@uscridc.org uscri@uscridc.org

www.refugees.org

Vicaria de Pastoral Social

Mr Eduardo ROJAS Executive Secretary Santiago, Chile erojas@iglesia.cl vicaria@vicaria.cl www.vicaria.cl

Webster University

Ms Muneera AL-KHALIFA

Student

Geneva, Switzerland muneerakhalifa@gmail.com webmaster@webster.ch www.webster.ch

Webster University

Ms Amina WALI

Student

Geneva, Switzerland meenawali@yahoo.com webmaster@webster.ch www.webster.ch

Webster University

Ms Christine CAMPEAU

Student

Geneva, Switzerland

christinecampeau@yahoo.com

webmaster@webster.ch www.webster.ch

Webster University

Ms Janine KISCHEL

Student

Geneva, Switzerland jmkischel@mac.com webmaster@webster.ch www.webster.ch

Webster University

Mr Passant AL-ATTAR

Student

Geneva, Switzerland elattarpassant@yahoo.ca webmaster@webster.ch www.webster.ch

Webster University

Ms Noora AL-KHALIFA

Student

Geneva, Switzerland noorahmad.e@gmail.com webmaster@webster.ch www.webster.ch

Webster University

Mr Otto HIERONYMI

Head, International Relations

Geneva, Switzerland hieronymi@webster.ch webmaster@webster.ch www.webster.ch

Webster University

Mr Georg GROSSE

Student

Geneva, Switzerland georggrosse00@webster.edu webmaster@webster.ch www.webster.ch

Windle Trust Kenya

Mr Terah Marangu NJOGU

Executive Director Nairobi, Kenya marangu@windle.org windle@windle.org www.windle.org.uk/

Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children

Ms Anne-Christine BLOCH Geneva Liaison Consultant Geneva, Switzerland

anne-christineb@womenscommission.org

www.womenscommission.org

Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children

Mr Dale BUSCHER

Director, Protection and Participation Program New York, United States of America daleb@womenscommission.org info@womenscommission.org www.womenscommission.org

Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children

Ms Joan TIMONEY
Director of Advocacy & External Relations
New York, United States of America
joant@womenscommission.org
info@womenscommission.org
www.womenscommission.org

Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children

Ms Erin PATRICK

Consultant, Reproductive Health New York, United States of America erinp@womenscommission.org info@womenscommission.org www.womenscommission.org

World Council of Churches

Ms Sydia NDUNA

Consultant for Uprooted People in Africa Geneva, Switzerland snd@wcc-coe.org egf@wcc-coe.org www.wcc-coe.org

World Council of Churches

Mr Lesley G. CAPUS Geneva, Switzerland lesleycapus@yahoo.com egf@wcc-coe.org www.wcc-coe.org

World Council of Churches

Ms Elizabeth GREY FERRIS Coordinator Geneva, Switzerland egf@wcc-coe.org www.wcc-coe.org

World Union of Catholic Women's Organization

Ms Ursula BARTER-HEMMERICH Representative in Geneva Paris, France ursula.barter@bluewin.ch wucwoparis@wanadoo.fr www.umofc.org

World Vision International

Mr Kazushito TAKASE Director, International Programs Tokyo, Japan ktakase@worldvision.or.jp info@worldvision.or.jp www.worldvision.or.jp

World Vision International

Mr Kalebo ZAKAYO Refugee Programs Manager Kigoma, Tanzania zkalebo@yahoo.com wilson_luta@wvi.org www.wvi.org

World Vision International

Ms Lauren Anita WOODS Staff Assistant Geneva, Switzerland laurenanitawoods@gmail.com www.wvi.org

World Vision International

Mr Wesley CHARLES HAITI National Representative Port au Prince, Haiti wesley_charles@wvi.org

World Vision International

Mr Thomas GETMAN
Director, Humanitarian Affairs and Intl. Relations
Geneva, Switzerland
thomas_getman@wvi.org
www.wvi.org

World Vision International

Ms Kate ROMER Snr Program Coordinator Melbourne, Australia kate.romer@worldvision.com.au www.worldvision.com.au/

ANNEX III

Agenda of Side Meetings at the Annual Consultations with Non-Governmental Organizations

Wednesday, 27 September 2006

13h30 - 15h00 Room XXIII

Implementation of the Best Interest Determination Guidelines

Ron Pouwels, Community Development, Gender Equity & Children Service, UNHCR
Adriano Silvestri, Solution and Operations Support Section, UNHCR
Jane Warburton, Child and Youth Protection Development Unit, International Rescue Committee

In May 2006 UNHCR published a provisional release of the UNHCR Guidelines on Formal Determination of the Best Interests of the Child. Over the last months Field Offices has started to implement the Guidelines, often in close co-operation with NGOs and competent national authorities. The purpose of the meeting is to discuss the initial feedback received from the Field on the implementation of the guidelines, including the main challenges so far identified.

13h30 - 15h00 Room XXIV

Getting Fuel on the Map: Promoting a coordinated strategy for addressing fuel needs in conflict-affected settings

Erin Patrick, Women's Commission for Refugee Women & Children

The risks to displaced women and girls – including rape, assault, abduction, exploitation and murder – associated with firewood collection have been well known to the humanitarian community for years. Despite this fact, few effective strategies are yet in place to combat the problem. The Women's Commission's Fuel and Firewood Initiative will support the physical integrity and protection from violence of displaced women and girls during fuel collection by ensuring that fuel and related issues are mainstreamed on the humanitarian agenda from the earliest stages of a crisis. This session will outline the findings and recommendations of the Women's Commission's recent report Beyond Firewood, and discuss and solicit feedback on the Initiative's next steps, including pilot projects in Darfur and Chad; creating a "home" for fuel-related initiatives within the UN system; and promoting the development, use and eventual institutionalization by the humanitarian community of a coordinated fuel strategy during all phases of refugee and IDP crises.

18h00 - 19h30 Room XXII

Refugee All Stars

Michel Gaudé, Africa Bureau, UNHCR

A viewing of a documentary film "The Refugee All Stars" about a Sierra Leonean refugee band in Guinea. The documentary won several international film awards, including the Grand Jury Prize for the best documentary American Film Institute (AFI) international Film Festival in November 2005.

Thursday, 28 September 2006

09h00 - 10h00 Room XXIII

Exporting the Australian Model – The case of Afghanistan

Zeena Elton, Edmund Rice Centre; Kate Gauthier, A Just Australia

Researchers from the Edmund Rice Centre in Australia recently visited Afghanistan to monitor returned asylum seekers in order to examine questions concerning Australia's failure to meet the requirement of effective protection. Researchers found that as many as 9 Afghanis including 3 children, seeking asylum in Australia who were returned from the Pacific island of Nauru were killed following their arrival in their home country. Serious questions have emerged concerning Australia's procedures in relation to refoulement which will be the focus for this discussion.

13h30 - 15h00 Room XXIII

Responding to Allegations of Sexual Abuse and Exploitation of Persons of Concern by Aid Workers

Radha Ivory, International Council of Voluntary Agencies; Katharina Samara-Wickrama, International Council of Voluntary Agencies; Natalia Tapies, FilmAid International

Reports of exploitation and abuse in refugee camps in West Africa and Nepal in 2002 and again in Liberia in 2006, demonstrate that NGOs working with persons of concern must anticipate allegations of sexual exploitation and abuse (SEA) by members of their staff. This session will explore two initiatives developed by NGOs to improve their capacities to receive and respond to allegations of abuse by aid workers. Through the presentations, attendees will gain valuable insights into successful training and communication techniques for combating SEA of beneficiaries by humanitarian staff.

Katharina Samara-Wickrama will present on the work of the Building Safer Organisations (BSO) project to train NGO staff to conduct and manage investigations into beneficiary SEA complaints. These programmes were rolled-out successfully in 5 regions in the first half of 2006 and will be accompanied shortly by training materials and guidelines on complaint investigation and management.

Natalia Tapies will discuss the Preventing Sexual Exploitation and Abuse (PSEA) project in Kenya. A partnership of 14 NGOs, PSEA works to prevent SEA by aid workers in Kenyan refugee camps by raising beneficiary awareness of SEA and generating interagency protocols on complaint mechanisms. PSEA is widely regarded as a model of interagency cooperation on SEA issues.

13h30 - 15h00 Room XXIV

UNHCR Refugee Status Determination: Progress towards reform?

Tarek Badawy, AMERA-Egypt; Moderator: Christine Bloch, Jesuit Refugee Service;
Michael Kagan, African Middle-East Refugee Assistant;
Amy Slotek, Helsinki Citizens Assembly Refugee Legal Aid Project (Turkey);
Rick Stainsby, Status Determination & Protection Information Section, UNHCR;
Samira Trad, Frontiers Association (Lebanon); Judy Wakahiu, Refugee Consortium of Kenya

In 2005, UNHCR published its first ever standards for fairness and due process in refugee status determination by its own field offices. The standards were welcomed by NGOs as a step forward, but also drew criticism because they stop short of the normal standards of due process promoted by UNHCR for refugee cases adjudicated by State. Examples include: giving applicants reasons for rejection, allowing applicants to see the evidence used in their cases, and providing an independent appeal system. UNHCR officials called the Guidelines a "living document," promising they could be revised in the future and that they would reconsider the policy on access to evidence. A year later, NGOs have complained that Standards

are not being implemented consistently, and are calling on UNHCR for more determined steps toward RSD reform.

Friday, 29 September 2006

09h00 - 10h00 Room XXIII

No Refuge: The Crisis of Refugee Militarization in Africa

Iain Hall, Emergency and Security Service, UNHCR Keith Krause, Small Arms Survey Mathijs Le Rutte, Division of International Protection Services, UNHCR Robert Muggah, Editor of *No Refuge*, Small Arms Survey

Co-published by the Small Arms Survey and the Bonn International Center for Conversion, *No Refuge* provides compelling evidence of the specific relationships between arms flows and the militarization of refugee and internally displaced person (IDP) camps throughout the African continent. The volume reflects on the extent to which refugees and IDPs are voluntarily and involuntarily drawn into cross-border and internal conflicts in Guinea, Rwanda, Tanzania, and Uganda and the implications for protection and asylum.

09h00 - 10h00 Room XXIV

Palestinian Vulnerability to Forced Displacement

Bill Frelick, Human Rights Watch; Karine Mac Allister, Badil Resource Center; Nathalie Mivelaz, Center on Housing Rights and Eviction (COHRE)

Palestinians have faced numerous waves of displacement since at least since 1948. Today, many Palestinians, both refugees and non-refugees, are still vulnerable to displacement. This meeting aims to discuss the current situation of Palestinians and the appropriate response to their ongoing displacement.

Human Rights Watch will present its recent report on the situation of Palestinian refugees in Iraq, "Nowhere to Flee: The Perilous Situation of Palestinians in Iraq" while Badil Resource Center will present its joint report with the Internal Displacement Monitoring Centre on the situation of Palestinians in the occupied Palestinian territories, "Displaced by the Wall, Forced Displacement as a Result of the West Bank Wall and its Associated Regime". The Center on Housing Rights and Eviction will discuss the relevant legal instruments to respond to forced displacement.

ANNEX IV

WELCOMING ADDRESS BY JUDY CHENG-HOPKINS, UN ASSISTANT HIGH COMMISSIONER FOR REFUGEES (OPERATIONS) ANNUAL CONSULTATIONS WITH NGOS 27 SEPTEMBER 2006

Ladies and gentlemen, partners and friends,

It is a pleasure for me to open this year's annual consultations with you -- our vital and valued NGO partners. It is encouraging to see so many of you in this room today, which is a testament to your commitment to the wellbeing of refugees and others forcibly displaced. The rich and varied experience that each of you bring to these consultations is both welcome and necessary as we strategize and reach out together to find ways to better deliver protection and find solutions for these people.

When I joined UNHCR earlier this year, I committed myself to giving priority to three issues: improving UNHCR's emergency response, taking forward our strategy and programmes for IDPs, and finding solutions to protracted situations. I would like to return to these three key issues today as they form the core of much of what UNHCR does and how we will be judged by the international community. They are also the focus of many of our partnerships with you. The reality today is that no humanitarian organization can go it alone; we increasingly rely upon partnerships and collaborative mechanisms to deliver protection and solutions to our persons of concern.

Emergency response

Let me first touch on emergency response. UNHCR's emergency response capacity is largely dependent on how fast we can get the right people and the necessary relief items to the areas where they are most needed. Often, however, we face considerable constraints in gaining humanitarian access to areas where refugees and IDPs are found due to the prevailing conflict and security situations which led to the displacement in the first place.

The crisis in Lebanon proved to be a clear example of these limitations. The logistics and security frameworks established at the outset of the crisis were major complicating factors in the UN's emergency response, impacting on our ability to deliver aid and assess needs. Yet, despite all this, within a period of weeks during the conflict, UNHCR managed to mobilize its best and brightest, delivering 8,500 tents, 158,000 blankets, 68,000 mattresses and thousands of other needed relief items to the conflict zone and in Syria.

As for security, while recognizing the real risks and necessity for enhanced security, particularly in the post-Iraq environment, there is clearly a need to better utilize local networks and knowledge. NGOs can and do play an important role in facilitating such cooperation and collaboration. In fact we have to admit that during the Lebanon crisis they sometimes had earlier and better access to affected populations than the UN agencies. I could not help but smile when I read a recent piece in the Herald Tribune commenting on the fact that the UN in Beirut confined its operations to the Movenpick Hotel; with the exception of UNHCR, I am tempted to say, because of the several instances our staff may have operated on the margins of rules and regulations. Let me say no more.

In terms of staffing, it is very encouraging to note that NGOs and other organizations are playing a significant and welcome role through, for instance, the SURGE project with the International Rescue Committee, and arrangements with the Norwegian and Danish Refugee Councils as well as

the Swiss Agency for Development and Cooperation, just to name a few. We also have long-standing agreements with Save the Children Norway and Sweden. These deployment schemes are proving invaluable and certainly have become a prominent and vital feature of UNHCR's emergency response capacity today. A joint MOU has been signed between NRC and UNHCR on strategic partnership, which is a development we would also welcome with other partners.

We are endeavouring to bring our emergency response capacity up to a level which enables us to respond to an emergency of up to 500,000 persons. Whereas we have made significant progress in establishing the necessary stand-by staffing arrangements and operational support systems, we have not yet reached the same level with regard to relief items. Currently we are able to respond to the NFI needs of some 350,000 people. Our goal is to increase this further by year-end. Let me not forget to mention, however, that one of the crucial elements of emergency response is the mainstreaming of protection. Certain issues need to be observed from the outset of an emergency in order to counter negative effects and to ensure equitable access to protection and assistance.

Linked to these issues are internal resource allocation mechanisms, which have to be made more responsive. This requires an enhanced capacity to plan strategically and a supply chain integrated into operations as well as adequate delegation of authority. We are already in the process of moving our Supply Management Service into the Department of Operations. For the time being, however, managers are limited in their capacity to draw on funds to allow for the rapid deployment of relief items and enter into agreements with operational partners. There are a number of proposals to improve this situation and streamline processes as part of the change management initiative. I look forward to putting these into practice in the coming months.

IDPs

Let me now shift focus to IDPs. The cluster approach agreed within the IASC is proving to be a valuable means to share information, provide clarity in coordination and build consensus around proposed activities. A primary focus of our work in cluster roll-out countries is to strengthen our relationships with NGOs and other humanitarian partners. We are now seeing the fruits of this collaboration in Uganda, for instance, where the protection cluster is implementing a joint IDP return strategy that brings together a wide range of humanitarian actors. In the DRC, enhanced cooperation has led to greater freedom of movement in certain areas and to greater attention being paid to humanitarian concerns in military operations. Common strategies have been developed by consensus. UNHCR has made a huge leap in terms of expanding its field presence in both Uganda and DRC, with field offices established or expanded to be able to respond closer to the affected populations.

I have heard some of the misgivings that many of you have voiced about the cluster approach. While it is far too early to criticize it, since it was only put in place a few months ago, I nevertheless welcome your questions and probing of the true value added of the approach. It is only through this kind of vigilance that we will be able to make the system work.

Although the discussion on our involvement with IDPs is for the time being largely centred around the cluster approach and the initial four roll out countries (Democratic Republic of the Congo, Liberia, Uganda and Somalia), to which Côte d'Ivoire and Lebanon have since been added, I would also like to stress the importance and centrality of our work in other IDP operations whether in Colombia, East Timor, Nepal, Georgia, Sudan and elsewhere. Even if the cluster approach has not been activated in these IDP operations, we are nevertheless reinforcing our partnerships and collaboration with NGOs like yours on the ground.

During a recent informal consultative meeting with ExCom, some participants expressed their wish to see UNHCR pronounce itself more clearly on the strategic vision for our involvement with IDPs. This is a welcome development and confirms once more the broad support we are receiving for our efforts. UNHCR is approaching this carefully in light of the fact that Governments bear the

primary responsibility for the protection of their own citizens, and that we operate in an interagency framework. It is clear, however, that there is no turning back on our involvement with IDPs. Rather we will strengthen the gains already made, building on the broad experience we have accumulated so far. It also means deepening our partnerships with NGOs and other humanitarian actors who can sometimes deliver more effectively and efficiently due to their presence on the ground and their knowledge. This implies the development of a changed profile of managers within the organization; those who are able to coordinate and lead, not just "do". Internal training programmes are being adapted to provide staff with these skills.

Protracted situations

The third issue that I am giving priority to is the search for solutions to the many protracted refugee situations that exist around the world. Much has been written about the causes and detrimental consequences of these situations. According to UNHCR statistics, over 5 million refugees remain in more than 20 protracted situations, each involving more than 25,000 refugees over a period of at least five consecutive years. Fortunately, there are signs of hope in several of these situations that we are aiming to build upon.

In Nepal, a country I visited recently, there are promising indications that new opportunities are emerging. The resettlement of 16 vulnerable refugee women is underway and the Government has agreed to the registration of the camp-based populations. These are small breakthroughs that we hope will lead to broader opportunities for solutions for the 106,000 Bhutanese refugees remaining in camps in the eastern part of Nepal.

There are also positive signals in Thailand following the High Commissioner's recent visit. The authorities have indicated their willingness to consider local strategies to resolve the situation of the 140,000 refugees from Myanmar who have been living in precarious conditions on the border for over 10 years. There is also renewed interest in resolving the situation of some 20,000 Rohingya refugees living in camps in Bangladesh.

After over 20 years of civil war, in South Sudan, the prospects for the return of refugees from surrounding countries are also looking positive. Out of the overall population of some 542,000 refugees registered in neighbouring countries, over 13,000 have already returned this year with UNHCR assistance. Many more have returned spontaneously. We are optimistic more will be able to go back by the end of the year. Funding constraints, however, are limiting our capacity to facilitate their return and to support their reintegration. We are looking to development agencies to increase their involvement in the region and begin investing in the longer-term reconstruction effort. This is another dilemma, with the development needs being so large.

A number of other voluntary repatriation operations are well underway elsewhere in Africa. Some have matured to the point where discussions have been initiated with concerned governments on the local integration of refugees who have opted to remain in asylum countries. This is true, for instance, in Angola, where it has been found that more than 90% of remaining refugees from the DRC wish to locally integrate. In Guinea, the Government has offered the possibility for remaining Sierra Leonean refugees to naturalize. Similarly in Sierra Leone, the authorities have expressed a willingness to allow Liberian refugees to locally integrate. These are all very encouraging developments that we intend to build upon in the coming months.

Ladies and gentlemen, esteemed partners,

Over these past several months, I have been struck by the steadfast dedication demonstrated by colleagues in bringing protection to those who most desperately need it. Be it ensuring that fundamental rights are upheld or providing tents, blankets and mattresses, each and every activity we engage in has protection at its core.

Allow me to extend my appreciation to all of you who are here today. Thank you for listening and for your unwavering support over all these years, which is truly indispensable for UNHCR to be the effective organization that it is today.

ANNEX V

OPENING STATEMENT BY ANTÓNIO GUTERRES, UNITED NATIONS HIGH COMMISSIONER FOR REFUGEES TO EXCOM

57TH SESSION OF EXCOM: 2-6 OCTOBER 2006

Mr. Chairman, Excellencies, Distinguished Delegates, Ladies and Gentlemen,

I would like to welcome you all to the fifty-seventh session of the Executive Committee, particularly new members Jordan and Portugal.

I would like to congratulate our Chairman, Ambassador Fujisaki of Japan, and applaud the energy and engagement with which he approached his responsibilities. Ambassador, I am grateful for your personal involvement with us this year. Thank you very much.

Ladies and Gentlemen,

1. This is a moment of truth for UNHCR. Both by choice and out of necessity, we face three major challenges simultaneously. The first is a reassessment of our mission. We must remain faithful to our mandate while meeting the demands of a changing world, shifts as consequential as the international community redressing one of its greatest failures, the neglect of internally displaced persons. The second is the pressing need for a deep structural and management reform, which is absolutely indispensable if we are to build a stronger, more effective organization able to generate and direct more resources to the people we care for. The third challenge is a renewal of our top management, affecting, over one-and-a-half years, 10 members of the Senior Management Committee.

We face these challenges willingly and with determination, even if we would not have chosen to meet them all immediately and at the same time.

A year ago, I made a number of commitments – to you, our governance body, our partners, our staff, and, most importantly, to the people we serve. It is time now to see where we stand.

2. First commitment. To strengthen UNHCR's identity as a protection agency.

That identity, as I said last year, should inform everything we do. At a time of rising intolerance, fuelled by security concerns and confusion in public opinion between migrants and refugees, we are bound first to preserve asylum and rebuild trust in asylum systems. I want to call on humanitarian and rights-minded politicians and concerned members of the civil society and media; we need to work together and UNHCR is willing to cooperate with all. Critical developments are taking place – many of them deliberately encouraged by populism in both politics and the media, taking us in the wrong direction. We must be vigilant and remain a voice of reason and tolerance.

To preserve asylum is also to firmly oppose all forms of refoulement and guarantee respect for international refugee law. International refugee law that cannot be superseded by national legislation, extradition treaties, or redefined by bilateral arrangements.

The situations which I referred to last year – from Uzbekistan to North Korea – remain of grave concern to UNHCR. An important exception, which I am glad to be able to cite here today as a

step forward given the debate we had here at ExCom, is the impeccable treatment afforded to recent Rwandan arrivals in Burundi. Burundi authorities are applying proper asylum procedures in an open and collaborative fashion, and with the result that most in the present circumstances are found not to be of concern to our Office, returning normally to Rwanda where they are well received. The few whose claims are accepted are granted adequate forms of protection and assistance in Burundi.

To strengthen protection we must build capacity everywhere. Not with the paternalistic notion that this concerns only the developing world, but with the understanding that strengthening protection capacity is necessary in both north and south. Building skills, institutions and coalitions cannot serve to 'outsource' protection, but rather as an instrument of international cooperation and solidarity, to make real and fair burden sharing possible.

Protection is at the centre of our concern to reduce statelessness. Traditionally, UNHCR has focused on giving legal advice to States. True, we were able to resolve statelessness situations with practical assistance in the Ukraine, FYR Macedonia, and Sri Lanka by helping hundreds of thousands of stateless individuals obtain a nationality, and are now involved in a meaningful cooperation programme with the Russian Federation. But such success stories have been too rare. We want to change that.

We will do so with operational support and through inter-agency collaboration. This involves concrete measures to reduce and prevent statelessness, such as working on birth registration campaigns with UNICEF, population census with UNFPA, electoral assistance with the UN Department of Political Affairs and UNDP, and public awareness with the NGO movement and with the states themselves. Our goal is to enable these forgotten people to become nationals of a state or, at the very least, to enjoy the basic human rights conferred by a legal identity.

Protection is also at the centre of the new emphasis given to our engagement in relation both to internal displacement and the migration-asylum nexus. The Division of International Protection Services is increasingly a service-oriented support to the field with direct responsibility for the units working on durable solutions to refugee situations. Protection will be taken closer to the people we care for, including moving more staff to regional offices. We are rolling out a new accountability framework for age, gender and diversity mainstreaming. Its format engages managers at all levels, and I take it very, very seriously when I go on missions.

UNHCR now has an Assistant High Commissioner for Protection, Erika Feller. With DIPS, she will lead a debate across the organization on pressing challenges in protection. Issues such as mixed flows, data protection, facilitation and promotion of voluntary repatriation, sexual and gender based violence, statelessness, exit strategies, exclusion in a time of terrorism, alliances for protection, resettlement and internal displacement. A Protection Reference Group, gathering Representatives from the field, will help drive the discussions. I welcome and encourage ExCom members' participation as we review and redefine our approach to all these critical issues. This might be a good reason to revive the former Forum.

3. Second commitment. To make UNHCR a predictable and fully-engaged partner in the new approach to situations of internal displacement.

We are now part of the collective response by the UN system and the broader humanitarian community, and in that context have assumed leading responsibility for the protection, emergency shelter and camp coordination and management clusters. Lessons learned from the implementation in the four pilot countries – Uganda, the Democratic Republic of the Congo, Liberia and Somalia – will guide us in the future. The cluster approach has opened up new opportunities for durable solutions – in Uganda, for example, it has been instrumental in the return home of over 300,000 people until now, transforming what was a dramatic humanitarian situation into a potentially remarkable success story.

For the new approach to be effective we have insisted strongly on three main concerns: that it be flexible and adapted to reality on the ground and, where necessary, the theory made to fit reality, not vice versa; that its framework should be light and non-bureaucratic, the reason we did not create a dedicated unit for this at Headquarters; and that we proceed on the understanding that all humanitarian actors, including the Red Cross and Red Crescent and the NGO movements, need to be effectively engaged in the process as full strategic partners that think together, plan together, and act together.

A partnership based on a dialogue among equals for true shared responsibility. Of course, this must also be true of our partnerships in other areas. We are working to become a reliable partner for NGOs and sister agencies alike with more reliable data, better allocation of limited resources and coverage of priority needs, improved participatory needs assessment and planning exercise.

Several UNHCR country operations have not been slated for the roll-out of the so-called cluster approach. Here, we are not and we will not wait for an official notification but will try to respond according to the needs of the people and our own ability. This is why we are currently reassessing our capacities in Colombia, Sri Lanka, and the North and South Caucasus, where we have been involved for a long time, and why we have encouraged the request by the UN Country Team of a protection cluster in Côte d'Ivoire.

At the same time, faced with a situation like Darfur, the role of organizations such as ours is severely constrained. That may seem intolerable, yet our desperation is nothing next to that of the victims and millions of displaced. In the absence of a clear framework for the exercise of the so-called responsibility to protect, the international community remains basically powerless. The insecurity bred in Darfur has spread to Chad and threatens the Central African Republic itself.

4. Third commitment. To effectively address the protection concerns in mixed population flows, the so-called migration-asylum nexus.

Ladies and Gentlemen,

Allow me to speak for a moment as a simple citizen of the world. Population movements will be one of the key issues of the 21st century. Globalisation is a fact of life. But it is an asymmetric phenomenon and can exacerbate existing disparities and disadvantages. Money moves unimpeded; goods and services, not as freely; and persons, much less so. But international exchanges work and the global labour market is increasingly a force to be reckoned with. Here also, supply will move to meet demand. Legally if it can; illegally if it must.

This is why curbing illegal migration is not only a question of controlling borders but requires a comprehensive response, including meaningful opportunities for legal migration, development cooperation strategies targeted at the most vulnerable situations so that people are not compelled to move out of sheer despair, and international cooperation in the management of migration flows and in a convincing crackdown on smugglers and traffickers.

Obviously, these are areas that extend far beyond UNHCR's direct responsibilities. We know the difference between a migrant and a refugee and we do not want to become a migration management agency. But we are witnessing more and more movements with the character of mixed flows, where the large majority are migrants but where there are also people in need of international protection: refugees, women victims of trafficking, unaccompanied minors... Our role is to help create the environment where these people can be detected and afforded protection. They must be granted physical access to asylum procedures and a fair treatment of their claims. Measures aimed at curbing illegal migration must never be allowed to call those rights into question.

Protection capacity must be built everywhere, reaching from the places of origin through countries of transit to final destinations. UNHCR itself is committed to increasing its capacity in relevant parts of the world. Our 10-point plan of action, to be piloted now in the situations confronting North Africa and Southern Europe, sets out measures which can be incorporated into migration procedures to address asylum – without compounding the irregular migration issue, or acting as a pull factor. I believe UNHCR can provide practical support to States, helping them to identify those in need of protection, providing country-of-origin information, building national capacities and using our good offices including through resettlement.

UNHCR was fully committed to the Secretary-General's High-Level Dialogue on Migration which met in New York two weeks ago. We are equally engaged with the Geneva – now Global – Migration Group, whose last meeting I had the honour of chairing, and stand ready to support any initiative of the member states.

5. Fourth commitment. A stronger emphasis on solutions with particular focus on the sustainability of returns and the enhanced role of resettlement, two of the main concerns of Convention Plus, which has been mainstreamed in the Office.

The resettlement service has been created and our capacity is improving, both in the number and quality of referrals. Resettlement for UNHCR is not simply a protection instrument but also a strategic durable solution. We are deeply committed to working with resettlement countries to remove obstacles and increase their annual quotas. I want to emphasize our cooperation with the United States, by far the largest resettlement country, to overcome the negative impact of the material support regulations on refugee admissions, with the first results seen already for Karen refugees in Thailand. Australia and Canada remain two very important partners in resettlement, which is gaining ground in Europe and, following the adoption of the Mexico Plan of Action, in Latin America.

Voluntary return remains for us the preferred durable solution. But its sustainability in many situations around the world is a dramatic concern.

On a mission in March to the Great Lakes, I watched together with the leaders of UNICEF and WFP as several hundred Congolese returnees disembarked from the boat bringing them home from Tanzania. They were filled with anticipation and greeted with shouts and music from crowds of family and neighbours. While 120,000 Congolese refugees remain in Tanzania, 23,000 came back to the DRC with our assistance this year. But enthusiasm can be short-lived when years of conflict and neglect have completely destroyed infrastructure and institutions, and where insecurity and human rights violations are difficult to eradicate.

South Sudan, an area the size of Western Europe, was gutted – its roads, schools, and hospitals destroyed and much of its human talent killed or uprooted. Since the 2005 peace agreement, UNHCR has opened offices and actively promoted community-based projects in areas of origin. But needs are enormous and refugees are wary of repatriating before knowing they will be able to eke out a living or reach medical care. Despite the resilience of the people, it is naïve to expect that pots, pans and hope are enough to begin life over.

In Burundi, successful national elections a year ago buoyed expectations that the 190,000 refugees in Tanzania would soon repatriate. But returns in an agricultural economy will always vary with the season and can be affected by drought and the lack of viable alternatives. A crop failure may effectively condemn a family to exile.

Despite many well-known difficulties, returns to Afghanistan – though lower than in previous years – have been the largest in the world for the fifth year running. But we remain deeply concerned about people who go back home full of hope and enthusiasm in the present complex environment.

In Liberia, a very successful political transition has been achieved with remarkable political leadership now in place. But let us not forget that last year's state budget was only US\$80 million, compared with US\$800 million for the UN peacekeeping mission, and a teacher's salary just \$20 a month. When I visited Monrovia a few months ago, there was still no electricity, no running water, no working sewage system and no garbage collection. Things are improving, but the international community must understand the importance of quick wins to gain the confidence of the people in a post-conflict situation.

In any operation, the promotion of return comes only after minimum conditions are met and we are able to verify that people will be safe following their repatriation. But in extending this option we routinely ignore the elephant in the room: returnees cannot live on hope alone.

Addressing transition problems after wars or conflict end and before sustained development is in place is not something at which the international community excels. UNHCR is a member of the UNDG and is engaged in a promising cooperation with UNDP. We will work actively at the global level with the Peace building Commission, seconding a staff member to its Support Unit, and will be involved in its pilot programmes in Burundi and Sierra Leone.

I also want to appeal for a combined effort with the fullest possible use of all durable solutions in order to solve, at last, the most protracted refugee situations, like the Bhutanese in Nepal or the Rohingyas in Bangladesh.

6. Fifth commitment. To re-establish a quick, agile and flexible emergency response capacity.

Over the past year our emergency teams have been active in Lebanon, Timor Leste and the valleys of northern Pakistan. We sent 3,500 tonnes of relief supplies to Pakistan in the first weeks to help tens of thousands of survivors of last October's earthquake. We are grateful for the offer of an emergency airlift, without which this massive effort would not have been possible.

Events in Lebanon also showed the importance of robust logistics capacity and, as a result, we have decided that a revamped supply and management service will now be integrated in DOS and work in collaboration with our emergency unit. The new Policy Development and Evaluation Service has already completed a real-time evaluation of UNHCR's response to the emergency in Lebanon and Syria. I was briefed by the evaluation team last Thursday, shortly after their return from the region, and senior managers will now use their findings and recommendations to make other relevant changes and improvements. We need to be able to act quickly on learning what we did not do right.

In Timor Leste, after the violence last summer, 22 UNHCR international staff were immediately mobilized to take part in the humanitarian response.

UNHCR's emergency response abilities are being strengthened. Quick and efficient deployment of expert staff and relief material almost anywhere in the world has been a hallmark of the Office. By 2007, our target is to be able to respond to an exodus of 500,000 people.

Under the leadership of our new Assistant High Commissioner for Operations, Judy Cheng-Hopkins, in close cooperation with the Division of Operational Services, we have increased the number of staff available at any time for immediate deployment. Financial limitations are hindering our ability to establish the desired level of emergency stockpiles. Depending on the item, current levels now cover the needs of between 300,000 and 500,000 people, but we have been forced to delay orders for larger quantities of our lightweight tents, key to our responsibilities in the emergency shelter cluster and in refugee crises, which for the moment are only sufficient for 100,000 individuals.

7. Sixth commitment. Reform: the structural and management change process. To make the organization more flexible, effective and results-oriented based on a thorough review and reform of its procedures and structure.

Reform is essential for UNHCR's long-term sustainability. It is true that the relationship between field support and administration costs on one side and operational costs on the other has remained stable. But over the past 15 years, the percentage of staff costs in relation to operational costs has risen steadily. Of course, a large share of staff costs includes protection work and is an integral part of operations. But the trend means that fixed costs represent an ever-greater portion of our expenditures and that we have been correspondingly less and less flexible when phasing out or down-scaling operations, or when we are forced to make budgetary adjustments. And it means that financial problems have increasingly affected the core of our activities.

In 2006 we reached a dangerous benchmark. For the first time, UNHCR is likely to spend more money on staff and ABOD (Administrative Budget and Obligation Document) than on what is classified in the budget as operations. It is true that this is an artificial distinction as, I repeat, a large part of our staff costs are in fact operations. But it is also true that doing things more and more by ourselves, rather than doing them with partners, makes us less and less flexible and able to adapt. This is obviously not sustainable and needs to be addressed, because it would be morally unacceptable for a structure to become an end in itself.

The Change Process, led by Director for Structural and Management Change Raymond Hall, has been systematically reviewing our processes, structures and staffing to make sure that they are fully aligned with the challenges we face in a changing humanitarian environment. We owe it to our beneficiaries, be they refugees or the increasing numbers of internally displaced persons, to give top priority to meeting their needs. Our review of Headquarters is therefore examining what kind of field support can be moved closer to the point of delivery in order to maximize its impact. It is also looking at the cost effectiveness of our administrative services, how back-office functions should be carried out, and whether they should remain in Geneva or be placed elsewhere. Meanwhile, the field review is considering the way we deploy in capitals, sub- and field offices, and the balance – between national and international staff – of our workforce in operations, along with how much we do ourselves versus how much is implemented through partnerships with others.

Of course, moments of change like this one always engender anxiety and uncertainty. I understand this. The Office has been and will be very actively engaged in the preparation of proposals for reform. The Director has been meeting weekly with the Staff Council and ensuring that conditions exist for staff to be fully informed of what is on the change agenda. This month, he begins broad consultations with staff on proposals in several areas. It is our clear intention that all proposals will be submitted to effective consultations with staff and that decisions will be based on the establishment of a clear business case after a thorough feasibility study. Reform will be driven not by ideological preference but by evidence.

We must be sensitive to the legitimate concerns and interests of the staff beyond the full respect of their rights. The reform will also introduce a number of changes aimed at the improvement of working conditions. An annual global staff survey will soon be introduced, along with a management assessment framework. We are at the same time working on new proposals to address, in a systematic way, the problems of staff welfare in difficult duty stations. We have taken all the decisions to guarantee that UNHCR becomes fully compliant with Minimum Operating Safety Standards, regardless of cost. And here I want to pay respect and tribute to the courage and sacrifice of our staff members who lost their lives in the line of duty in the past 12 months.

All this is very important for us, but we cannot forget our moral obligation to the people we care for. When we still cannot provide enough support for refugees wanting to repatriate, when only a fraction of refugees have access to the latest malaria protocol or antiretroviral medication and when

we are unable to prevent or respond to known cases of SGBV, we cannot accept that money that should be spent on the people we care for is spent unnecessarily on the organization.

Reform is also focusing on the efficiency of our processes. Key to our responsiveness is our ability to deploy staff rapidly and effectively. With this in mind, our postings processes are being simplified and made more flexible. A new resource allocation model is being developed which will, we hope, end the practice of decision-making by committee, in which all forms of responsibility are diluted. It will balance greater delegation of authority to operations managers with better controls, accountability and transparency. With the same aim, and after the measures already taken in 2005, announced at the last ExCom, the independence of the Inspector General's Office was further reinforced through the conclusion of a Memorandum of Understanding on inspections and investigations with the UN's Office of Internal Oversight Services.

The next step in Results-Based Management is the building, testing and application of specially-designed software, which will be at the core of our RBM framework for operations. The new software will be compatible with Management System Renewal Project, whose finance and supply management modules are presently being rolled out to Asia and the Americas. This month we start the MSRP roll-out to Africa and the application of the last version in Headquarters, Europe and CASWANAME. These two systems are crucial reform instruments and will provide better financial, budgetary, logistical and human resource information for the Change Process.

The Change Process should benefit also from broader UN reform and, as in the past, we will integrate any changes made in New York into our own rules and procedures. As they exist today, UN regulations are not always well adapted to the needs of a highly operational agency like UNHCR and sometimes impose constraints on our own efforts to improve our flexibility and responsiveness. But we should never use them as an excuse as, to be honest, UNHCR has itself invented many bureaucratic obstacles that we can, must and will remove.

Ladies and Gentlemen,

8. One year, six clear commitments, six developments we want to take further. But none of what I have described will be possible without political and financial support.

At the end of 2005, UNHCR faced, as you all know, a dramatic financial situation. For the first time in more than 15 years we ushered in the new year with a negative – even if very small – carryover. This brought home to us the need for greater realism in drawing up our budget and was the rationale for the measures we adopted to get through 2006 with as much financial stability and predictability as possible.

We decided in late 2005 to ask managers to plan their activities at 80 per cent of the 2006 ExCom approved figures. Instructions were issued early to avoid more disruptive budget cuts later on. We were able to avoid them through 2006. Offices did their best to safeguard activities with immediate and tangible benefit for refugees, while procurement and programmes with a longer-term or strategic impact were deferred or reduced.

We successfully instituted a zero-growth policy for staff at Headquarters. Any new post has to be offset by the cutting of an existing one. An austerity package included deep reductions in travel and temporary assistance at Headquarters and targeted measures in the field, saving the organization a further US\$20 million.

Concerted efforts have been made to address non-traditional sources of income, including in the private sector, where we have reinvigorated the Council of Business Leaders, led by the Deputy High Commissioner. Private sector contributions to UNHCR this year did not benefit from the exceptional effect of the 2004 tsunami, and, recognizing that raising such funds requires investment and expertise, we have set aside additional resources for new initiatives next year.

Higher targets will be closely overseen by our new Director of External Relations, Nick van Praag, who joined us last month from the World Bank.

Thanks to these measures, we can guarantee today that if - and only if - the donor community maintains the level of support we received last year, UNHCR will be able to carry out its activities through 2006 without resorting to any further cuts to stay in the black. I am very confident that our donors who have not yet reached that level will not let us down. But we still have some way to go before the end of the year.

The 2007 budget represents a clear shift in policy based on our recent experience. It is some US\$100 million – nine per cent – less than the ExCom approved 2006 budget, and it reflects two major policy changes. First, it is based on transparency and realistic assumptions about possible funding levels, with additional margin for manoeuvre in the form of an increased Operational Reserve I at 10 per cent of programmed activities (the maximum allowable level).

Second, items classified as operations will represent a higher percentage of our global costs than staff and ABOD, reversing the trend I cited earlier, if you consider the whole of the Annual Budget and projected Supplementary ones. The management, administration and programme support costs are down by US\$17.6 million in relation to expenditures forecast in 2006, reflecting a serious effort to achieve greater financial flexibility and make more funds available to our beneficiaries and partners on the ground.

For this budget to become a reality, my hope and expectation is that our principal donors will maintain their high level of support to the Office and the work we do. And as we continue our Change Process and devote a greater share of resources to protection, care and solutions, please lend us your support by maintaining – or, in light of UNHCR's enlarged role, by increasing – your financial commitment to UNHCR.

I am pleased that several other donors have raised their contributions significantly this year, and would appeal to other states which can afford to do so to give more.

UNHCR has also received support in 2006 from the Central Emergency Revolving Fund which, in its first year of operation has directed resources to several of our under-funded programmes, and from the pooled funds, for the supplementary budgets of the DRC and Sudan.

Ladies and Gentlemen,

The budget before you is a transitional budget and is inspired by the principles of reform, even if the majority of its measures will only have an impact in the future. Both the reform process and budget policy changes owe a great deal to the vision and determination of the Deputy High Commissioner. Wendy Chamberlin had to assume the leadership of UNHCR under extremely difficult circumstances and manage a smooth transition. Last year, I asked her to generously accept a one-year extension of her contract to guarantee the stability and continuity of the Office and, at the same time, to foster the impulse for change. We are now moving, due to a large extent to her own proposals and initiatives, to a new management model in which the Deputy High Commissioner will have functions more clearly focused on the financial management of the Office. Due to this change in the profile, I fully respect Wendy's decision and have accepted her wish to hand that new role to a successor. Expressing, I am sure on behalf of us all, my deep gratitude and enormous admiration for her outstanding qualities, I would like to recognize her today for her remarkable contribution to the Office and on behalf of refugees.

Ladies and Gentlemen,

Refugees are the *raison d'être* of the UN refugee agency. We are here to serve, with humanity and efficiency. Faithful to our mandate but as a member of a team; proud of our history and identity but

humble before the challenges we face; a partner capable of answering new and increasingly complex challenges in a globalised context. But always, unrelenting in our efforts to reach more people in need of protection. Protection is the heart of our mandate and it must remain the soul of our organization.

Thank you.

ANNEX VI

REVIEW OF THE ANNUAL CONSULTATIONS WITH NGOS DELIVERED BY THE NGO RAPPORTEUR, CHRISTINE BLOCH OF THE JESUIT REFUGEE SERVICE, TO THE 57TH SESSION OF THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

57TH Session of ExCom: 2-6 October 2006

UNHCR's 2006 Annual Consultations with NGOs were attended by 329 representatives of 166 agencies from 72 countries. The number of agencies comprised 93 international NGOs and 73 national NGOs. Over the three days, NGOs and UNHCR discussed and consulted on issues of mutual concern. This report highlights the main points of discussion and is structured around the four themes of the NGO consultations – the asylum-migration nexus; UN reform; durable solutions; and ExCom conclusions.

1) ASYLUM-MIGRATION NEXUS

The highlights from the discussion on the asylum and migration nexus were the following:

- 1. Irregular migration is increasing, it is a global phenomenon. The issue came up in nearly all the regional discussions.
- 2. The focus on border management measures at the expense of ensuring access to rights leads to serious human rights concerns for all migrants, asylum-seekers and refugees.
- 3. The flows are mixed, and include those in need of international protection, as well as people being trafficked.
- 4. Governments are implementing border controls responses to these mixed flows, rather than safeguarding refugee protection. Such practices include: increased use of detention as a deterrent, lack of access to asylum procedures, visa requirements, immigration control in countries of origin, carrier sanctions, offshore processing, interdiction or interception policies, protection- insensitive readmission agreements, etc. There is a great need for entry processes that are sensitive to protection concerns as well as for legal migration mechanisms.
- 5. There is a political component in these policies: nourishing misperceptions, branding asylum seekers and irregular migrants as criminals and terrorists, politically motivated xenophobia and manipulation of these issues as a way to gain political power.

In the session on Combating the use of detention as a deterrent – a case study from the Mediterranean, we heard shocking accounts of the increase in the use of detention as a deterrent by many countries, and of the awful and inhumane conditions in many detention facilities around the Mediterranean. Some of the recommendations coming out of the discussions were:

- 1. The need for the EU to create managed migration systems instead of focusing exclusively on enforcement.
- 2. The importance of lobbying governments to ratify the Optional Protocol to the Torture Convention (OPCAT) as a mechanism to protect detainees by making spot checks on detention facilities, and to lobby to have refugee/migration law experts on the Optional Protocol sub-committee.
- 3. UNHCR should work to gain access to detention centres in North Africa and elsewhere, but equally important that NGOs work closely with UNHCR especially with regard to information sharing.
- 4. The need for humanitarian actors to develop ethical standards and apply them when they provide services in detention facilities.

The conclusions of the asylum-migration discussions were focused on:

- 1. The 1951 Convention cannot be used as an instrument to keep out migrants who are needed but not welcomed in the developed world.
- 2. We urgently need properly managed migration channels that can take the pressure of the institution of asylum.
- 3. We need to keep vigilant in upholding the rights of all displaced persons, whether migrants, asylum seekers or refugees. To that end, we would recommend that the migrant receiving countries ratify the Migrant Workers Convention and adopt a rights based approach for managing migration.
- 4. We also need to strengthen protection capacities of host countries in the developed world, as well as address the underlying root causes of the increased migratory movements. After all, most migrants would prefer to stay in their own countries if they have peace, security, and livelihood opportunities and are able to enjoy their fundamental human rights.

2) UN REFORM

The debate on UN reform in essence focused on the Cluster Approach to dealing with IDP situations. The issue of **the implementation of a new Cluster Approach in IDP situations** came up in the Africa and CASWANAME regional sessions. The discussions in the regional sessions included the following observations:

- 1. The Cluster Approach can be very different in national capitals from its application in the field, e.g. Pakistan;
- 2. Priority-setting was missing in clusters in Pakistan (the first pilot for this approach); and
- 3. Equality has been missing in partnerships in clusters (the partnership tends to be between UN agencies, and is not fully involving NGOs, especially not national/local NGOs).

Some of the key recommendations were:

- 1. NGOs should be at the forefront in improving the cluster concept.
- 2. Lead agencies must ensure all priorities and not only those of the individual agency, and they must be held accountable.
- 3. The need to watch the growing powers of the resident coordinators in humanitarian response.

The session on the Cluster Approach looked at Uganda as an example. The discussions touched upon a great number of issues but the key ones were:

- 1. The importance of UN/NGO partnership in the context of cluster implementation.
- 2. Lack of implementation of clusters other than the protection.
- 3. The status of the humanitarian reform in Uganda beyond clusters, and such as the need for a separate humanitarian coordinator in North Uganda.
- 4. The need to take into account differences between regions when planning return in Uganda.
- 5. The need to clarify the relationship between the Joint Monitoring Mechanism and the clusters.
- 6. The lack of involvement of NGOs and IDP representatives in coordination meetings.
- 7. The difficulty for NGOs to participate in the increased number of meetings.

The conclusions of the session were that a strong NGO/UN partnership is a prerequisite for the functioning and success of cluster implementation. It was likewise concluded that the protection cluster implementation in Northern Uganda appears to be on track after a slow start, but a number of important challenges remain to be addressed.

In the session on **Mainstreaming education within the humanitarian response**, the formation of an educational cluster was the primary focus. Another point that was raised in the discussion was the issue of cultural acceptability of education, e.g. the need to ensure that education provided in

emergencies is in the language of the affected and should generally be adapted to the cultural norms of those affected. Another significant issue was the lack of programming for adolescents. The conclusions of the session were the following:

- 1. Education is now widely accepted as an integral component of emergency response, including as a tremendously important protection tool for children and adolescents, but the potential of this response has not yet been fully realized in the field.
- 2. The creation of an education cluster was generally well accepted although questions remain as to how this will specifically function, reinforce existing coordination mechanisms, and fill gaps in policy and operations.
- 3. Education is under-funded in relative and in absolute terms in emergency response which has an immediate impact on affected populations and on ensuring links to recovery and development.

Children's protection and the humanitarian reform discussed child protection within the protection cluster. The session touched upon the following points:

- 1. UNHCR and UNICEF have been bolted together in the protection cluster arrangements they need to operationalize child protection together with NGOs.
- 2. We are seeing a paradigm shift amongst some agencies on protection, particular UNICEF, towards becoming more operational.
- 3. The need to de-mystify the cluster approach it is about doing things better through a strengthened collaboration between various UN agencies and NGOs.
- 4. Assessments (such as the Age, Gender, Diversity Mainstreaming tool, which UNHCR is now rolling out) are useful to determine the impact of displacement on children.
- 5. We need to consider national agencies in places where the UN has no access, such as in Somalia. Perhaps with the right resources and the right capacity-building Somalis could run their own clusters.
- 6. We are concerned about mainstreaming too much, which could dilute expertise and good programmes in child protection.

The session concluded the following:

- 1. The objective of the cluster approach is not coordination. The objective is better and more reliable humanitarian assistance. Coordination is the tool to achieve this.
- 2. We need to stay focused on the impact on children. This is not always easy for agencies when security situations are very difficult.
- 3. Assessments are useful for sharing lessons learned.
- 4. Participants agreed the discussions have to continue involving global, field and local levels.

3) DURABLE SOLUTIONS

The issue of durable solutions was discussed in the regional sessions, as well as in the thematic session on "Challenges of return: Rights and sustainable solutions." The Asia regional session touched a lot upon the protracted refugee situations in the region such as the Burmese in Thailand, Bhutanese in Nepal, Burmese Rohingas in Bangladesh, and the protracted urban refugee caseloads. The session stressed the importance of UNHCR, NGOs and states coming together to explore and jointly develop creative new ways to solve protracted refugee situations responding to changing political situations.

The thematic session on return focused on several contemporary challenges in the repatriation of refugees and return of IDPs. The discussion concentrated on the Bhutanese in Nepal as well as South Sudanese in Kakuma camp in Kenya. A variety of challenges were noted:

1. Protracted situations are, by nature, complex. Bilateral and regional political issues are particularly relevant and must be recognized; resolution of the situations will require

- concerted political action, often by friendly states. How do UNHCR and NGOs facilitate this without becoming politicised themselves?
- 2. General education and specialized human rights awareness may be higher in countries of asylum. How should UNHCR and NGOs respond to returnees who find sub-standard conditions and who know their rights?
- 3. How can access to resettlement be preserved within the context of a campaign of facilitated or spontaneous voluntary repatriation?
- 4. When should UNHCR and NGOs begin to facilitate voluntary repatriation? In the context of a ceasefire, it was noted that a ceasefire is not yet a peace agreement and not yet sustainable peace. At the same time, significant numbers of spontaneous returns may take place during ceasefires, most recently seen in the Lebanon.
- 5. What are UNHCR's obligations to retain a physical and operational presence in areas of return?

The session also touched upon the fact that there can be a huge gap between the standard for voluntary repatriation and the actual situation on the ground, especially if we use a rights-based approach. For example, there is a need to ensure that conditions are satisfactory in countries of asylum before voluntariness of any expression of the will to repatriate can be confirmed. Indeed, often we are repatriating or returning people in an unsustainable manner. More focus should be on peace building, early recovery, and reconstruction of infrastructure and on assisting the returning populations to rebuild livelihood opportunities.

The points that came out from the session "Integration: the forgotten solution" were the following:

- 1. Comprehensive approaches to protracted situations are needed involving voluntary repatriation, resettlement and local integration. In any refugee situation, a combination of these solutions should be used, depending on local circumstances. Local integration is likely to be a viable solution in situations, where refugees have some affinity with the host community.
- 2. The notion of local integration has to be considered in multiple ways. In some cases full integration involving naturalization and citizenship might be possible, but in many situations approaches such as local settlement and self-reliance are more appropriate and more workable.
- 3. Local integration, local settlement and self-reliance cannot be divorced from the question of rights. Refugees who are denied freedom of movement or access to the labour market cannot be expected to become self-reliant or to integrate successfully.
- 4. Host country policies usually determine the extent to which local integration is possible. When a new refugee influx occurs, UNHCR must try to negotiate with the host government to ensure that an appropriate environment for local integration and self-reliance is created. At a later stage it may be impossible to persuade the host government to amend policies, although advocacy coalition-building and donor state involvement should be used to achieve that objective.
- 5. Local integration does not obstruct voluntary repatriation. Even integrated refugees retain an attachment to their homeland and may choose to go back when conditions allow.

In the session on "the strategies for countries supportive of resettlement" the following issues were raised:

- 1. The role of NGOs is indispensable to advocate for refugees, to develop the basis for resettlement programmes in view of national capacity, and to create public understanding that refugees are an asset not a liability, and finally as links to civil society and service-providers.
- 2. The NGO experience in resettlement countries regarding reception and reintegration / information / legal counselling / development of integration projects should be further enhanced and included in selection involvement, placement of resettled persons and management of expectations.

- 3. Priority for emerging resettlement countries should be to develop quality standards, namely improvement of family reunion procedures, and dossier resettlement for emergency submissions. In this context it is important to make sure that integration potential should not be a selection criterion.
- 4. Capacity-building of NGOs to be able to meet the increased needs. This would include cooperation between NGOs, such as twinning programmes, and UNHCR help training, support for fund-raising and encouraging NGO participation in strategic/regional meetings.
- 5. UNHCR should pursue the expansion of resettlement opportunities by simultaneously increasing first countries of asylum holding selection missions and by promoting the willingness of new countries to resettle refugees.

The issue of resettlement also came up in the discussion on how to implement the new UNHCR ExCom conclusions on women and girls at risk and statelessness. NGOs focused on the need to mainstream and improve procedures for dealing with women at risk cases, especially with a view to faster processing for them. The session on statelessness likewise looked at the need for identifying durable solutions for protracted statelessness situations, such as the possibility of exploring resettlement to help address them.

4) EXCOM CONCLUSIONS

The aim of the sessions was to explore how NGOs can take a pro-active role in ensuring that these conclusions, which NGOs urge ExCom to adopt this week, are implemented. The NGOs need to take responsibility for making these conclusions operational, as well as using them as advocacy tools with governments and UNHCR.

The session on the **Prevention and reduction of statelessness and protection of stateless persons** discussed the problem of stateless persons. Conservative estimates suggest that as many as 11 million people around the world are stateless, a lot of them in protracted statelessness situations. The new conclusion focuses on the identification, prevention, and reduction of statelessness, as well as the protection of stateless persons.

The conclusions from the session were the following:

- Key to resolving statelessness issues is collaboration between governments, CBOs NGOs, INGOs, UNHCR and other UN agencies, particularly in the domain of operationalizing the new ExCom conclusion ensuring programs to identify, prevent, and reduce statelessness in the field and to protect stateless persons, through initiatives such as birth registration campaigns. NGOs also have an important role to play in the domain of legal remedies and advocacy.
- 2. UNHCR will continue to advise states how to revise nationality laws to fill the legal gaps that permit or contribute to statelessness, and NGOs should advocate for change and pursue legal decisions through national courts, international tribunals and UN treaty bodies.

The session on the conclusion on women and girls at risk "They don't talk about rape!! Improving protection for refugee women and girls" gave a grim account of the continuing rape, sexual abuse and exploitation of displaced women and girls. Now that this issue is firmly on the agenda, it was felt that **not** to take action to address it was both unethical and irresponsible. The key issues addressed in the session were the following:

1. There are a number of myths surrounding the gender-based violence, which need to be addressed. It is sometimes claimed that women will not talk about rape and sexual abuse, or that they lie about rape in order to receive resettlement, and there is a widely held belief that rape and domestic violence are acceptable forms of cultural practise. These myths must be dispelled through staff training and by programs which encourage better communication between service-providers and refugee women.

- 2. Refugee women and children are vulnerable to a large number of gender-related risks, which include the risk of trafficking, engagement in survival sex, and early and forced marriage. Suggested strategies to address these issues include the creation of safe spaces for women and girls, which offer a range of services and do not add to the potential stigma suffered by women who are survivors of rape and other forms of sexual violence.
- 3. It is essential to end impunity for perpetrators and the active involvement of refuge women and girls in the design and provision of services for women and girls at risk. Men and boys must also be involved in this response.
- 4. The discussion acknowledged the key role that access to income and livelihood can play in the protection of refugee women and recommends that women and girls are given access to income-generating activities and freedom of movement to pursue these activities.
- 5. The importance of community involvement was stressed and the need for closer and more effective partnerships between UNHCR, NGOs and refugee communities was mentioned by all presenters. UNHCR's Age, Gender and Diversity Mainstreaming methodology is a good tool for this.

The last session on the conclusions "Collaboration in addressing gender issues" discussed how UNHCR and NGOs can better ensure a gender-sensitive approach in our programming. The session discussed:

- 1. The need to commence the gender-sensitive programming from the start of an emergency and throughout the project cycle by deployment of gender-sensitive staff in emergency responses, training in gender-sensitive approaches, engaging in dialogue with the community and religious leaders on gender issues, and awareness raising among men of what is ill-treatment of women and children.
- 2. The need to involve more men in the work and take responsibility for achieving gender equality, to ensure that gender training comprise 50% men and 50% women, and ensuring that women allow a space for men in NGOs and UN agencies to take the lead in gender work
- 3. The need to work collaboratively to address gender issues, e.g. wider networking among agencies.

ANNEX VII

NGO STATEMENT TO THE GENERAL DEBATE

57TH SESSION OF EXCOM: 2-6 OCTOBER 2006

This statement has been drafted in consultation with a number of UNHCR's NGO partners.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman,

We welcome this Executive Committee's focus on a number of issues that are critical to the protection of those who have been forcibly displaced or are stateless. We would like to focus on three main areas: 1) the erosion of refugee protection and adequate access to asylum; 2) UNHCR's role with respect to internally displaced persons (IDPs); and 3) UNHCR's role in the asylummigration nexus.

Working in Partnership

Before turning to these issues, non-governmental organisations (NGOs) welcome the High Commissioner's commitment to partnership with NGOs as a dialogue of equals and we commit ourselves to working in partnership with UNHCR for the full realisation of refugee rights, as well as the rights of other persons of concern.

We are committed to working in partnership with UNHCR to operationalise what we hope will be adopted as this year's ExCom Conclusions on Women and Girls at Risk and Statelessness and in developing creative new ways to resolve protracted situations.

While we appreciate the High Commissioner's highlighting of the importance of partnership with NGOs since he came into office, the question we now must ask is, "Is partnership translating into a better response for refugees and others of concern to UNHCR at the field level?"

1) THE EROSION OF PROTECTION AND ADEQUATE ACCESS TO ASYLUM

We are gravely concerned that State policies, including interception at sea, restrictive visa regimes, arbitrary detention, and accelerated return procedures, are preventing asylum-seekers from gaining access to asylum procedures and, in fact, are eroding the institution of asylum. We share UNHCR's dismay at the outcome of the recent Swiss referendum. It is ironic that this referendum took place in a country that is still home to world's humanitarian capital, Geneva. The referendum upheld highly restrictive legislation that could result in *refoulement* by blocking the access of undocumented asylum-seekers to examination of the merits of their refugee claims. Unfortunately, this legislation is but one example of the many measures that have led to denying asylum-seekers and refugees adequate access to territory and to fair asylum procedures and protection worldwide.

We note a particularly disturbing trend among a wide range of States globally to block UNHCR and NGOs access to sites where refugees and asylum-seekers might be located for no other reason than to prevent them from identifying people of concern and coming to their aid. We regard such moves as a deep and fundamental threat to the very foundations of refugee protection.

Governments that prevented access to UNHCR since the 56th session of the ExCom include Libya (access to detention centres), China (access to North Korean refugees in Jilin Province), Cambodia (access to Montagnard refugees from Vietnam in Ratanakiri and Mondolkiri provinces), Thailand (access to new Hmong arrivals from Laos in two jails and in the White River settlement in Pitchabun province). While we still regard as unacceptable that the Government of Italy, for months, denied UNHCR access to Lampedusa while it was engaged in mass expulsions of

undocumented foreigners, we welcome the agreement of the Italian government to a UNHCR presence on Lampadusa. Unfortunately, we have seen numerous cases of *refoulement*, in particular from North Africa and Southern and Eastern European transit countries.

We note with particular distress that the Government of Uzbekistan closed the UNHCR office in Tashkent. We fully support UNHCR's efforts to prevent the *refoulement* of Uzbek refugees and asylum-seekers from Kyrgyzstan, Ukraine, and Kazakhstan and applaud the High Commissioner for insisting that bilateral extradition agreements cannot supersede international legal obligations. States have responsibilities under the 1951 Convention. ExCom Members must hold States who do not respect these responsibilities, such as Uzbekistan, to account.

NGOs are concerned by the indefinite use of "Temporary Protection" for Iraqi refugees and urge UNHCR to revisit its policy on Iraqis fleeing Iraq. In the Middle East region, where governments refuse to acknowledge the Temporary Protection policy, Iraqi refugees are denied basic security and the chance to live in dignity. UNHCR should clearly recognise Iraqi refugees on a *prima facie* basis or process individual Iraqi refugee claims. Iraqi refugees, as well as Palestinian refugees, should not be left in limbo while the situation in Iraq remains unstable. We understand that even among those Iraqi refugees deemed most vulnerable in Syria, only 12 or 13 were accepted for resettlement this past year.

Denying Asylum on "Security" Grounds

Five years after the events of 11 September 2001, States throughout the world are increasingly closing their doors to *bona fide* refugees and asylum-seekers in the name of security. The equation that refugees are terrorists is a myth that States and UNHCR must emphatically denounce. We encourage States, UNHCR, and NGOs to respond strongly to combat the increased xenophobia against asylum-seekers and refugees.

One of the latest – and extremely worrying – manifestations of the trend to deny asylum on security grounds is the overly broad application of the so-called "material support" ground of inadmissibility to the United States (US). Under this bar, which is the most dangerous threat ever posed to the US Refugee Program, *bona fide* refugees and asylum-seekers who have been coerced under extreme duress, including at gunpoint, to provide material support of as little as \$1.00 to groups of two or more people deemed to have engaged in so-called "terrorist activity" (broadly defined) are being denied admission to the United States. Women who have been attacked, raped, and held captive by rebels and forced to cook for them are now being denied admission to the US on grounds that they provided material support – cooking meals under duress – to a group considered by the US authorities to be terrorists.

The coerced provision of material support under the threat of death or torture should not be grounds for inadmissibility, denying asylum, or resettlement. Legislative reform is needed to address the context of armed conflict, the particular circumstances of an individual's actions, and the duress under which a person may have acted. Such legislation should also take into consideration the context in which the organisation or group is operating. Some of these groups may indeed be defending themselves from persecution, crimes against humanity, or even genocide.

The delay in garnering a legislative solution to this problem in the US has nearly shut down the US refugee admissions programme for Colombians, Vietnamese Montagnards, and Hmong, Cubans, and Liberians. It has further resulted in substantial processing delays and a 20% rejection rate for thousands of Burmese Karen in Thailand, *bona fide* refugees identified in October 2005 by the United States as being in need of resettlement.

Refugee Status Determination

NGOs remain concerned about the need to improve the fairness of UNHCR refugee status determination (RSD) procedures. UNHCR has taken initial positive measures to set a minimum of due process, including issuing its first comprehensive standards for field offices conducting RSD,

but they are still to be implemented in many countries. UNHCR continues to prescribe the withholding of evidence, interview transcripts, and sources of origin information from asylumseekers. Also, specific reasons for rejection are still not provided. We call upon UNHCR to resolve these gaps and to take steps to increase the independence of its appeal procedures.

UNHCR's RSD determines the fate of nearly 90,000 people in 80 countries every year. UNHCR conducts RSD to fill the gap left by States, which have the primary responsibility to conduct RSD and the obligation to protect the human rights of refugees and asylum-seekers. We call on States that have yet to adopt domestic asylum legislation and procedures to do so in the earliest possible time in full cooperation with UNHCR. NGOs believe that UNHCR has a crucial role to play in such a transition in order for this to happen as smoothly as possible and to ensure that domestic asylum procedures meet the highest standards of fairness. We further call on ExCom Members and UNHCR to actively promote the ratification and implementation of the 1951 Convention and its Protocol. We particularly call on all ExCom Members that are not Party to the Convention to urgently ratify the Convention and its Protocol.

Overuse of the Exclusion Clause

We are deeply troubled by overly broad approaches to exclusion, which run contrary to the Refugee Convention itself. We urge UNHCR to take steps to protect refugees from these sweeping provisions, such as the material bar support in the US. Measures UNHCR should take include intervening in individual cases when refugees face the risk of *refoulement* in violation of the Convention. We urge States to ensure that their provisions are corrected so that refugees who are entitled to protection are not denied asylum and returned to persecution in violation of the Convention and its Protocol.

2) UNHCR'S ROLE WITH RESPECT TO IDPS

In relation to the deplorable state of the world's asylum system, we would like to refer to UNHCR's expanding role in protecting the rights of internally displaced persons (IDPs). This role must not come at the expense of the agency's core mandate to work on behalf of refugees, asylum-seekers, and stateless persons. Nor should the agency's work with IDPs serve as an excuse for governments to deny the right of refugees to seek asylum from persecution and other human rights abuses and their ability to access effective international protection. Last year, when UNHCR embarked on its cluster responsibilities, NGOs asked, "What are the safeguards that will be put in place to ensure that UNHCR's core protection mandate will not come at the cost of the new responsibilities?"

We still ask, "What are the criteria that UNHCR applies to determine if its core mandate is being threatened by its IDP involvement?" NGOs continue to express willingness to work with UNHCR to clarify these criteria. One possibility is for UNHCR's new Policy Development and Evaluation Service to work with NGOs and other partners to develop clear criteria that can be used by UNHCR when the question of involvement with IDPs arises. Further, if UNHCR does not get involved and no other UN agency comes forward, how will the protection gap be filled?

The Limits to Protecting IDPs for UNHCR

While having made progress in clarifying the responsibilities of UNHCR in responding to IDPs, it must not be forgotten that there are *limits* to UNHCR's ability to adequately protect IDPs, as has been seen in Darfur, Sudan, in Iraq, in Chechnya, in Lebanon (South of the Litani river), in Sri Lanka, in Somalia, to name a few.

Three years after the world community expressed shock over the forced mass displacement in Darfur, Sudan the needs of the displaced population remain at similarly alarming levels. The population in the camps is kept at a minimum level of survival. The IDPs are cut off from all traditional means of subsistence and they have become dependent on international aid. Due to the fighting and administrative obstacles (with regards to supplies and human resources), aid

distribution, including food, has become extremely difficult. In addition, it is estimated that donors cut their humanitarian budgets allocated to Darfur, Sudan by 40% in 2006 compared to last year.

Reports from NGOs tell of the consequences of the reduced levels of assistance, including a further worsening of the public health situation for the population. Some recent cholera outbreaks could not be addressed (more than 1,000 cases were reported in West Darfur in the last three weeks) and medical references and evacuation of wounded have been hampered.

The pattern of security incidents has progressively led to the withdrawal of international staff. Since May 2006 alone, 12 humanitarian workers have been killed in Darfur, a number higher than the total until that month. The question should be asked whether the obstructions put in place for humanitarian personnel have become a deliberate tactic of war? Without the support of States in fulfilling the responsibility to protect, UNHCR will have limited success in its protection of IDPs.

In Lebanon, most recently, major constraints were placed on the delivery of humanitarian assistance to civilian populations. In Iraq, humanitarian organisations are unable to undertake independent assessments of the needs and to access the civilian population in many areas. As a consequence, the scale of the needs remains unknown and many humanitarian agencies are unable to intervene.

In Sri Lanka, we see a significant rise in the number of security incidents, particularly towards civilians. Humanitarian organisations are having extreme difficulty in independently assessing humanitarian needs, particularly in the East and North of Sri Lanka and the increasing anti-NGO climate is particularly worrying for its impact on humanitarian action.

The cluster approach provides new opportunities to engage on behalf of IDP populations in desperate need of protection and assistance. For example, in a variety of ways, Palestinians have been, and continue to be, displaced. We call upon the international community to explore a protection role in the context of the UN humanitarian reform process to seek protection – particularly the implementation of the right of return, restitution, and compensation – and solutions on behalf of Palestinian IDPs inside Israel and the occupied Palestinian territory.

Finally, we would like to acknowledge that the current cluster approach assumes access to IDPs from within the country. In situations where this access is not possible, humanitarian access from neighbouring countries must be negotiated.

UNHCR's Internal Review of IDP Operations

NGOs would like to know what is UNHCR's vision as to its role concerning IDPs? How will UNHCR ensure that its involvement with IDPs is sustainable? There has been considerable use of external staffing arrangements (such as ProCap and Surge) to meet the demands put on UNHCR. What measures is UNHCR taking to ensure that its own staff – and particularly protection staff – are being equipped to deal with the different challenges of working in IDP situations? UNHCR must take care that its role with IDPs does not see huge staffing resources being deployed to cluster countries at the expense of other operations. It is also important that funding and resources for IDP protection should be *additional* to UNHCR's work on refugee protection. What steps have been taken, or controls put in place, to ensure this separation?

We hope that the forthcoming internal review planned by UNHCR of its IDP involvement will take into consideration the views of its NGO partners. NGOs and UNHCR have worked for a number of years in IDP situations and this collaboration has only increased with the roll-out of the cluster approach.

In this context, it is also important to look at the collaboration between UNHCR and NGOs in the roll-out of the cluster approach. Are all humanitarian actors being treated as equals – at both the field and headquarters levels? Recent experiences of local Lebanese NGOs – who should have

been valued partners in the recent emergency – along with international NGOs, were thrust into the position of making spur-of-the-moment project proposals in a UNHCR cluster in a manner not in line with an equal partnership. The cluster approach should not be a way for cluster leads to tell partners how to work. There must be a realisation that NGOs may have limited resources to dedicate to cluster participation, as they prioritise operations. National and local NGOs should be given meaningful opportunities to contribute to new mechanisms for improved collaboration and coordination through consultation and involvement from the onset.

UNHCR's Reform Process

Related to the questions on UNHCR's plans for the sustainability of its IDP operations is UNHCR's reform process. The reform and restructuring is necessary to ensure that UNHCR can become a more efficient protection organisation. While NGOs have heard and read about the reform process with interest, there have been limited opportunities for a frank discussion of what NGOs see as necessary elements of change. We would welcome the opportunity to engage with UNHCR in this change process as UNHCR's work often directly impacts upon our operations.

UNHCR's Responsibility for Stateless Persons

UNHCR must ensure that its increasing IDP responsibilities do not obscure the mandate for stateless persons. At the policy level, we urge UNHCR to fully operationalise this mandate and to formalise cooperative agreements with sister UN agencies (particularly OHCHR, UNFPA, OCHA, and UNDP). At the operational level, NGOs would like to see UNHCR develop and improve mechanisms to identify stateless persons and to undertake systematic reporting to provide relief for immediate needs and increase staff resources, including additional dedicated protection officers, to implement the mandate. We also urge the High Commissioner to undertake a field visit to highlight, and work toward the resolution of, a statelessness problem.

3) UNHCR'S ROLE IN THE ASYLUM-MIGRATION NEXUS

So-called irregular migration is a growing global phenomenon. NGOs believe that in developing responses, States and inter-governmental agencies too often adopt an approach that fails to identify those in need of international protection among mixed migration flows. Many of these approaches generally fail to recognise the human rights of all people on the move. We are particularly concerned by the push of the European Union and of individual EU Member States to prevent arrivals of asylum-seekers and migrants who travel via North Africa. We are deeply concerned about negotiations involving the new EU border control agency, Frontex, certain Mediterranean EU States, and North African States, including Libya. Joint naval patrols that could involve the interception of migrants and refugees seeking asylum are taking place without a careful examination of the appropriateness of such partnerships. We are extremely concerned about collaboration with countries that are known to treat migrants abusively, that do not have asylum laws or procedures for identifying persons with protection needs, and that routinely return mixed populations to their countries of origin.

We urge UNHCR to prevent maritime interception that does not provide meaningful opportunities for people in need of protection to seek asylum. UNHCR must not only engage in capacity-building for refugee protection in North Africa, Eastern Europe, and other regions of transit, but must also monitor closely the use of detention and other measures that serve as obstacles and deterrents to asylum. NGOs continue to receive information of cases of torture and inhumane treatment at immigration centres in different parts of the world. Asylum-seekers are detained in an arbitrary manner for prolonged periods without any external counsel or presence to monitor the conditions of the centres, such as the example of nine detention centres in Libya.

NGOs have noted a dramatic rise in the detention of asylum-seekers and the detention practices of many States, which run contrary to the UNHCR detention guidelines and to the prohibitions of international human rights law against arbitrary detention. We call upon States to cease using

detention as a deterrent and to ensure that any use of detention is in compliance with international human rights law and the UNHCR guidelines.

We call upon UNHCR to oppose efforts by States to use UNHCR's engagement in capacity-building as a pretext to declare countries of transit as safe, to conclude readmission agreements, or to enter into other partnerships, such as joint border patrols, when the countries in question are unable or unwilling to provide effective protection for refugees and asylum-seekers.

We welcome UNHCR's 10 point Plan of Action as a first step to safeguarding the rights of both refugees and migrants. We stress the importance of ensuring that the rights of all migrants are safeguarded at all times and we look forward to working with UNHCR to refine and elaborate the 10 points, particularly regarding profiling exercises (point 5) and return arrangements for non-refugees (point 9).

Better Protecting Refugee Rights

During the Annual Consultations between UNHCR and NGOs last week, the possibility of pushing for a Special Rapporteur on the Rights of Refugees through the Human Rights Council was raised. Such a position would undoubtedly help to address the concerns around the erosion of refugee rights. UNHCR should also seek more cooperation with regional and national bodies whose mandate is to uphold human rights, which includes refugee rights.

While it would take some time before a Special Rapporteur on Refugee Rights would be appointed, we urge States to look for other means by which the rights of refugees and asylumseekers can be better upheld. In particular, the application of Article 35 of the 1951 Convention would allow the High Commissioner to better supervise "the application of the provisions of this Convention" (Article 35, 1951 Convention Relating to the Status of Refugees). In addition, reforms to the Executive Committee of UNHCR could see peer reviews being instituted, similar to what is now being explored in the Human Rights Council. Such efforts to improve accountability of the responsibilities of States would seem a progressive way forward that would ensure better refugee protection.

Conclusion

NGOs are stakeholders in UNHCR's protection mandate. Our partnership to better protect and assist refugees and other persons of concern will depend on adequate resources to help us fulfil our responsibilities. As NGOs, we, therefore, call on this EXCOM to not only approve UNHCR's budget, but also to provide the funding necessary to ensure its implementation.

Thank you.

ANNEX VIII

NGO STATEMENT ON INTERNATIONAL PROTECTION

57TH SESSION OF EXCOM: 2-6 OCTOBER 2006

Mr. Chairman,

This statement has been drafted and is delivered on behalf of a wide range of NGOs.

We fully agree with the High Commissioner that protection lies at the heart of UNHCR's work. Effective protection requires not only legal instruments, but the political will and commitment of States. Humanitarian organizations, such as UNHCR and NGOs, have a crucial role in protection activities, although the responsibility to protect lies with States. We hope that ExCom can consider how their responsibility to protect is helping UNHCR to fulfil its mandate. As NGOs, we urge not only UNHCR, but also Member States to take a stronger stance on the protection of refugees and those who have been internally displaced.

Voluntary repatriation

Many States have joined UNHCR in emphasizing that voluntary return is the preferred durable solution. However, in order for return to be truly voluntary and sustainable, conditions conducive to return must be in place – these include measures for safety, security, land rights, social infrastructure (particularly health and education services), the removal of landmines, restitution and compensation, and access to livelihood opportunities. UNHCR plays a crucial role in providing refugees with accurate information on the conditions, safety and resources available in areas of return; facilitating and coordinating return movements; and maintaining a proactive protection presence in areas of return. Acute funding and staffing constraints have hampered UNHCR's ability to maintain a significant protection presence for returning populations, for example, in South Sudan.

Protection is vital to upholding the rights of the most vulnerable, developing safe and sustainable return strategies and thereby preventing repeated situations of displacement, instability and violence. A complementary approach to emergency relief, protection initiatives and development activities provides the greatest chance for long term stability, and the sustainable return of refugees and IDPs, as well as enhancing good governance and the rule of law. It is UNHCR's responsibility to work with donors and other development actors to help governments put services in place.

Resolving Protracted Refugee Situations

We reaffirm our support for recent efforts to resettle refugees from two of the longest protracted refugee situations in Asia. Some of the Burmese refugees in Thailand and Bhutanese refugees in Nepal have finally been provided with a durable solution. We welcome the work of governments involved in these initiatives and would like to encourage them to continue their efforts to find a resolution to the political impasse that has resulted in these communities remaining displaced for so many years.

Asylum-migration nexus

We share the High Commissioner's concerns over the increasing use of asylum, migration, and security issues for political gain. The perpetuation of the view that refugees and asylum-seekers are illegal immigrants and/or agents of insecurity, terrorism, and crime erodes public support for refugees, encourages racism and xenophobia, and undermines the institution of asylum.

Given that only 1-2% of the world's refugees will be resettled in any given year and that the average length of time a refugee spends in a refugee camp has increased from 9 to 17 years in the space of just one decade, we have been particularly surprised to hear the term "queue-jumper"

being used in this forum. Given the lack of fair and effective asylum procedures, durable solutions, and physical protection in countries of first asylum, which is known to force refugees to make onward movements in search of protection, the notion of "queue-jumping" is particularly inappropriate.

There is a clear need to ensure that States adopt a rights-based approach to migration management and open legal channels for migration, including by signing and upholding the Migrant Worker's Convention. In developing border control measures to manage mixed flows, States must ensure that these measures are designed and implemented in a protection-sensitive manner, including clear guarantees for the human rights of migrants, asylum-seekers, refugees and others in need of protection.

We caution against the use of bilateral or multilateral "safe third country" agreements. They disregard an asylum seeker's unique circumstances, even where there is a valid case for individual asylum. Such measures risk refugees being returned to a country that lacks proper status determination processes or where refugees' rights cannot be guaranteed, and may constitute *non-refoulement*. We are concerned that some States considered to be safe third countries do not provide effective protection.

Detention as a deterrent

During UNHCR's Annual Consultations with NGOs last week, deep concern was expressed about the increased use of mandatory, indefinite and non-reviewable forms of detention in inhuman or degrading conditions. Such detention is in violation of the international prohibition on arbitrary detention and is used to penalise and/or deter future asylum-seekers, in breach of Article 31 of the Refugee Convention. We urge UNHCR to redouble its efforts to work with States to implement UNHCR's Guidelines on Detention and to combat the spread of arbitrary forms of detention.

Extra-territorial detention and processing

We are concerned over the increasing trend toward extra-territorial detention and processing. ExCom States, such as Australia and the United States, are continuing to use offshore detention and processing "solutions," where the accountability and responsibility for protection is weak and unclear. These asylum determination systems lack capacity, access to legal counsel is inadequate and there is no access to independent or judicial review.

The Multilateral Framework of Understandings on Addressing Irregular Secondary Movements of Refugees and Asylum-Seekers, along with the study on secondary movement from Somalia provides crucial recognition of the fact that it is the lack of effective protection that causes so-called "secondary" movements. It also provides concrete measures to redress these protection gaps, which we hope ExCom members will take up in future.

Resettlement

We are pleased to see the increasing use of resettlement as a protection tool, more States offering resettlement programmes, the expansion of existing resettlement programmes, the commitment of the US, Australia, Canada for their ongoing resettlement programmes, and the prospect of a European resettlement scheme. These improvements, however, do not excuse States from their primary obligation to protect asylum-seekers arriving in their countries. If resettlement is to be used as a strategic tool of protection, then the focus should be on those with the greatest protection needs, and not those with better integration prospects or those who meet national labour market demands. We also wish to remind states of the protracted nature of some urban refugee caseloads who are in need of resettlement.

The need for an effective system for monitoring returns

There is a need for an effective system for monitoring returns. In the case of returns to Afghanistan, some countries were quick to offer incentives or engage in coercive tactics to encourage the return of refugees before being able to ensure a safe and dignified return. A system to monitor both the

methods of deportation and the conditions and safety upon return will help to ensure against *refoulement*. Such monitoring must include those who are denied protection by States that use definitions of a refugee that are narrower than that of UNHCR, as they remain as persons of concern to UNHCR. A system to monitor ongoing protection needs of returned asylum-seekers would ensure that UNHCR's standards for granting protection are being met in countries of asylum. The tripartite agreements between UNHCR, the transitional government of the Republic of Afghanistan, and several European states provide a model for an effective system of return.

Local Integration

We are heartened by an increased recognition of the value of self-reliance in developing refugees' economic and social capacity in order to meet their essential needs on a sustainable and dignified basis. Promoting self-reliance is vital in affirming the rights contained in the 1951 Convention, including the right to engage in wage-earning employment, acquire property, and enjoy freedom of movement. Self-reliance is desirable even where a durable solution is not immediately available, particularly in protracted refugee situations and should be understood as a precursor to a durable solution, not as a solution in itself. Marginalised groups for whom self-reliance may not be an option, such as some female-headed households, people with disabilities and the elderly, may require special assistance.

Food Insecurity

According to UN agencies and NGOs, between 165,000 and 200,000 Saharawi refugees continue to remain forcibly displaced in refugee camps in Western Algeria, facing harsh and deteriorating living conditions due to Morocco's occupation of the Western Sahara. Their protection has been further undermined by annual cuts to UNHCR's budget for camps where they have limited opportunities to earn livelihoods. The cuts have also led to acute increases in malnutrition and anaemia. We, therefore, ask Member States, UNHCR and WFP to ensure that the provision of food aid is increased to a level that is commensurate with international standards and reflects actual numbers.

It is well-documented that food insecurity leads to sexual exploitation and violence, for example, women being raped when they leave a refugee camp to find food or are being forced to exchange sex for food. ExCom members must adhere to existing commitments to ensuring refugee food security.

Urban refugees

Many urban refugees do not enjoy access to a legal status or to basic economic, social, and cultural rights, such as the right to work, education or to adequate housing, and so fall into a "protection gap." Unaccompanied minors living in such situations are particularly vulnerable to abuse. Urban refugee women face problems of sexual and gender-based violence, are often forced into prostitution or fall prey to traffickers. In many cases, they lack access to UNHCR offices. NGOs call on States to commit themselves to respecting and protecting the rights of all urban refugees on their territories, with specific attention to particularly vulnerable refugees, including women, children, and the elderly. We appreciate UNHCR's consultations with NGOs during the revision of its policy document of urban refugee policy. Swift publication and implementation of this policy will constitute a significant step forward.

Child protection

Child protection must be an integral part of every humanitarian response, incorporating child protection programming into the delivery of all services in accordance with the rights enshrined in the Convention on the Rights of the Child. The provision of good quality education is critical to meeting the protection needs of children affected by armed conflict and natural disasters. The ExCom and UNHCR must ensure that safe, good quality education is an integral part of every humanitarian response. In particular, children formerly associated with armed groups must have access to comprehensive service provision including psycho-social assistance, healthcare and education.

Women at risk

We support the draft Conclusion on the Protection of Women and Girls at Risk, in particular the clear acknowledgment of the extent of rape and sexual and gender-based violence, and the need for a broad-based protection response to this problem. We are delighted that the Conclusion is strongly operational and provides a blueprint for effective responses to individual women and to communities. It acknowledges the capacity of refugee women and the need for their participation – in identifying risks, planning responses and decision-making on protection issues. Prevention of rape, sexual violence and exploitation is as critical as a response after the event, which cannot happen without resources. Women and children are being raped on a daily basis, babies are born as a result of rape, and young girls die in childbirth. Little is known about the impact of bearing a child or children of rape on the integration experience of refugee women following resettlement or repatriation. The international community must commit to responding to the needs of refugee women and their children born of rape, as a matter of urgency that must be addressed through short and medium term solutions, as well as a long term strategic plan. We call upon governments to match their commitment to the Conclusion and to ensure that refugee women and children have access to a range of appropriate protection measures, with a commitment to providing resources, including medical and psycho-social services, to ensure the implementation of the Conclusion.

Ensuring protection for populations

Millions of Palestinians fall into a protection gap with no access to any form of international protection, including Palestinian refugees in Iraq, who are particularly vulnerable. In this regard, we call on all actors to redouble their efforts at addressing this gap for Palestinian refugees beginning with their right of return in keeping with UN General Assembly Resolution 194, including the right to restitution and compensation.

While the implementation of UNHCR operations in Iraq is ongoing with a number of NGO partners, under-funding and consequent operational cuts have had an undesirable consequence through the second half of 2006. In view of the 330,000 returnees currently in Iraq, along with 1.2 million IDPs including 300,000 newly displaced persons, support for UNHCR needs to be significantly increased in order to meet the protection needs of these persons.

UNHCR RSD standards and practice

We would like to acknowledge the important step taken by UNHCR in publishing comprehensive guidelines on its procedural standards for refugee status determination. While awaiting the implementation of these standards by all UNHCR offices, we stress the need to redress some of the gaps between UNHCR policies and human rights standards. UNHCR continues to withhold much of the evidence used in refugee status determination from the applicants concerned. There is still no clear plan to develop an independent appeal system and some of the standards are so broad that they can be watered down at the discretion of local officers.

ExCom Conclusions

Finally, we look forward to a continuing involvement in the ExCom conclusions process and hope that improvements to enhance our participation can be made in the coming year.

Thank you.

ANNEX IX

NGO STATEMENT ON PROGRAMME BUDGETS, MANAGEMENT, FINANCIAL CONTROL AND ADMINISTRATIVE OVERSIGHT

57TH SESSION OF EXCOM: 2-6 OCTOBER 2006

This statement has been drafted in consultation with a number of NGOs.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman,

We are concerned about cuts in humanitarian assistance to many refugee situations around the world. Despite growing humanitarian needs – for refugees, IDPs, and others of concern to UNHCR – being addressed by NGOs and UN agencies, UNHCR's budget diminishes year after year, particularly with regards to protracted refugee situations.

We urge the Executive Committee to assist refugees on the basis of accurate assessments of needs and numbers of refugees. Although EXCOM members often strongly encourage UNHCR to budget based on needs, the reality, unfortunately, is that UNHCR must budget on the basis of resources. In addition, we note with concern the gap between the EXCOM approved budget for the past year and the total funds available. Unless there is a shift in approach by the EXCOM so that UNHCR can, in fact, budget on the basis of needs, we will continue to see inadequate assistance and protection being provided to persons of concern. NGO urge the EXCOM to ensure that the budget is funded according to prevailing needs on the ground.

We would like to acknowledge that over the past year NGOs have seen marked improvements in our working relationships with UNHCR regarding the management of sub-project agreements, especially at the field level. These improvements include more timely signing of agreements and more rational resource allocation for activities. Although budgets may be smaller, following austerity measures at the beginning of the year, the increased efficiency gained from more realistic planning of programmes is a welcome development.

There remain, however, concerns related to overheads, ceilings on expatriate salary costs, and the timely provision of UNHCR in-kind asset contributions. We appreciate the continued dialogue that UNHCR has maintained with NGOs and note both the openness and progress that has been made to date. A more flexible approach to addressing these concerns is needed. We look forward to continuing this discussion in the coming weeks in anticipation of mutually favourable results.

We would also like to address the issue of UNHCR funding to indigenous NGO partners in assisting them to develop their response capacity. UNHCR has both a role to move the capacity development process forward by investing directly in institutional (non-programme related) core costs of indigenous NGOs.

International NGOs coming from donor countries have much easier access to funding than indigenous NGOs. The result is that indigenous NGOs – even those that work in more than one country – find it more difficult to ensure that their core costs can be covered. Project funding alone – while important – is inadequate for sustainability. Donors must ensure that indigenous NGOs, which adhere to quality and accountability standards, have the same access to funding as other NGOs coming from donor countries. Without such equality in funding, the strengthening of local capacity will continue to be difficult.

The fact that indigenous NGOs do not have the same ability as international NGOs to recover overhead costs should be addressed, with recognition that funding of overheads can generate a

return of investment. UNHCR must also accept that such costs translate into underwriting human resources, financing infrastructure, technical and material equipment, and related expenditures. To achieve such a change, UNHCR must move away from a narrow 'project approach' and recognise the significance of a flexible programme approach with non-earmarked institution-building grants and appropriate service charges when contracting externally.

In strengthening its relationships with NGO partners, UNHCR must become more resolute in addressing the financial capacity needs of its partners. NGOs may require assistance to enhance their internal capacity to respond to crises as they arise and to cover the real cost of implementing projects. NGOs believe that a mutually beneficial grants framework agreement between UNHCR and NGO partners could serve as a model for other UN specialised agencies in their partnerships with NGOs.

Turning to the protection role of UNHCR, we note with pleasure the adoption of the Conclusion on the Protection of Women and Girls at Risk. In order to ensure that the strong protection measures in the Conclusion are implemented and do not languish on the shelf as a symbolic, but unused tool, donors must allocate resources to an implementation strategy.

We also draw particular attention to the support needed for NGOs engaged in the implementation of the Mexico Plan of Action and specifically the development of regional resettlement programmes. Some of the commitments of support by donor States made at he Quito meeting in February 2006 are still not forthcoming with the result that capacity-building towards sustainable and successful resettlement programmes has been delayed. We urge UNHCR and its donors to ensure that supports are put in place as quickly as possible in order that NGO partners can work with States and UNHCR towards important regional solutions.

Ultimately, our partnership is not just about money; it is about ensuring that adequate resources are made available for humanitarian action in order to better serve the affected populations at the heart of our work. It is about the UNHCR's often stated commitment to develop dynamic and forward looking partnerships with its partners. The donor community can play a critical role in this process by ensuring that sustained, multi-year, and predictable funding is provided.

Thank you.